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LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
Dear shareholders, employees and friends of our company:
In the present 2010 Annual Report, we have the privilege of presenting to you the best results in the history of the AURELIUS Group. Last year, we increased our consolidated revenues by 27 percent to EUR 906.1
million (2009: EUR 711.4 million). On an annualized basis, which involves projecting the figures as if all our
current portfolio companies had been part of the AURELIUS Group since the start of 2010, we have
exceeded the billion mark for the first time, reaching over EUR 1.2 billion. At the same time, we succeeded in increasing our earnings from continuing operations before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) by an even greater 88 percent to EUR 238.3 million in 2010 (2009: EUR 127.0 million). Of
this total, EUR 98.4 million is attributable to income from the reversal of negative goodwill (bargain purchase income) and EUR 59.5 million to income from debt consolidation accruing as part of the initial
inclusion of the newly acquired portfolio companies.
This success, which reaffirms the coherence of our business model, is based on several pillars. We have
been able to enhance the operational side of our portfolio such that the companies are making a growing contribution to the success of AURELIUS. We have become firmly established as a GOOD HOME for
companies. The operating success of our portfolio companies is simultaneously confirmation of our
acquisition strategy. Indeed, only carefully examined and critically selected acquisition candidates can be
transformed into successful companies. And the successful sale of subsidiaries demonstrates how AURELIUS
creates lasting value.
We acquired four new companies during the course of 2010: the ISOCHEM Group in France; Reederei
Peter Deilmann with its flagship MS DEUTSCHLAND, familiar to many from a long-running German TV
series; SECOP (formerly known as Danfoss Household Compressors); and chemicals company CalaChem
based in Scotland (formerly known as KemFine UK). Furthermore, we have acquired a portfolio of real
estate for our GHOTEL hotel & living subsidiary. We have greatly expanded our investment focus for
acquisitions. We aim to invest in healthier companies offering potential for operational optimization as
well in the future. Examples of this are the acquisition of the ISOCHEM Group in February 2010 and
SECOP in the fall of 2010. We are looking at an interesting acquisition pipeline, which gives us every
reason to expect to unveil highly promising new portfolio companies to you in the course of the current
year.
Our subsidiaries’ operations benefited from the global economic recovery in 2010. At the same time, the
company development measures implemented under our guidance have had a positive impact, with
most portfolio companies reporting rising revenues and results. The Berentzen Group, for instance,
remains highly successful following its outstanding turnaround, recording a further improvement in its
operating result. We have set Blaupunkt on a good path by focusing on the car radio and car hi-fi segments. Following its successful restructuring, Blaupunkt has held up well in a market environment dominated by price wars and can look to the future with some confidence. Our Wellman International subsidiary, Europe’s biggest recycler of disposable PET bottles, has also evolved into a genuine success story.
The company broke production records in all three of its plants last year and clearly exceeded its forecasts.

The Executive Board of AURELIUS from the left: Ulrich Radlmayr, Donatus Albrecht, Dr. Dirk Markus, Gert Purkert)

We sold our holding in Channel21 (formerly known as RTL Shop) to a strategic investor in fiscal 2010 following successful restructuring. Two portfolio companies – CVC Camping Van Conversion GmbH and
Einhorn Mode Manufaktur – were forced to file for bankruptcy last year, and were deconsolidated accordingly.
We can look back on a successful fiscal 2010 and take an optimistic view of the coming year as well.
Assuming that the economic environment remains healthy, we expect the operating results of our portfolio companies to improve and increase. Our equity ratio of 33 percent and the cash and cash equivalents of EUR 177.2 million on hand at the reporting date (up 14 percent year-on-year) form a solid
foundation for the strategy of profitable growth we have targeted. We would be delighted if you
continued to accompany us on this exciting journey.
Best regards,

Dr. Dirk Markus

Gert Purkert

Donatus Albrecht

Ulrich Radlmayr

Executive Board of AURELIUS AG
Munich, March 2011
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THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Dr. Dirk Markus
Chairman

The Supervisory Board again worked closely with the Executive Board during fiscal 2010 and fulfilled the
advisory and supervisory duties incumbent upon it as prescribed by law and the company’s Articles of
Incorporation. It obtained prompt, regular and detailed reports from the Executive Board, both orally and
in writing, about all key aspects of the business, notably including the business developments, financial
performance and financial position, and risk management of the company and the Group. The
Supervisory Board provides information in the present report about the main focus of its activities during the past fiscal year.

Dr. Dirk Markus studied business administration in St. Gallen, Switzerland, and Copenhagen, Denmark,
and was awarded a Ph.D by the University of St. Gallen and Harvard University, Boston, United States. Dr.
Markus has been involved with the restructuring and further development of companies for more than
15 years, starting as a consultant with McKinsey & Company and then with an exchange-listed industrial holding company. During this time, he has been responsible for more than 40 corporate transactions, including the acquisition and restructuring of Tesion Telekom, the baby carriage manufacturer
Teutonia, the TV station RTL Shop, SKW Stahl-Metallurgie and Blaupunkt.

The Supervisory Board held a total of four regular meetings, during which numerous relevant topics and
transactions subject to approval requirements were discussed and decided upon.

Gert Purkert
Important topics addressed by the Supervisory Board in fiscal 2010
After studying physics in Leipzig and Lausanne, Gert Purkert worked for McKinsey & Company, where
he gathered experience in process improvements, cost reduction programs and strategic restructuring
programs. After that, he co-founded equinet AG in Frankfurt, an investment bank with about 120
employees today, advising mainly small to medium-sized enterprises. As a member of the Executive
Board of the Group’s portfolio company, he was responsible for conducting numerous M&A transactions and managing the portfolio companies.

Ulrich Radlmayr
Ulrich Radlmayr studied law in Hamburg, Aix-en-Provence, France, and Munich, Germany. After serving
his required legal internship with the Free State of Bavaria, he worked for five years as a lawyer with P+P
Pöllath + Partners, specializing in private equity and M&A. In that role, Mr. Radlmayr advised on
numerous large-volume buy-out transactions, private equity investments and investments in “special
situations” on behalf of prestigious institutional investors. In 2006, he co-founded the law firm AFR
Aigner Fischer Radlmayr, Munich, which provides mainly legal and tax-related advice on corporate
transactions such as the acquisition, sale, restructuring and financing of companies.

Donatus Albrecht
Donatus Albrecht has been with AURELIUS since 2006; he is responsible for the Acquisition and Exit
Division. He has overseen a total of more than 30 acquisitions, sales and IPOs and has been member of the
Executive Board since 2008. After studying economics at Ludwig Maximilian University in Munich, Mr.
Albrecht worked in the Corporate Development Department of Deutsche Bahn AG, where he gathered
experience in process improvements and strategic restructuring programs. After that, he moved to
finance at Pricap Venture Partners AG (Thomas Matzen Group). He worked there for six years as an investment manager vested with power of commercial representation under German law (Prokura); during this
time, Mr. Albrecht managed more than 20 transactions, from the initial investment to the IPO stage.
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In its deliberations, the Supervisory Board addressed the general economic situation, important transactions, fundamental issues of corporate planning and strategy, and changes in the investment portfolio
of the AURELIUS Group. The Executive Board reported on planned company acquisitions and sales and
the general course of business, notably including the financial performance and financial situation of
AURELIUS AG and its subsidiaries.
AURELIUS acquired a total of four corporate groups and fully consolidated them in the Group during fiscal 2010. These were: ISOCHEM Group, a leading vendor of fine chemicals based in France; Reederei Peter
Deilmann from Neustadt in Holstein, Germany, complete with its MS DEUTSCHLAND flagship; SECOP
(formerly known as Danfoss Household Compressors), a leading manufacturer of hermetic compressors;
and CalaChem (formerly known as KemFine UK), a Scotland-based contract manufacturer of chemical
substances. In addition, five hotel properties in Munich, Hanover and Brunswick that had been leased to
GHOTEL hotel & living were acquired. The Supervisory Board discussed the individual acquisition plans
in great depth and obtained reports from the Executive Board regarding the progress of the acquisition
process.
The sale of the company’s interests in Channel21 GmbH (formerly known as RTL Shop GmbH), Channel 21
Broadcasting GmbH and Channel21 express GmbH to Centuere Beteiligungs-Aktiengesellschaft,
Hamburg, was similarly discussed with the Supervisory Board.
The reasons for CVC-Camping Van Conversion GmbH (formerly known as Westfalia Van Conversion
GmbH) filing for bankruptcy in January 2010 and Einhorn Mode Manufaktur in August 2010 were discussed with the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board was kept informed about the progress of the
lawsuits filed by former employees of Quelle La Source SA on an ongoing basis.
The Supervisory Board scrutinized and approved all decisions concerning corporate transactions in the
reporting period.
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Organization and meetings of the Supervisory Board

Cooperation between the Supervisory Board and Executive Board

The Supervisory Board held four regular meetings in fiscal 2010, all of which were attended by all the
members of the Supervisory Board. In individual instances, the Supervisory Board used a written
procedure to adopt resolutions outside of its meetings. No members of the Supervisory Board reported
any conflicts of interest in the reporting period.

The Executive Board involved the Supervisory Board in all important decisions for the company at an
early stage. In fulfillment of its advisory and supervisory duties, the Supervisory Board continually
obtained written and oral reports from the Executive Board during the reporting period, in compliance
with the requirements of law. The reports provided to the Supervisory Board covered all issues of
importance for the company, notably including the development of the company’s business and cash
flows, important transactions and strategic decisions regarding the company’s business policies.

Because it only consists of three members, the Supervisory Board has chosen not to form any committees; instead, all members of the Supervisory Board jointly deliberated on all matters of interest to the
company. Taken together, the members of the Supervisory Board have the knowledge, skills and professional experience required to carry out their tasks properly. The Supervisory Board is seeking to ensure
greater diversity in its composition over the next five years. In particular, this relates to three characteristics: a varied professional and/or industry background will promote a diversity of opinions in internal
discussions; an international composition would reflect the international activities of AURELIUS AG; and
a suitable complement of female members is desired.
In addition to the matters listed above, the Supervisory Board also dealt with the operating business of
the portfolio companies at its meetings. Other topics are described in the following:
At its meeting on March 26, 2010, the Supervisory Board mainly considered the separate financial statements of AURELIUS AG and the consolidated financial statements of the Group, including the Group
management report, for fiscal 2009 as well as the audit thereof. The Supervisory Board approved the proposal of the Executive Board for the utilization of retained earnings. The Supervisory Board also discussed
the agenda for the annual general meeting of AURELIUS AG on July 27, 2010 and made preparations for
that meeting.
At this meeting, the Executive Board also reported on the planned business strategy and profitability of
the company. Matters concerning the Executive Board were also considered at the meeting on March 26,
2010.
Holger Schulze was welcomed as a new member of the Supervisory Board during the Supervisory Board
meeting held on July 27, 2010, following the annual general meeting. The main topics covered at this
meeting were the follow-up to the annual general meeting and the current development of the portfolio companies.
At the meeting on September 20, 2010, the Executive Board reported to the Supervisory Board at length
on the course of business, notably revenues, and the position of the company and its investments, including the progress of current acquisition and disinvestment projects. Also discussed at this meeting were
current press reports regarding AURELIUS.
The last meeting of the fiscal year on November 26 focused on the status and current development of
the investment portfolio. The outlook for fiscal 2011 was a further major topic of discussion at this
Supervisory Board meeting. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board commissioned the independent auditor
to audit separate financial statements of AURELIUS AG and the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for fiscal 2010 following the election of the auditor at the annual general meeting. The
Supervisory Board obtained the required statement of independence from the independent auditor. The
Supervisory Board also received a comprehensive report on current compliance activities.
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The Supervisory Board also remained in regular contact with the Executive Board between its meetings.
The Supervisory Board was informed about significant developments and decisions in the AURELIUS
Group and advised the Executive Board as appropriate.
As part of the monthly reporting system, up-to-date key performance indicators were provided to the
Supervisory Board, which discussed them at length, partly in comparison with the budget figures and
the prior-year developments.
The Supervisory Board reviewed the significant planning documents and the documents related to the
financial statements, and assured itself that those documents were correct and appropriate. The
Supervisory Board reviewed and discussed all reports and documents submitted to it with the appropriate degree of care. No objections to the actions of the Executive Board were raised.
The Supervisory Board discussed the company’s ongoing business planning and strategy in detail.
Particular emphasis was given to the financial performance and risk situation of the individual portfolio
companies. Fundamental questions of business planning, including the planning of cash flows, capital
expenditures and personnel, were discussed with the Supervisory Board on a regular basis.
The Supervisory Board approved all matters which the Executive Board submitted to it for its approval in
accordance with the company’s Articles of Incorporation or the internal rules of procedure. The
Supervisory Board assured itself continually that the Executive Board handled the company’s business in
an adequate and orderly manner and took all necessary measures in a timely and effective manner,
including appropriate risk prevention and compliance measures. The Supervisory Board assured itself
that the Executive Board had taken all suitable measures prescribed by Section 91 (2) of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and that the risk monitoring system to be installed by virtue of said law
functioned effectively.
Corporate governance
The Supervisory Board and Executive Board repeatedly discussed the recommendations and suggestions
of the German Corporate Governance Code and issued a voluntary Declaration of Conformity with the
Corporate Governance Code, as published online at www.aureliusinvest.de. The declaration is reproduced in full in the Corporate Governance Report as part of the 2010 Annual Report. The Supervisory
Board assesses the efficiency of its work on a regular basis.
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Audit of the financial statements for fiscal 2010

Composition of the Supervisory Board

The separate financial statements of AURELIUS AG and the consolidated financial statements of the
Group, including the management report, for fiscal 2010, all of which were prepared by the Executive
Board, were audited by SUSAT & Partner OHG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, together with
the accounting records and the Group management report combined with the management report. This
audit also covered the measures taken by the Executive Board to assure the early detection of risks that
could endanger the success and continued survival of the company as a going concern.

The following people were members of the Supervisory Board during the year under review:
Dirk Roesing, Chairman
Eugen M. Angster, Vice Chairman
Sven Fritsche (until July 27, 2010)

Although an audit of the separate financial statements of AURELIUS AG prepared by the Executive Board
in accordance with German accounting standards is not required by law, the company voluntary opted
to have those financial statements and the related accounting records audited by SUSAT & Partner OHG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich. Based on that audit, no objections were raised. Therefore, an
unqualified audit opinion was issued for the separate financial statements of AURELIUS AG at December
31, 2010. The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the Group management report for
fiscal 2010, which were prepared voluntarily by the Executive Board in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), were audited by SUSAT & Partner OHG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, together with the accounting records. The audit did not lead to any material objections.
With the exception of the qualifications regarding the fact that the information required by IFRS 3.59 et
seq. and IFRS 8.23 was not shown on an individualized basis in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, a qualified opinion was issued for the consolidated financial statements.
The separate financial statements of AURELIUS AG, the consolidated financial statements of the Group
and the Group management report, the audit reports of the independent auditor and the proposal of the
Executive Board for the utilization of retained earnings were submitted to the Supervisory Board for
review in a timely manner. The Supervisory Board thoroughly reviewed the documents submitted to it in
accordance with Section 170 (1) and (2) AktG as well as the audit reports of the independent auditor.
The Supervisory Board concurred with the audit findings of SUSAT & Partner OHG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich. As the final result of its own review, the Supervisory Board noted that it had no
objections to raise. The Supervisory Board approved the separate financial statements of the parent company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group fiscal 2010. The separate financial statements are thereby adopted.

Holger Schulze (from July 27, 2010)
The Supervisory Board member Sven Fritsche resigned his position with effect from the end of the annual
general meeting held on July 27, 2010. The Supervisory Board would like to thank Mr. Fritsche for his dedication and commitment to the company over the past few years. As proposed by the management, the
annual general meeting elected Holger Schulze to sit on the Supervisory Board.
Expression of gratitude
The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the members of the Executive Board and all employees of the
AURELIUS Group for their dedication and hard work last year.
Munich, March 31, 2011

Dirk Roesing
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board has approved the management report prepared by the Executive Board. The company’s Executive Board has proposed distributing a dividend of EUR 1.30 per share from the retained
earnings of AURELIUS AG of EUR 28,557 thousand. This corresponds to a total distribution of EUR 12,480
thousand. It has been proposed that the remaining EUR 16,077 thousand be carried forward to new
account. The Supervisory Board reviewed and concurred with this proposal. Representatives of the independent auditor attended the meeting of the Supervisory Board on March 31, 2011, at which the separate
financial statements of the parent company were approved and adopted and the consolidated financial
statements of the Group were approved; they also participated in the discussions pertaining to the relevant agenda item and presented the main findings of their audit of the separate financial statements
of the parent company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group. In particular, the
representatives of the independent auditor explained the financial position, cash flows and financial
performance of AURELIUS AG and provided additional information to the Supervisory Board.
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Dirk Roesing
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
After earning a degree in business administration in 1986, Dirk Roesing began his career in the Internal
Audit and Treasury Departments of Daimler Benz AG. From 1994 to 1996, he headed the Controlling and
M&A Departments of VOBIS AG, a company of the Metro Group. After that, he served as European Finance
Director and German Managing Director for the international Amer Sport Group. From 1997 to 2003, Mr.
Roesing served as the Chief Financial Officer of telegate AG. In 2003, he became Executive Board Chairman
of SHS Viveon AG, where he has been Chairman of the Supervisory Board since the fall of 2009. Mr. Roesing
has been a partner in BrainsToVentures AG since October 1, 2010.
Eugen M. Angster
Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Eugen M. Angster holds a master’s degree in geology from the University of Munich and an MBA in
International Business and Finance from the European University in Geneva. After nearly ten years in
management positions in Germany and abroad with Wacker Chemie GmbH and Hoechst AG, Mr.
Angster was responsible for establishing and managing the German Business Center (Haus der
Deutschen Wirtschaft) in Shanghai. After that, he worked for several years in Japan as a senior
executive in charge of the Asia-Pacific business of Deutsche Telekom AG. Since 2001, he has been working in the area of corporate restructuring. As Managing Director of Interim International GmbH, Mr.
Angster has overseen the operational restructuring of companies in transitional situations, hired interim managers specializing in turnaround management and occupied senior management positions. He
is also the founder and Executive Board Chairman of the Corporate Restructuring Association Germany
(CRAG).
Holger Schulze
After studying industrial engineering at the Technical University of Darmstadt, Mr. Schulze began his
career as Senior Analyst Global Internal Audit at Procter & Gamble Services in Brussels, Belgium. Following
several other posts within the Procter & Gamble Group – in his last position he held global financial
responsibility for the distribution logistics and the customer service of the perfume business with
responsibility for a budget of more than EUR 100 million and a team of 12 staff – he joined McKinsey &
Company as a project manager. There, he led projects for clients in the consumer goods, pharmaceuticals
and telecommunications industry in Germany, Romania, Switzerland, the UK and the US. Since the beginning of 2010, the turnaround specialist has been Managing Director of CC CaloryCoach Holding GmbH,
which operates a franchise system involving more than 120 facilities in Germany, Austria and Switzerland.
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By reason of the fact that it is listed on the Open Market segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, which is
not an organized or regulated market within the meaning of Section 2 (5) of the German Securities Trading
Act (WpHG), AURELIUS AG is not subject to the obligation to issue an annual declaration detailing the extent
to which it follows the recommendations of the Government Commission on the German Corporate
Governance Code. Nonetheless, the principles of sustainable and transparent corporate governance form an
integral part of the AURELIUS corporate culture. For that reason, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board
are committed to following the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
to the greatest extent possible. The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG hereby declare
voluntarily that the recommendations published by the Government Commission on the German Corporate
Governance Code in the amended version of May 26, 2010 have been met, with the following exceptions:
Section 2.3.1
“The convening of the [annual general] meeting, as well as the reports and documents, including the
annual report and the postal vote forms, required by law for the general meeting are to be published on
the company’s website together with the agenda.”
The company’s Articles of Incorporation enable the Executive Board to allow for shareholders to cast
their votes either in writing or by way of electronic communication even without attending the meeting (postal voting). The recommendation to assist shareholders with postal voting has only existed
since the publication of the amended version of the Code dated May 26, 2010, although the Code does
not make any recommendation as to whether postal voting should generally be permitted or not. It
only recommends providing assistance to shareholders for postal voting in the event that such voting
is permitted.
Before convening the next annual general meeting, the Executive Board will consider whether to make
use of this provision and allow postal voting. The practical implementation of postal voting is currently – meaning at the time when this declaration of conformity was being prepared – still surrounded by
legal uncertainty. Furthermore, postal voting does not bring any additional benefit for shareholders
when personally exercising their rights compared with the option provided by the company of issuing
appropriate instructions to a duty-bound, company-appointed proxy. Should use be made of this provision, the company will publish postal voting forms on its website and assist its shareholders with
postal voting.
Section 3.10
“The company shall keep previous declarations of conformity with the Code available for viewing on its
website for five years.”
In view of the negligible added information benefit of keeping previous declarations of conformity
available on its website, the company considers the additional cost of such a measure to be unjustified.
Section 4.1.5
“When filling managerial positions in the enterprise, the executive board shall take diversity into consideration and, in particular, aim for appropriate consideration of women.”
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Up until now, the principle of diversity and appropriate consideration of women were not explicitly
taken into account when filling managerial positions. The Executive Board intends to take account of
these criteria when filling managerial positions in the future.

Section 4.2.3 (2)
“The supervisory board must make sure that the variable compensation elements are in general based on
a multi-year assessment. Both positive and negative developments shall be taken into account when
determining variable compensation components. For extraordinary developments, the possibility of
limitation (cap) must in general be agreed upon by the supervisory board.”
Although the current agreements governing variable compensation components are based on a multiyear assessment, negative developments are not always taken into account when determining variable
compensation components. The Supervisory Board intends also to take negative developments in to
account when determining variable compensation amounts in the future.
The company would like to compensate the above-average dedication of its employees in an appropriate manner, based on their performance. An obligatory cap on variable compensation components for
extraordinary developments is generally not commensurate with this philosophy because extraordinary
developments can often be credited precisely to the dedicated work of the company’s employees.

Section 4.2.4 and following
“The total compensation of each one of the members of the executive board is to be disclosed by name,
divided into fixed and variable compensation components.”
The interference in the privacy of the Executive Board members and the competitive disadvantages
resulting from the itemized disclosure of Executive Board compensation do not outweigh the only
minor added information benefit for the capital markets of such itemized disclosure, compared with
the disclosure of the total compensation paid to the full Executive Board.

Section 5.1.2 (1)
“When appointing the executive board, the supervisory board shall also respect diversity and, in particular, aim
for an appropriate consideration of women. Together with the executive board, it shall ensure that there
is a long-term succession plan.”
The composition of the Executive Board has been unchanged since 2008. When making appointment
at that time, the Supervisory Board was not guided by considerations of diversity. With regard to any
future changes in the composition of the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board intends to respect the
principles of diversity and take appropriate consideration of women. Furthermore, the average of the
members of AURELIUS’ Executive Board is relatively young, despite their extensive business experience.
At the present time, therefore, the company does not believe that long-term succession planning
would contribute any significant benefit.

Section 5.1.2 (2)
“A re-appointment prior to one year before the end of the appointment period with a simultaneous termination of the current appointment shall only take place under special circumstances. An age limit for
members of the executive board shall be specified.”
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The re-appointment of Executive Board members prior to one year before the end of their appointment
period, with the simultaneous termination of their current appointment, is a widely recognized instrument by means of which the Supervisory Board can operate flexibly in personnel matters. Restricting
this instrument would limit the scope of action of the Supervisory Board unnecessarily. The relatively
young average of Executive Board members, coupled with the company’s operating success, make it
clear that age limits for Executive Board members do not in themselves create any benefit for business
enterprises. Therefore, the company does not consider this recommendation of the Code to be useful.

Section 6.6 (1)
“Beyond the statutory obligation to report and disclose dealings in shares of the company without delay,
the ownership of shares in the company or related financial instruments by executive board and supervisory board members shall be reported if these directly or indirectly exceed 1% of the shares issued by the
company. If the entire holdings of all members of the executive board and supervisory board exceed 1% of
the shares issued by the company, these shall be reported separately according to executive board and
supervisory board.”

Section 5.3.1 and following
“Depending on the specifics of the enterprise and the number of its members, the supervisory board shall
form committees with sufficient expertise.”

The shares of AURELIUS AG are listed on the Open Market segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange,
which is not an organized or regulated market within the meaning of Section 2 (5) of the German
Securities Trading Act (WpHG). Consequently, Section 15 WpHG is not applicable to AURELIUS.

The Supervisory Board of AURELIUS currently consists of three members. Given the size of the
Supervisory Board, the company does not consider it necessary to form committees.

Section 7.1.2
“The consolidated financial statements shall be publicly accessible within 90 days of the end of the financial year; the interim reports shall be publicly accessible within 45 days of the end of the reporting period.”

Section 5.4.1 (2 to 4)
“The supervisory board shall specify concrete objectives regarding its composition which, whilst considering
the specifics of the enterprise, take into account the international activities of the enterprise, potential conflicts of interest, an age limit to be specified for the members of the supervisory board and diversity. These
concrete objectives shall, in particular, stipulate an appropriate degree of female representation.”

Nonetheless, the company is making every effort to continually shorten the time required to publish
half-yearly reports.

The members of the Supervisory Board take on the necessary training and further education measures
required for their tasks at their own discretion. These are supported by the company appropriately.

The current Declaration of Conformity with the recommendations of the Government Commission on
the German Corporate Governance Code is regularly made accessible on the company’s website at
www.aureliusinvest.de. Exceptions to the recommendations published by the Government
Commission in the amended version of May 26, 2010 were last voluntarily described and published on
March 31, 2011. The Declaration is not the statutory declaration required by Section 161 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

The company considers a fixed amount of compensation to be adequate remuneration for the time and
cost incurred in fulfilling the duties of a Supervisory Board mandate.
Section 6.2
“As soon as the company becomes aware of the fact that an individual acquires, exceeds or falls short of
3, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 50 or 75% of the voting rights in the company by means of a purchase, sale or any
other manner, the executive board will disclose this fact without delay.”
The shares of AURELIUS AG are listed on the Open Market segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange,
which is not an organized or regulated market within the meaning of Section 2 (5) of the German
Securities Trading Act (WpHG). Consequently, AURELIUS is not subject to the German Securities Trading
Act, which explains why no such notifications are submitted to the company and hence none can be
published. Where notification obligations do exist compliant with the German Stock Corporation Act
(AktG), such notifications are published accordingly.

AURELIUS ANNUAL REPORT

The fact that a large number of AURELIUS subsidiaries are currently undergoing a process of
reorganization, and that AURELIUS continually acquires and sells investments in companies, means
that it often takes large amounts of time to prepare the necessary accounts. For that reason, the company is currently not able to meet the above-mentioned time limits with certainty.

The Supervisory Board has not formulated any objectives in this regard to date. Future recommendations by the Supervisory Board to the competent election bodies should take account of such
objectives. The concrete objectives of the Supervisory Board and the status of their implementation
should be published in the Corporate Governance Report in the future.

Section 5.4.6 (2)
“Members of the supervisory board shall receive fixed as well as performance-related compensation.”
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Close cooperation between the Executive Board and Supervisory Board
The Executive Board and Supervisory Board work together closely in the interest of the company. In particular, the Chairman of the Executive Board and the Chairman of the Supervisory Board remain in
regular contact with each other in order to jointly discuss the company’s strategy, business performance and risk management. The Chairman of the Executive Board always informed the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board promptly and in detail of all important events that were significant for assessing the
company’s situation, planning and business performance, its risk situation, risk management and compliance, and for managing the company. The Executive Board explained any and all variances between
actual and budgeted amounts and targets to the Supervisory Board. Furthermore, the company’s
strategic orientation is discussed with the Supervisory Board on a regular basis. The Supervisory Board
has reserved the right to approve transactions of fundamental importance, and especially those that
would fundamentally alter the company’s financial position, cash flows or financial performance.
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There were no consultancy or other agreements between members of the Supervisory Board and
AURELIUS AG in fiscal 2010. No members of the Executive Board or Supervisory Board encountered any
conflicts of interest requiring immediate disclosure to the Supervisory Board.
For more detailed information about the activities of the Supervisory Board and its cooperation with
the Executive Board, please refer to the Report of the Supervisory Board in this annual report.
Financial reporting and independent auditor
The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS AG and its subsidiaries are prepared in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board. The 2010 annual general meeting elected SUSAT & PARTNER OHG,
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, to act as independent auditor for fiscal 2010. In accordance
with the provisions of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Supervisory Board obtained a statement from the independent auditor stating whether and, where applicable, which financial or other
relationships exist between the employees of the independent auditor and the company, its executive
bodies or its employees that could call its independence into question. The independent auditor
assured the Supervisory Board that it presently had no significant contractual relations with AURELIUS AG
or its subsidiaries beyond the mandated audit activities. Furthermore, the company’s Supervisory Board
agreed with the independent auditor that the Chairman of the Supervisory Board would be informed
immediately of any grounds for disqualification or partiality occurring during the audit, unless such
grounds have been eliminated immediately.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Shareholdings of Executive Board and Supervisory Board members
The direct and indirect shareholdings of members of the Executive Board of AURELIUS AG totaled 40.7
percent of the total shares outstanding at the reporting date. Of this amount, Dr. Dirk Markus directly
and indirectly held 3,072,965 shares, representing 32.0 percent of total shares outstanding, and Gert
Purkert directly and indirectly held 785,014 shares, representing 8.2 percent of total shares outstanding.
The members of the Supervisory Board together held 190,400 shares, representing 1.98 percent of the
total shares outstanding, at the reporting date.
Regular information about the company
In line with its transparent communications policy, AURELIUS publishes current press releases, annual
and half-yearly reports, information for the annual general meeting and a detailed financial calendar
on the company’s website at www.aureliusinvest.de on a regular and timely basis. In addition, interested parties are welcome to contact the company’s Investor Relations Department in person.

Finally, it was agreed with the auditor that the latter would report without delay on all facts and events
of importance for the tasks of the Supervisory Board which arise during the performance of the audit.
Compensation of the Executive Board
The fixed non-performance-related compensation paid to the members of the Executive Board of
AURELIUS AG in fiscal 2010 totaled EUR 900 thousand. In addition to the fixed compensation, performance-related variable compensation of EUR 911 thousand was also paid in fiscal 2010.
Thus, the total compensation granted to members of the Executive Board in fiscal 2011 amounted to
EUR 1,811 thousand. The members of the Executive Board Dr. Dirk Markus and Gert Purkert hold a significant portion of the shares of AURELIUS AG and benefit from any appreciation in the price of company shares.
Compensation of the Supervisory Board
The members of the Supervisory Board received fixed compensation totaling EUR 66 thousand in fiscal
2010, of which EUR 27 thousand was paid to the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the remaining
EUR 39 thousand to the other members of the Supervisory Board. No loans or advances were granted
to any members of the Executive Board or Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG or its subsidiaries, and no
sureties or guaranties were assumed in their favor.
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THE AURELIUS SHARE
Underlying conditions on the international stock markets
The international stock markets performed pretty well in 2010. In particular, the German stock indexes
together with bourses in emerging markets were able to benefit from the various stimulus packages
around the world and the rebounding international trade activities these promoted.
At the same time, US markets lagged the trend in the rest of the world during the first three quarters
on account of the high level of unemployment and the related weakness in private consumption.
When examined in detail, the chart of the German benchmark DAX index for the first nine months
depicts a trend dominated by trading activities. Despite sharp rises in corporate profits, it failed to
record any sustained price hikes during this period. Not until improved economic data were released by
the US toward the end of the year did the DAX start to climb strongly to close 2010 up 16 percent.

There are two main reasons for the strong development at the start of the year. First, the share had suffered in 2009 from the trend for investing in stocks that offer higher liquidity. At the start of 2010, the
share was able to outperform the benchmark indexes as the situation on the capital markets normalized. At the same time, it benefited from positive reports about AURELIUS in various investor magazines
and by analysts, which was underscored by the release of good quarterly results. The proven successes
in restructuring the portfolio companies coupled with the acquisitions made in 2010 encouraged analysts to raise their target prices several times during the course of the year, which also made a major
contribution to the good performance of the AURELIUS share. The sideways movement in the second
half of the year can be attributed primarily to the wait-and-see attitude adopted by investors with
regard to the economic situation as a whole. With a positive trend becoming apparent, the AURELIUS
share has gained a further 30 percent value between the start of 2011 and the date when this report
was prepared.
The average daily trading volume in the XETRA electronic trading system, plus floor trading on the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange, was 6,641 shares after 10,146 in 2009.
Investor relations activities

Performance of the AURELIUS share
The AURELIUS share increased 75 percent in value in 2010. After trading at EUR 10.15 on December 30,
2009, the share closed 2010 at EUR 17.99. The AURELIUS share rose strongly in the first and second quarters in particular before tending to move sideways at a high level in the second half of the year. It
reached its high for the year of EUR 18.20 in July.

The recovery on the capital markets resulted in renewed investor interest in small caps. Consequently,
the Executive Board has decided to reinforce its communications with capital market participants and
the AURELIUS business model by holding investor and analyst meetings, conducting a regular dialog
with the business press and small investors, and attending capital market events with a view to informing the interested target audience. The goal of this is to increase the liquidity of the share as well as
boost awareness of the company.

Development of AURELIUS Share in comparison to DAX and Euro Stoxx 50
Regular information about the company

250%

In line with its transparent communications policy, AURELIUS publishes current press releases, annual
and half-yearly reports, information for the annual general meeting and a detailed financial calendar
on the company’s website at www.aureliusinvest.de on a regular and timely basis.

200%

150%

In addition, interested parties are welcome to contact the company’s Investor Relations Department in
person.

100%

Annual general meeting and shareholder structure
50%
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The resolutions proposed by the management were adopted with large majorities at the annual general meeting, which was held in Munich on July 27, 2010 with 41.6 percent of voting capital present and
represented. As proposed by management, the meeting resolved to increase the dividend to EUR 1.12
per share (+ 124%) from EUR 0.50 per share in the prior year. Thus, the company distributed a dividend
totaling EUR 10.8 million (2009: EUR 4.7 million) to the shareholders of AURELIUS AG.
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The Supervisory Board member Sven Fritsche resigned his position with effect from the end of the
annual general meeting. As proposed by management, Holger Schulze, management consultant and
managing director of CC CaloryCoach Holding GmbH from Münster, Germany, was elected as a new
member of the Supervisory Board.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT OF AURELIUS AG
at December 31, 2010
Contents

Shareholdings of members of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board
The direct and indirect shareholdings of members of the Executive Board of AURELIUS AG totaled 40.7
percent of the total shares outstanding at the reporting date. Of this amount, Dr. Dirk Markus directly
and indirectly held 3,072,965 shares, representing 32.0 percent of total shares outstanding, and Gert
Purkert directly and indirectly held 785,014 shares, representing 8.2 percent of total shares outstanding.
The members of the Supervisory Board together held 190,400 shares, representing 1.98 percent of total
shares outstanding, at the reporting date.
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1. Summary of fiscal 2010
The AURELIUS Group benefited from the global economic recovery and the successful restructuring of its
portfolio companies in fiscal 2010. Most portfolio companies reported rising revenues and results. In the
past fiscal year, the revenues of the AURELIUS Group increased by 27 percent to EUR 906.1 million (2009:
EUR 711.4 million). On an annualized basis, consolidated revenues had already exceeded the billion mark
in the fall of 2010, reaching EUR 1,246.3 million by the end of the fiscal year on December 31, 2010 (2009:
EUR 822.8 million). The four acquisitions completed in fiscal 2010 all contributed to this total: the
ISOCHEM Group based in France, Reederei Peter Deilmann with its flagship MS DEUTSCHLAND, SECOP
(formerly known as Danfoss Household Compressors) and CalaChem (formerly known as KemFine UK).
However, each of these companies is only included in the present figures from the date of initial consolidation.
The earnings from continuing operations before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)
increased by an even greater 88 percent to EUR 238.3 million (2009: EUR 127.0 million). Of this total, EUR
98.4 million is attributable to income from bargain purchase and EUR 59.5 million to income from debt
consolidation accruing as part of the initial inclusion in the consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS of the portfolio companies of the subsidiaries acquired in fiscal 2010.
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The Group had cash and cash equivalents of EUR 177.2 million on hand at the reporting date, up 14 percent year-on-year (2009: EUR 155.6 million). The solid financial base of the AURELIUS Group is also reflected in a consolidated equity ratio of 33 percent (December 31, 2009: 34%).
Two portfolio companies – CVC Camping Van Conversion GmbH (formerly known as Westfalia Van
Conversion GmbH) and Einhorn Mode Manufaktur – were forced to file for bankruptcy last year, and
were deconsolidated later in the year.
AURELIUS AG sold its interest in home-shopping station Channel21 in February 2010 following comprehensive restructuring.

Investment focus
In selecting potential target companies, AURELIUS does not focus on particular economy sectors. It
acquires investments in medium-sized companies and corporate spin-offs throughout Europe, provided
that they meet one or more of the following criteria:
- Potential for development that can be unlocked with close operational support;
- Below-average profitability or need for restructuring; and/or
- Synergies with existing platform investments in specific target sectors.

At the reporting date of December 31, 2010, the AURELIUS Group consisted of 15 corporate groups classified
as continuing operations.

2. Business operations and general economic conditions
The parent company, AURELIUS AG, does not focus on any particular economic sector when acquiring its
portfolio companies. Accordingly, the Group operating companies operate in a wide range of industries
and apply different business models.
The parent company’s business model
AURELIUS AG is an industrial holding company with a long-term investment horizon, which specializes
in acquiring companies with potential for development. AURELIUS has many years of investment and
management experience in various industries and sectors. AURELIUS employs its management capacity
and the necessary financial resources for product innovation, sales and research, in order to develop the
potential of its subsidiaries.
With offices in Munich and London, and subsidiaries in countries including Germany, the UK, France,
Ireland, Poland, Hungary, the Netherlands, Switzerland, Slovakia, Slovenia, China and Malaysia, AURELIUS
operates throughout the world.
Having accumulated transaction experience from more than 50 company acquisitions and sales,
AURELIUS can assure sellers that it will handle transactions quickly and professionally. Thanks to its
financial strength, which does not depend on banks, AURELIUS is in a position to pay fair purchase prices
and to help the purchased companies develop their potential. AURELIUS is also flexible in the structuring of such transactions. As part of this process, it can accommodate special conditions such as a
minimum holding period, job guarantees and the replacement of corporate relationships or existing
lenders. AURELIUS is thoroughly familiar with the diverse problems to be resolved in connection with
even complex transaction structures and corporate spin-offs.

AURELIUS acquires medium-sized companies or corporate spin-offs with annual revenues of between EUR
30 million and around EUR 750 million and an EBITDA margin that is positive but could also be negative.
The market environment and core business of the potential target company should be stable and exhibit
the potential for operational improvement.
As a rule, AURELIUS acquires majority interests and preferably 100 percent of the company’s equity. Its
financial strength that does not depend on banks puts AURELIUS in a position to carry out even complex
transactions and replace existing creditors. AURELIUS is able to adjust the contract structures flexibly to
match the expectations of the seller.
Acquisition strategy
For the purpose of identifying suitable acquisition targets, AURELIUS makes use of a broad network of
decision-makers in corporations as well as M&A consultants and investment banks. In total, the company’s acquisition specialists identify several hundred potential acquisition candidates every year, of which
about ten to 15 percent undergo a detailed assessment. AURELIUS conducts this due diligence process
with internal and external experts in the fields of mergers and acquisitions, law and finance. This way, the
company assures prompt and efficient due diligence at a consistently high level.

Managerial support as value driver
The portfolio companies are overseen by experienced AURELIUS employees who assist the management
in the further development of these companies. As a shareholder, AURELIUS believes it is responsible for
providing a GOOD HOME and a stable environment even in times of change. To that end, AURELIUS relies
upon a pool of experienced managers and functional specialists in the areas of finance, organization, production, IT, purchasing, contracts, marketing and sales, among others. AURELIUS takes an integrated
approach to developing the potential of its subsidiaries. The various specialists work closely together to
bring about the restructuring and the operational and strategic repositioning of the companies.

AURELIUS relies primarily on the skill and expertise of its own employees, from the acquisition and separation from previous corporate structures to the long-term restructuring process. For that reason,
AURELIUS can make the necessary decisions more quickly, giving it a competitive advantage both in the
screening of prospective target companies and in operational management.
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AURELIUS initiates comprehensive measures in line with the specific circumstances of a given company to
further develop its portfolio companies immediately after the acquisition. Such measures may include:
-

analyzing existing and often the introduction of new, more modern IT systems,

-

devising new sales and marketing concepts,

-

negotiating with banks and creditors on debt restructuring,

-

establishing new supplier relationships and settling inherited liabilities,

-

concluding agreements with works councils and trade unions,

-

restructuring current assets,

-

reorganizing production processes and/or

-

streamlining the product portfolio.

AURELIUS offers management the chance to purchase interests in the respective subsidiary. In making its
investments, AURELIUS does not pursue the goal of selling the company as quickly as possible, but instead
plans to provide a stable, GOOD HOME for its portfolio companies.

General economic conditions and developments in the private equity sector
Strong global economic recovery in 2010
After two years of global economic and financial crisis, 2010 was dominated by a strong economic upturn.
In its Economic Outlook dated January 20111, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) calculated that the
global economy expanded by 5.0 percent in 2010.
With an aggregate increase of 7.1 percent in national product, the emerging markets again enjoyed
dynamic growth. According to the IMF figures, on the other hand, the industrialized nations recorded only
moderate growth averaging 3.0 percent. Positive stimulus came above all from nations with strong
exports, whereas a number of traditional European countries suffered heavily from the consequences of
their high public debt. The United States achieved growth of 2.8 percent, while Japan recorded 4.3 percent.
In Europe, on the other hand, growth of only 1.8 percent was achieved, even though the export-heavy
German economy expanded sharply, rising 3.6 percent in 2010 according to figures released by the Federal
Statistical Office. The global economic recovery was driven mainly by the fast-growing region of East and
Southeast Asia, which enjoyed growth of 9.3 percent overall. China again recorded the fastest increase,
expanding 10.3 percent. India’s economy grew 9.7 percent, and even the two other BRIC states, Brazil and
Russia, recorded above-average growth rates of 7.5 and 3.7 percent, respectively.

Inflation rates, on the other hand, presented a varied picture. Whereas most industrialized nations only
recorded moderate price rises averaging 1.5 percent, prices increased sharply in emerging markets by an
average of 6.3 percent. This encouraged a number of Asian central banks to take monetary steps with a
view to preventing prices rising further. In Western industrialized nations, the low interest rate strategy
employed by central banks served to ease borrowing conditions. Key exchange rates also proved volatile in
2010, with the rate for the euro against the US dollar, for instance, moving in a corridor between 1.20 and
1.45 during the course of the year. At year-end, the exchange rate of 1.32 dollars to the euro was 7.4 percent
below the year-ago figure.
Developments in the private equity market in 2010
The 2010 statistics published by the German Private Equity and Venture Capital Association (BVK)1 show a
sharp increase of 59 percent to EUR 4.44 billion in investment activity in Germany. The market for private
equity rebounded strongly from the year of crisis it suffered in 2009 (investment volume: EUR 2,780 million). A total of 1,300 companies, most of which were small or medium-sized, were financed with private
equity in 2010. All in all, the market for private equity also benefited from the economic recovery and the
associated good prospects for companies, which made it easier for companies to tap fresh capital.
As in 2009, a majority of the investments again relate to majority interests. These buy-outs reached a volume of EUR 2.52 billion (2009: EUR 1,140 million). This rise can for the most part be attributed to the fact
that the average transaction size rose again sharply. Minority interests, such as growth, replacement and
turnaround finance mainly for small and medium-sized companies, rose considerably, from EUR 0.53 billion to EUR 1.26 billion. By contrast, the venture capital segment remained unchanged at a low level, with
investments stuck at EUR 0.65 billion.
In terms of the breakdown of investments by individual sector, commercial and industrial products
accounted for 24 percent, consumer goods and retail 23 percent, communications technology 20 percent,
computers and entertainment electronics nine percent, and life science eight percent.
Company disposals amounted to EUR 2.75 billion, up 31 percent on 2009 (EUR 2.1 million). Exits via the stock
market accounted for 29 percent of the total, sales to other private equity firms 18 percent and trade sales
14 percent. At 23 percent, the figure for total losses shows how the financial and economic crisis continued
to have a major impact.
1 German Private Equity and Venture Capital Association, Annual Statistics 2010, published on March 2, 2011 at www.bvkap.de.

On the commodities side, the good economic performance worldwide resulted in a sharp rise in demand
and hence increasing prices. At over US dollar 90 per barrel at year-end 2010, the price of oil was a good 20
percent higher than one year earlier. Most other energy and input costs also rose during the course of
2010, some of them by large amounts.
1 International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook, January 25, 2011.
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3. Reports on the portfolio companies
The following comments reflect developments of the individual corporate groups (subsidiaries) fully
consolidated in the AURELIUS Group.

Portfolio company
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Industry sector

Segment

Head office

DFA-Transport und Logistik Logistics and
transportation services

Services & Solutions

Ronneburg,
Germany

GHOTEL Group

Hotel chain

Services & Solutions

Bonn, Germany

Schabmüller Group

Manufacturer of electrical
drive systems

Industrial Production

Berching,
Germany

Schleicher Electronic

Producer of control systems Industrial Production

Berlin, Germany

Wellman International

Recycler of disposable
PET bottles

Industrial Production

Mullagh, Ireland

connectis

System integrator

Services & Solutions

Bern, Switzerland

Berentzen Group

Licquor manufacturer

Retail & Consumer Products

Haselünne,
Germany

Consinto

IT consultancy

Services & Solutions

Siegburg,
Germany

LD Didactic

Provider of technical
teaching systems

Services & Solutions

Hürth, Germany

Blaupunkt

Car Infotainment and
consumer electronics

Retail & Consumer Products

Hildesheim,
Germany

Sit-up TV

Home-shopping provider

Retail & Consumer Products

London,
Great Britain

ISOCHEM Group

Producer of fine chemicals

Industrial Production

Vert-le-Petit,
France

Reederei Peter Deilmann

Operator of the luxury cruiser Services & Solutions
MS DEUTSCHLAND

Neustadt
(Holstein) Germany

SECOP

Manufacturer of hermetic
compressors

Industrial Production

Flensburg,
Germany

CalaChem

Producer of fine chemicals

Industrial Production

Grangemouth,
Scotland

The AURELIUS Group consists of 15 operating groups which are held via intermediate holding companies.
All together AURELIUS AG has 129 subsidiaries plus one company consolidated at equity (associated
company).
AURELIUS fully consolidated four corporate groups for the first time in fiscal 2010. Three fully consolidated corporate groups (CVC-Camping Van Conversion, previously known as Westfalia Van Conversion,
Blaupunkt’s Antenna Systems division and Einhorn Mode Manufaktur) were deconsolidated during the
reporting period. The consolidated corporate groups Channel21 and Mode & Preis that were consolidated at equity in 2009 were also sold and deconsolidated in fiscal 2010.
In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 8 and within the framework of segment reporting, individual
companies have been assigned to the Industrial Production, Services & Solutions and Retail & Consumer
Products segments (see also Note 5.1 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements).
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INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION SEGMENT (IP)
SCHLEICHER ELECTRONIC
SCHABMÜLLER GROUP
As a leading international manufacturer of electrical drive systems, the Schabmüller Group focuses
primarily on the development and production of AC, DC motors and synchronous motors. The Berchingbased company’s products are used in fork lift trucks and components for hybrid systems. Schabmüller
Group always develops its innovative solutions in line with customer specifications, whether as complete
systems or standalone components.
Current developments
The biggest market segment for the Schabmüller Group, motors for industrial trucks, has recovered from
the collapse it suffered in 2009. In Asia, the company roughly matched the level of 2008, the year when it
generated its largest revenues to date. In Europe and the United States, on the other hand, there is still a
large amount of pent-up demand, most notably for counterbalanced forklifts.
Revenues started 2010 slowly before rising during the course of the year. This positive trend shows how
the acquisition of the AC motor activities from Sauer-Danfoss was the right strategic move. These activities accounted for 20 percent of revenues in 2010, whereas revenues from DC motors declined further.

Berlin-based Schleicher Electronic develops, produces and distributes control systems for tool manufacture
and special-purpose machinery construction. Working in conjunction with its customers, Schleicher
Electronic develops individual solutions for everything from individual automation components to
customer-specific overall concepts. The long-standing company’s customer base notably includes
German medium-sized firms.
Current developments
Schleicher Electronic recovered sharply in 2010 from the massive decline in new orders and revenues in
2009, expanding 70 percent year-on-year. Management focused notably on intensively managing current assets with a view to covering the strong demand for cash caused by growth. In addition, essential
production processes and administration workflows were optimized to lay the foundation for profitable
growth.
With a view to constantly developing the company, the planned capital spending notably on research
and development and the expansion of the sales force were pursued consistently and appropriately.
Against this backdrop, coupled with a fast-recovering industry and excellent prospects for new business, Schleicher Electronic is looking forward to 2011 with renewed optimism.

Besides expanding its share of the markets mentioned, the company is constantly working to acquire
projects involving new technologies (hybrid components and synchronous motors). Alongside trucks and
buses, the focus here is mainly on applications in the farming sector.
The company premises at the Berching facility are currently being enlarged by 25 percent in order to
accommodate growth. At the same time, large-scale capital spending on new manufacturing equipment
is planned for 2011.
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WELLMAN INTERNATIONAL

ISOCHEM GROUP

Wellman International based in Mullagh, Ireland, is Europe’s biggest recycler of disposable PET bottles.
PET bottles collected throughout Europe are washed and shredded in two plants in Spijk, Netherlands,
and Verdun, France. The material handled in this way, known as r-PET, is subsequently processed to form
polyester fibers. This happens primarily in the company’s own production plant at the headquarters of
Wellman International in Ireland, which is the largest of its kind in Europe. Wellman International is
also a leading producer of polyester fiber as a result.

The ISOCHEM Group is a leading supplier of specialty chemicals with production plants and modern
research and development facilities in France and Hungary. The headquarters of the ISOCHEM Group
are located in Vert-le-Petit, France. In addition, the ISOCHEM Group has a global distribution network
and offers its customers wide-ranging expertise in the development of complex, multi-level syntheses,
from laboratory scale through to industrial production. In particular, the corporate group serves
customers from the pharmaceutical and agrochemical industries with its product offering that covers
everything from chemical intermediates to chemical agents.

Current developments
Current developments
The whole of fiscal 2010 was dominated by fast-rising commodity prices. The increase in the price of
PET bottles was particularly sharp, rising 40 percent. Nevertheless, it proved possible to pass on these
price rises to end customers by launching targeted sales campaigns. Customer relied increasingly on
shipments from European vendors last year, as the supply chain from Asia proved to be unreliable in
some cases. Wellman International broke production records in all three of its plants last year, operating at full capacity, and clearly exceeded its forecasts. In addition, both personnel and energy costs were
again reduced in 2010.
Furthermore, further improvements in quality were achieved by making enhancements in production,
expanding and upgrading the Research and Development department and setting up various supplier
programs.
Wellman International is full of confidence for the year ahead following a successful appearance by the
company at the 2011 Heimtextil trade fair held in Frankfurt in January 2011. Wellman International is
planning to develop and roll out further new products. The company expects commodity prices to rise
again during the current year, which will again present a major challenge.
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The ISOCHEM Group was acquired from the state-run French SNPE corporation in the first quarter of
2010. When the company was restructured, AURELIUS set up a wide-ranging cost-cutting program that
covered all areas of the company. In addition, measures were initiated with a view to optimizing current
assets and enhancing the funding structure.
In parallel to this, a medium- and long-term growth strategy was drawn up and measures to boost
revenues instigated. This includes optimizing the sales processes and structures and purposely tapping
new customer segments in the chemicals industry. Future growth prospects are envisaged mainly by
entering new markets and developing new products, technologies and customer-specific solutions.
International sales above all in the United States and India were intensified with support from AURELIUS.
The company’s head office and administration functions were relocated from Paris to the production and
development facility at Vert-le-Petit on December 1, 2010. Besides realizing cost advantages, the move
will bring the development, production and sales teams closer together, serving to accelerate processes
for the benefit of the customer. A 10-year supply contract for a new product was concluded with a
prestigious chemicals company in January 2011. In this context, the ISOCHEM Group is investing around
EUR 2.5 million in its Pont-de-Claix facility. The ISOCHEM Group expects the revenues from its pharmaceuticals and intermediates activities to rise slightly in 2011 compared with 2010. At the same time, the
market environment for agrochemicals remains difficult.
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SECOP

CALACHEM

SECOP (formerly known as Danfoss Household Compressors) is a leading manufacturer of hermetic
compressors for refrigerators and freezers, light commercial applications and 12-24-48 Volt DC compressors
for mobile applications. The Flensburg-based company has around 2,800 employees working at
production facilities in Europe and China. With more than 50 years of experience in the compressor
business, SECOP is known for its expertise in the design and development of high-performance, highefficiency leading technologies. The corporate group was acquired in the fall of 2010 as a spin-off from
the Denmark-based Danfoss Group.

CalaChem based in Grangemouth, Scotland, is an international producer of fine chemicals. Its product
portfolio focuses on the agrochemicals and specialty chemicals segments. This involves producing
medium or large quantities of organic molecules as intermediate or end products on an industrial scale
in accordance with formulae defined by the customer. Customer relationships are underpinned by
long-term supply contracts. A number of generic products are also offered on the spot market.

Current developments
The wide-ranging restructuring measures that the former parent company Danfoss had already initiated in 2009 were continued in 2010 and production was successfully relocated from Germany to
China and Slovakia. With a view to enhancing its production processes and cost-efficiency, SECOP
pressed ahead with the manufacture of motors and components directly on the premises of strategic
suppliers last year.
In connection with its acquisition by AURELIUS, the company changed its name from Danfoss
Household Compressors to SECOP and launched a wide-ranging brand campaign at the end of 2010 to
establish the new name and reinforce its market position. This included devising and rolling out a new
logo and homepage as the first step in this strategy; further marketing measures are planned for 2011.
In March 2011, SECOP will be appearing for the first time under its new name at the international trade
fair for household appliances in Shanghai, as it looks to expand its presence in the Chinese market. In
addition, the smallest compressor in the world, the BD Micro, entered series production during 2010. Its
extremely small size makes it suitable for use in numerous mobile applications in the automotive segment.
The company will already be rolling out two new high-efficiency, high-performance products in 2011:
the DLX-KK, also known as the TOP2 compressor; and the NLU-KK, also known as UFO2. These new compressors combine high efficiency with a wide performance range and 50 percent less noise emission.
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Besides producing fine chemicals, CalaChem also operates an Industrial Services division. This division
provides a wide range of services, including the treatment of industrial waste water, the provision of
process steam and the supply of electricity and various facility services, for the adjacent Earls Gate
industrial estate. The company was acquired from the Finland-based KemFine OY Group in November
2010.
Current developments
In the winter of 2010/2011, the company was renamed CalaChem (previously known as KemFine) and
redimensioned. The reduction of overcapacity on the HR side was the first step in a wide-ranging costcutting program aimed at countering the weak profitability of the chemicals business resulting from
capacity utilization issues. The sales offensive that was launched at the same time concentrates on
marketing the company’s core competence in its chemicals activities: assuming complex, critical manufacturing processes under long-term contracts. CalaChem survives the competition of companies
from the Far East by means of its research know-how in process development and its reputation for
handling sensitive, confidential production processes.
The Industrial Services division is pursuing a multi-year growth strategy in the fields of waste water
treatment, the supply of electricity and process steam, and facility services. These development
programs encompass capacity-boosting capital spending on the treatment plant, a change in the
provisions of electricity and process steam, and the further development of the industrial estate by
attracting new enterpries.
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SERVICES & SOLUTIONS SEGMENT (SS)

GHOTEL GROUP

DFA-TRANSPORT UND LOGISTIK
Alongside its core business of providing logistics and transportation services to the construction industry, Ronneburg, Thuringia-based DFA - Transport und Logistik also has operations in the field of street
and construction site services, maintenance of commercial and passenger vehicles, long-distance
haulage and heavy haulage.
The Group has established itself as a strong partner for roadbuilding transportation services (covering
all types of bulk materials, including sand, gravel, concrete and quarrying) besides its regional
redevelopment activities. With facilities in Germany, Austria and Poland, DFA - Transport und Logistik
has operations throughout Europe for its customers.
Current developments
The commercial activities of DFA - Transport und Logistik were severely hampered in the first months
of 2010 by the unusually long winter. Newly acquired projects could only start much later as a result
and the vehicle fleet was not fully utilized accordingly. The corporate group responded by implementing various measures, although these will not have their full effect until later in 2011. The vehicle pool
was reduced by 60 units, which should prevent any overcapacity arising during the winter months in
the future. The general idea is to sell vehicles in the fall and not acquire new ones until the following
spring. All in all, the revenues and result of DFA - Transport und Logistik were below plan in 2010.

The Bonn-based GHOTEL Group runs 13 hotels and apartment blocks in central locations in major
German cities, including Hamburg, Hanover, Stuttgart and Munich. The company offers attractive facilities, well-equipped conference rooms and contemporary living solutions such as “Wohnen auf Zeit” in
its modern business and leisure hotels at a total of eight locations. The GHOTEL Group primarily targets
people who are looking for good value for money in the mid-range price segment together with high
quality service.
Current developments
After revenues remained almost constant across the whole hotel trade in the period from 2006 to
2008, they declined by six percent in 2009 to EUR 18.3 billion. The trend for falling revenues continued
in the first half of 2010 compared with the equivalent year-ago period. The GHOTEL Group managed to
buck this trend, however, increasing its revenues again in 2010. This can be attributed to efforts to
increase awareness of the group: for the first time, the company exhibited at various specialist trade
fairs during 2010 and reported good follow-up business as a result.
In addition, the GHOTEL Group again closed a loss-making operation in Munich in 2010 and opened its
first fully owned, new-build hotel in Koblenz. This represented the first step in the targeted expansion
of the company. The revenues generated by the new hotel exceeded the already ambitious targets the
company had set for its first year of operation. The company’s sustained success has encouraged
AURELIUS to acquire the five most important hotel properties leased by the GHOTEL Group for a figure
in the mid-tens of millions of euros range. AURELIUS is looking to invest around EUR 6 million in
renovating and expanding these hotels over the next few years. These two measures together create
long-term planning and investment security for the GHOTEL Group.

The Group succeeded in reducing its dependence upon a few regional customers during the reporting
period, enabling it to generate a majority of its revenues with customers outside of its home region of
Thuringia. One goal of the current year is to expand national activities. The major building sites set up
in 2010 already commenced at the start of January 2011.
Among other things, DFA - Transport und Logistik is operating on major roadworks on the A1 and A5
highways, various ICE lines including the Nuremberg-Erfurt route, projects in the greater Frankfurt area
and in the Bosruck Tunnel in Austria.
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CONNECTIS

CONSINTO

The Bern-based Swiss system integrator connectis offers its customers both solutions for safe networks
and applications in voice, data and video communications and the world of unified communications.
The company carries out the planning, roll-out, maintenance and operation of system solutions from a
single source and is the official partner of leading global manufacturers including Cisco, Microsoft and
Avaya. connectis operates out of a total of seven facilities and has activities throughout Switzerland.

Siegburg-based Consinto is a leading, independent, mid-sized IT consultancy with its own computer
center, more than 30 years of industry experience and prestigious customers from the fields of automotive and manufacturing, aerospace and defense, energy and utilities, and banks and insurers. The
name is derived from the company’s core competencies: consulting, system integration and operation.
Current developments

Current developments
After the first half of 2010 was still characterized by a reticence to invest, the market rebounded in the
second half of the year with a sharp rise in capital spending on ICT infrastructure work. The future
trends like cloud computing, virtualization and managed services in particular were the main drivers of
the upturn.
The new strategy that was implemented after the consolidation in 2009 with a focus on Unified
Communication and Collaboration (UCC), Data Center, Security and Services was reinforced by capital
spending and organizational adjustments in these fields.
Canada-based Nortel, one of connectis’s biggest suppliers in the field of business telephone equipment, was acquired by Avaya after the Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection arrangements were concluded
in the second half of 2009. This resulted in a sharp recovery in the industry and connectis is again perceived as a reliable partner in this market.
Last year, connectis succeeded in acquiring and in some cases already implementing various groundbreaking projects for customers including Thurgauer Kantonalbank, the University of St. Gallen, the
Cantons of Jura and Bern and the companies Orange, Swatch and Rolex. Geneva University Hospital and
Swiss Federal Railways rely upon connectis as a partner for the migration to Voice over IP. In addition,
connectis became the first Swiss system integrator to successfully gain ISO 20000 certification and,
with the Cisco Unified Communications and Collaborations Partner of the Year 2010, the Advanced Data
Center Storage Networking certification from Cisco and the Microsoft Gold Partnership, it also met the
formal requirements for successfully implementing its strategy.

The first half of 2010 for Consinto continued to be overshadowed by the global financial and economic crisis, as customers remained reluctant to execute and place new IT consulting projects. The business
finally started to pick up again in the second half of 2010, with Consinto acquiring larger orders from
both new and existing customers in the latter part of the year.
Customer confidence in the quality and capability of the IT consultancy was demonstrated among
other things by the fact that all of the outsourcing contracts expiring in 2010 were extended. Despite a
year-on-year decline in revenues, Consinto recorded a clear profit and increased its sales margin over
2009.
To keep pace with the growing outsourcing revenues, which account for around one-third of total revenues, and enhance the quality of the service provided, large amounts of money were invested in the
computer center. Strategic solutions have been systematically refined, with the successful development of the Financial Database worthy of special note in this context. The first customer put it into production use during 2010 and it has met with a strong interest on the market as it makes it far easier for
insurers to prepare their annual financial statements. The amounts invested in asset management and
mobile maintenance have begun to bear fruit, with new partnerships concluded at the end of the year
and initial customers acquired. Furthermore, the sales activities for the AMOSS supply chain solution
were successfully expanded and a specialist competence and care center set up. Consinto’s market
presence and name recognition were boosted by participating in various different events.
Consinto expects its revenues to increase in 2011 on the back of the orders it acquired at the end of 2010
and the general recovery in the industry. The goal is to continue generating around one-third of total
revenues from outsourcing.

Capital spending on the market is expected to return to pre-crisis levels in 2011. connectis is planning
to expand its share of the market and looking to achieve a sharp improvement in profit margins on the
back of a slight rise in revenues. Besides consolidating its portfolio and expanding its consulting
services to round out the value chain, the company is aiming to reinforce its strategic partnerships, for
example with its former parent company, Sunrise.
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LD DIDACTIC

REEDEREI PETER DEILMANN

LD Didactic based in Hürth near Cologne is a leading worldwide provider of technical teaching systems
for schools and industry. The Group offers complete solutions for general science education and further
education in engineering and the sciences. The combination of chemistry, biology, physics and
electrical engineering makes it possible for LD Didactic to offer comprehensive learning solutions for
both the basic research and applications fields of vendors of technical and scientific teaching
programs.

Redeerei Peter Deilmann based in Neustadt, Holstein, operates the MS DEUTSCHLAND, which was built
by Howaldtswerke Deutsche Werft AG in Kiel in 1998 and was launched by former German president
Richard von Weizsäcker. Since it was set up in 1972, the company has made a name for itself for luxury
cruises. The 5-star liner is well known in the German-speaking world from a major TV series. It is the
only cruise ship in the world to fly the German flag.
Current developments

Current developments
The global market for technical and scientific teaching materials again developed positively in 2010.
Whereas demand in Germany, the most important market for LD Didactic, stabilized at a high level on
account of the economic stimulus packages, national governments in many parts of the world
continued to invest heavily in educational establishments with a view to promoting the general
development of their countries.
The measures that had been initiated in the previous year to restructure LD Didactic were continued in
fiscal 2010. Alongside the final closure of the Furniture unit together with the associated production
facility, the successful roll-out of SAP across all company units is worthy of special mention. LD
Didactic’s revenues in its core business of teaching materials rose by 18 percent in 2010, meaning that
the year-ago figure could be surpassed despite the closure of the Furniture unit.
An increase of over 30 percent in the capacity of the two plants in Hürth and Nordhausen/Urbach
(Thuringia) was initiated in the second half of 2010, creating around 40 new jobs at the two facilities in
the process. LD Didactic presented a number of new products that were very well received by the
market at the world’s biggest trade fair for teaching materials, Didacta 2010.
The restructuring of LD Didactic will be brought to a provisional conclusion during 2011. The last major
projects in this regard will involve further significant capital spending on production equipment, IT
infrastructure and the complete renovation of the main administration block.

AURELIUS acquired Reederei Peter Deilmann and its flagship, the MS DEUTSCHLAND, in the fall of 2010,
when the family-run firm required additional capital in response to the difficult economic situation
coupled with fire damage. The Neustadt-based company generated revenues of around EUR 50 million
in the past fiscal year. An amount in the double-digit millions of euros was made available to reinforce
the capital base as part of the acquisition by AURELIUS.
To expand the company’s positioning in the luxury segment, the company’s branding and logo have
been modernized and a new website launched since the acquisition. Work is currently under way to
expand the range of services offered both on board and on land.
The funds provided by AURELIUS will be used in part to modernize the liner at a shipyard in the second
half of May 2011. Alongside replaced interior fittings and a new coat of paint, there will also be
technical updates to the pool section, the air-conditioning, the passenger elevators, the ship’s loudspeaker system and the engines. The goal of this work is to underscore the company’s fundamental
alignment in the luxury segment and the character of the MS DEUTSCHLAND as a grand hotel at sea.
The aim is for guests to continue enjoying the kind of comfort and lifestyle on board that they are used
to. Large-scale promotional measures were initiated immediately after the acquisition was completed.
The new management team introduced itself to travel agencies, sales partners and regular guests in
December with customer roadshows in many major German cities. The “Gold für Deutschland” booking competition currently running for travel agencies together with an advertising campaign and
further promotional measures have already proved successful in the first weeks of 2011. In addition, the
company’s sales force is to be expanded again in the coming weeks.

The company’s internationalization will be continued in 2011 with the opening of further sales offices
in Asia and the Middle East.
Among other things, the roll-out of more new products will enable LD Didactic to grow its revenues in
2011 by a double-digit percentage. Based on its strong performance and the excellent market outlook,
the company will also keep an eye out for acquisition projects.
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SEGMENT RETAIL & CONSUMER PRODUCTS (RCP)

BERENTZEN GROUP
Based in Haselünne in Lower Saxony, the Berentzen Group is one of the leading drinks groups in Germany.
For more than 250 years, the Berentzen name has stood for the fine art of distillation and the pleasure of
drinking. The Berentzen Group focuses on its core Berentzen and Puschkin brands in the volume segment
of the spirits market. The company also exports these two brands. The Berentzen Group is the biggest
Pepsi Cola franchise partner in Germany and producer of wellness and soft drinks, which means it is also
very successful with its domestic operations in the market for non-alcoholic beverages.

The Berentzen Group’s Non-alcoholic Beverages division recorded much higher sales volumes in its regional mineral water activities as well as its activities involving wellness and energy drinks. The sales volume
of Vivaris Getränke GmbH & Co. KG amounted to 1.69 million hectoliters at December 31, 2010.
Since entering into Strategy Phase 3, business activities have focused on developing international activities. Besides actively addressing the existing core markets of the Netherlands, the Czech Republic and
Slovakia, the Berentzen Group has also been exploring the potential of large markets like China and the
United States since 2009. Initial activities in India and Russia were added in 2010. Marketing products in
these countries open up opportunities for growth with a view to increasing the share of own-label business in the long run by leveraging greater international demand.
Wide-ranging brand launches and innovations are planned for the coming fiscal year in connection with
Strategy Phase 3, to be backed by large-scale advertising campaigns.

Current developments
The economic recovery that rapidly picked up pace over the course of 2010 failed to provide any impetus
for the German spirits sector. Up to and including October 2010, total domestic consumption of spirits
sank by two percent to 508.9 million 0.7-liter bottles; totally revenues declined by two percent accordingly to EUR 3.44 billion. The better mood among consumers did not lead to higher revenues in the hospitality trade. The industry saw its revenues decline by 0.7 percent in real terms in the first ten months of 2010
compared with the equivalent period in 2009. In light of the very strong rise in the proportion of imports
(up 33 percent year-on-year in November 2010), it is safe to conclude that Germans’ shopping spree is to a
large extent being satisfied with imported products and less by consuming domestic goods.
Despite these weak underlying conditions, the Berentzen Group again succeeded in improving its earnings
before taxes, interest, depreciation and amortization (EBTIDA) by EUR 2.9 million in fiscal 2010 to EUR 17.9
million. Total revenues, including liquor tax, amounted to EUR 329.6 million in 2010 (2009: EUR 313.9 million).
After the company’s performance was shaped by a reorganization and the subsequent revitalization of the
Berentzen umbrella brand over the last two years, a new phase of the strategy was entered in 2010, known
as Strategy Phase 3, which targets the long-term generation of profitable growth at home and abroad.
Against this backdrop, the brand and marketing concept for the domestic spirits business was systematically developed in 2010. The “Berentzen-Fruchtigen” range has been presented in a modern glass bottle
with an upscale no-label design since January. “BCidr,” a fruit-mix drink based on wine, became the second
new product in the new Berentzen brand world launched by the company on the German market after
the “B” fruit vodka. “BCidr” has already enjoyed a high level of acceptance among consumers in the first
months after its launch as an alternative to beer-mix drinks. A first-class aquavit was added to the
Berentzen Group in the form of the new “Bommerlunder Bernstein” product, simultaneously rounding out
the existing Bommerlunder range with a premium variant at the top end.
In addition, the private label and secondary brand activities involving spirits were successfully continued.
The consolidation of production, sales and marketing at a single facility led to a constant improvement in
the supply chain. Retaining the attractive prices of private label products for the retail trade made it possible to boost the profitability of these activities.
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BLAUPUNKT
Hildesheim-based Blaupunkt is a major international distributor of high quality electronics equipment in
the field of car infotainment; among other things, this includes car radios and car hi-fi components.
Blaupunkt also has activities in the entertainment electronics market with innovative lifestyle products.
Current developments
The wide-ranging restructuring program initiated in 2009 has by now been largely completed, leading to
considerable cost reductions. Besides the restructuring under company law, the product portfolio has been
streamlined, a new standalone-capable IT infrastructure set up, the operational organization optimized
and overcapacity reduced at all levels of the company.
The spin-off of the successfully restructured Antenna Systems division was completed in May 2010 with
its sale to the Rosenheim-based Kathrein Group. The logistics business was transferred to the German
market leader in the logistics segment, DB Schenker Logistics.
Blaupunkt is planning to further expand its core Car Radio and Car HiFi divisions in the future with innovative products. New formats and additional benefits are giving rise to a complete world of car entertainment. This also includes the fields of integrated onboard navigation, car PC and perfect sound reproduction.
Its rapidly expanding facility in Malaysia gives Blaupunkt a strong foothold in the fast-growing countries
of Asia (India, China and the ASEAN states). Blaupunkt is a constant factor in this region as a supplier of
audio systems to the automotive industry.
The plan is to use brand partners to market further products from the field of entertainment electronics
and home entertainment under the umbrella of the Blaupunkt Global Brand Community in the future.
The corporate group caused a stir at the IFA trade show held in Berlin in September 2010 with the first
products from its brand partners, LCD and LED TVs, and shortwave receivers. Both product families will be
rolled out in the spring of 2011. In addition, Blaupunkt is in negotiations with further promising brand partners.
The Mobile Entertainment 2011 product list launched at the IFA featuring new products from Blaupunkt’s
2011 range was also very well received by the visitors.
At the beginning of 2011, Blaupunkt also started marketing products for the transmission of telematic
data both inside and outside the vehicle in its newly created Blaupunkt Telematics division. All in all,
Blaupunkt performed very well last year in a market environment typified by price wars.

SIT-UP TV
Sit-Up TV is the second-biggest home-shopping provider in Britain. The company runs three interactive
home-shopping channels: bid tv, price-drop tv and speed auction tv, each with their own website on which
their complete ranges are offered. Sit-Up TV sells its broad product range via an innovative price
mechanism involving an auction format in which the prices fall during the bidding process and the participants need only pay the lowest price. This format gives Sit-Up TV a unique positioning in the marketplace.
The company’s live program has a technical reach of over 22 million households. It is broadcast on the
Virgin, Freeview and Sky TV platforms.
In addition to TV shopping, the company also reinforced its online distribution channels in 2010 with a
view to profiting from the future growth in British distance commerce, which will be driven primarily by
the convergence of the TV and the internet.
Current developments
2010 was characterized by challenging operating conditions for Sit-Up TV. Private consumption was weak
in the UK, especially in the second half of the year, as a result of a struggling economy coupled with a high
level of public debt that the British government aims to counter by implementing severe austerity measures and eliminating large numbers of public sector jobs. These effects were exacerbated by an extremely aggressive competitive environment in terms of prices, with players attempting to gain demand by
running massive promotions in the pre-Christmas season.
Despite this soft demand and the associated decline in revenues, Sit-Up TV succeeded in recording a
significant increase in net margins. All in all, 2010 was characterized by a stabilization of the commercial
operations and a consolidation of the initiated restructuring measures. The change of call center operator
that had already been initiated for the most part ran smoothly and the change of logistics and warehouse
service provider was also concluded in the last quarter. As a result, the company is now in a position to set
up highly efficient processes and benefit from the international and industry-specific experience of its
new service providers.
Alongside these improvements in operating processes, Sit-Up TV also continued to implement its
strategic market realignment. The leadership team has been strengthened with experienced industry
experts, notably on the marketing side. Better and more specific ways of addressing customer segments
have already been initiated and were ready for full implementation by the end of the year. The company’s
entire positioning will be honed in the first quarter of 2011.
Current forecasts continue to indicate constant growth for TV shopping through the middle of the new
decade. In particular, vendors with a creative, unique range will enjoy above-average growth. The distance
commerce business will receive the biggest boost in the online sector, and this is where Sit-Up TV has created a further core competence. In terms of e-commerce, the internal resources have been boosted
enough to allow the company to benefit from the basic operational competence in distance commerce in
the online distribution channel as well.
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4. Financial performance, cash flows and financial position
4.1 Financial performance
Financial performance
in EUR mn
Consolidated revenues
Consolidated revenues (annualized)

01/01-12/31/2010

01/01-12/31/2009

Change

906.1

711.4

27%

1,246.3

822.8

51%

EBITDA

238.3

127.0

88%

EBIT

181.6

92.9

95%

Period profit/loss attributable to shareholders

129.6

74.8

73%

Earnings per share (diluted), in EUR

17.48

8.43

107%

The consolidated revenues of AURELIUS AG increased by 27 percent to EUR 906.1 million in fiscal 2010
(2009: EUR 711.4 million). The comparison figures for 2009 have been adjusted in accordance with the
regulations set forth in IFRS 5. The main reason for this increase was the acquisition of corporate groups during the past fiscal year: the France-based ISOCHEM Group, Reederei Peter Deilmann, SECOP (formerly known
as Danfoss Household Compressors) and CalaChem (formerly known as KemFine UK). The determining date
for the initial consolidation or inclusion of a subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements is the date
of closing of a transaction, because that is when AURELIUS first attains complete control over the acquired
company. The revenues and results of the subsidiaries acquired during the year are only included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of initial consolidation. Thus, they are only included for part of
the year. Extrapolated to twelve months, the annualized consolidated revenues of the AURELIUS Group
amounted to EUR 1,246.3 million at the reporting date of December 31, 2010, up 51 percent on the 2009 total
of EUR 822.8 million.
The following table shows the breakdown of consolidated revenues by the segments Services & Solutions,
Industrial Production, and Retail & Consumer Products:

in EUR mn

Revenue with third parties

Industrial
Production

174,147

321,579

Retail &
Consumer
Products

439,651

Other

AURELIUS
Group

103

935,480

-/-

-/-

29,417

-/-

29,417

thereof continued operations

174,147

321,579

410,234

103

906,063

Portion of continued operations

19.22%

35.49%

45.28%

0.01%

100%

thereof discontinued operations

C A L A C H E M / G R A N G E M O U T H / S COT L A N D

Services &
Solutions
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Other operating income increased by a disproportionate 74 percent to EUR 250.7 million compared with EUR
144.1 million in 2009. The total includes EUR 98.4 million (2009: EUR 93.5 million) bargain purchase and EUR
59.5 million in income from debt consolidation similarly accruing as part of the consolidation of the companies acquired during fiscal 2010. Income from the reversal of provisions contributed EUR 33.5 million to other
operating income (2009: EUR 16.3 million).
The net expense from associated companies totaled EUR 1.1 million after EUR 0.2 million in 2009.
The changes in the expense items "Purchased goods and services," "Personnel expenses" and "Other operating expenses" described below similarly result essentially from changes in the group of companies included in consolidation (initial consolidations and deconsolidations of subsidiaries).
Purchased goods and services increased by 37 percent year-on-year to EUR 533.8 million (2009: EUR 389.7
million), taking the ratio of purchased goods and services to revenues up to 59 percent after 55 percent in
2009.
Personnel expenses rose by EUR 35 million or 21 percent to EUR 202.7 million (2009: EUR 167.7 million), serving to take the ratio of personnel expenses to revenues down to 22 percent after 24 percent in 2009.
Other operating expenses amounted to EUR 190.3 million, up EUR 29.3 million or 18 percent on the 2009
total of EUR 161.0 million. The largest items within other operating expenses are freight and shipping costs,
administration expenses and marketing costs.

4.2 Cash flows
Cash flows
in EUR mn

01/01-12/31/2010

01/01-12/31/2009

Change

Cash flow from operating activities

134.9

11.3

1,094%

Cash flow from investing activities

-70.6

96.8

(173%)

Cash flow from financing activities

-44.9

-24.7

(82%)

Free cash flow

64.3

108.1

(41%)

Cash and cash equivalents as of December, 31

177.2

155.6

14%

The net cash inflow from operating activities amounted to EUR 134.9 million in fiscal 2010 (2009: EUR 11.3
million). This increase can be attributed primarily to changes in working capital, notably including the
decrease in trade receivables and other receivables coupled with a decrease in inventories and an increase
in trade payables and other liabilities.
The net cash outflow from investing activities declined to EUR 70.6 million (2009: EUR 96.8 million). At an
aggregate of EUR 88.8 million, far higher purchase prices were paid for the companies acquired than in
2009 (2009: EUR 16.4 million). In terms of acquiring new companies, AURELIUS greatly expanded its investment focus last year and will also make investments in "healthier" companies showing potential for operational optimization at higher purchase prices in the future.
The free cash flow amounted to EUR 64.3 million compared with EUR 108.1 million in 2009.

All in all, AURELIUS generated much better earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA), up 88 percent year-on-year to EUR 238.3 million. In 2009, the equivalent amount was EUR 127.0
million. After amortization and depreciation of EUR 56.7 million was recognized on intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment (2009: EUR 34.2 million), earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to EUR 181.6 million in fiscal 2010, an increase of 95 percent on the 2009 total of EUR 92.9 million.
AURELIUS recorded a net financial loss of EUR 4.1 million after EUR 6.4 million in 2009.
After a net expense of EUR 38.5 million from discontinued operations (2009: EUR 6.0 million), the consolidated profit amounts to EUR 138.8 million (2009: EUR 80.6 million), which breaks down as follows: EUR 129.6
million (2009: EUR 74.8 million) is attributable to the shareholders of the parent company and EUR 9.2 million (2009: EUR 5.8 million) is attributable to non-controlling interests. The diluted earnings per share from
continuing and discontinued operations totaled EUR 13.48 after EUR 7.81 in 2009.

The net cash outflow from financing activities amounted to EUR 44.9 million (2009: EUR 24.7 million). The
total essentially stems from a reduction of EUR 50.0 million in non-current financial liabilities. It also
includes the dividend of EUR 10.8 million paid to the shareholders of AURELIUS AG compared with EUR 4.7
million in 2009.
The cash and cash equivalents had risen to EUR 177.2 million at the reporting date of December 31, 2010 compared with EUR 155.6 million at year-end 2009 (up 14%).

4.3 Financial position
Financial position
in EUR mn
Total assets
Equity
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01/01-12/31/2009

Change

1,060.1

679.0

56%

354.1

229.3

54%

Equity ratio

33.4%

33.8%

(1%)

Liabilities

706.0

449.7

57%

187.9

71.4

163%

thereof financial liabilities
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At the reporting date of December 31, 2010, the total assets of the AURELIUS Group amounted to EUR 1,060.1
million (2009: EUR 679.0 million), indicative of a 56 percent increase over the year-ago figure. The change in
total assets and most items in the statement of financial position results mainly from initial consolidations
and deconsolidations in fiscal 2010.
Non-current assets increased by 107 percent to EUR 446.7 million after EUR 215.5 million at year-end 2009.
This item essentially includes intangible assets of EUR 108.5 million (2009: EUR 61.2 million) and property,
plant and equipment of EUR 304.5 million (2009: EUR 119.6 million). The strong rise in both items is attributable mainly to the new acquisitions made during fiscal 2010. The shares in companies accounted for using
the equity method account for EUR 17.0 million of the total non-current assets (2009: EUR 18.8 million).
The 32 percent increase in current assets to EUR 613.4 million (2009: EUR 463.4 million) is also largely down
to the companies newly acquired during the past fiscal year. Thus, inventories rose by 72 percent to EUR 151.1
million after totaling EUR 87.6 million at year-end 2009. Trade receivables increased by 51 percent to EUR
193.3 million (2009: EUR 128.0 million).
Assets held for sale contains the assets of EUR 16.6 million of the British book club BCA and Blaupunkt's
Loudspeakers division, both of which are earmarked for sale in fiscal 2011. In 2009, the statement of financial position contained an amount of EUR 34.9 million in this item representing the assets of Westfalia Van
Conversion GmbH (today known as CVC-Camping Van Conversion GmbH) and Blaupunkt's Antenna
Systems and Loudspeakers divisions.
Cash and cash equivalents had risen to EUR 177.2 million at the reporting date after EUR 155.6 million in
2009, up 14 percent.
Consolidated equity increased by EUR 124.8 million, or 54 percent, year-on-year to EUR 354.1 million. This corresponds to a consolidated equity ratio of 33 percent (2009: 34 percent). Non-current liabilities rise to EUR
320.0 million, up 93 percent on the 2009 total of EUR 166.0 million.
This increase is essentially attributable to higher non-current financial liabilities, which totaled EUR 148.0
million at the reporting date (2009: EUR 47.2 million). Pension obligations increased by 17 percent to EUR 34.3
million after EUR 29.2 million in 2009. Deferred tax liabilities rose by 113 percent to EUR 79.5 million (2009:
EUR 37.4 million).
Current and non-current provisions declined slightly to EUR 46.0 million compared with EUR 51.3 million in
2009.
Current liabilities amounted to EUR 386.0 million at the reporting date of December 31, 2010 (2009: EUR
283.7 million). This 36 percent increase stems mainly from higher trade payables and other liabilities than in
2009. Trade payables totaled EUR 171.4 million at the reporting date, up 71 percent on the EUR 100.0 million
reported in 2009. Most of this change can be attributed to the companies that were newly acquired during
fiscal 2010. Other liabilities rose by 38 percent to EUR 97.2 million (2009: EUR 70.4 million).
The liquor tax liabilities of EUR 22.3 million are attributable to the Berentzen Group, down from EUR 26.3
million in 2009. The current financial liabilities rose by 65 percent to EUR 40.0 million (2009: EUR 24.2 million), mostly on account of acquisitions.
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5. Acquisition-related disclosures
The disclosures required by Section 315 (4) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) are presented in
detail below. The share capital of AURELIUS AG consists of 9,600,000 no-par bearer shares, each representing an imputed share of capital equal to EUR 1.00. There are no legal or statutory restrictions on
voting rights or transfers. To the knowledge of the Executive Board, no agreements to the contrary exist
between shareholders.
At the reporting date, the company was aware of the following direct or indirect shareholdings conveying
voting rights equal to more than ten percent of the share capital: Dr. Dirk Markus indirectly and directly
holds 3,072,965 shares, representing 32.0 percent of the voting rights of AURELIUS AG. Shares endowed with
special rights that would convey control over the company do not exist. There are no special regulations
applicable to the exercise of shareholder rights by shareholders who are employees of AURELIUS AG.
Pursuant to Article 5 (1) of the Articles of Incorporation, the Executive Board must be composed of at least
one member. The number of members is determined by the Supervisory Board. If the Executive Board has
more than one member, the Supervisory Board is authorized to nominate a Chairman and a Vice Chairman
of the Executive Board. The Supervisory Board may revoke the appointment of Executive Board members
and the nomination of the Executive Board Chairman, provided it has good cause to do so. Contrary to the
requirements of Sections 84 and 85 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and Section 31 of the
German Co-determination Act (MitbestG), the Articles of Incorporation do not stipulate any further restrictions on the dismissal of Executive Board members. In accordance with Section 119 (1) No. 5 AktG, the annual general meeting resolves on amendments to the Articles of Incorporation.
The annual general meeting of July 27, 2010 authorized the Executive Board to increase the share capital,
with the consent of the Supervisory Board, by a total of up to EUR 4,800,000.00 by issuing up to 4,800,000
new no-par bearer shares, each representing an imputed share of capital of EUR 1.00, against cash or in-kind
contributions, on one or more occasion in the period up to July 26, 2015 (Authorized Capital 2010/I).
Furthermore, the annual general meeting of July 27, 2010 authorized the Executive Board to purchase treasury shares representing up to ten percent of the current share capital in the period until the end of July 26,
2015. The authorization may be exercised by the company or by third parties for account of the company all
at once or in partial amounts, on one or more occasions, for one or more purposes. Such shares may be purchased either on the stock exchange or by way of a public purchase offer to all shareholders of the company, at the discretion of the Executive Board.
Furthermore, the Executive Board is authorized to sell the purchased treasury shares by some other means
than on the stock exchange or by way of an offer to all shareholders, provided that the purchased treasury
shares are sold at a price that is not significantly less than the stock exchange price of the company's shares
on the sale date. To that extent, the subscription right of shareholders will be excluded.
However, this authorization is subject to the condition that the shares sold under exclusion of subscription
rights according to Section 186 (3) 4 AktG do not together represent more than ten percent of the share capital at the date of the resolution or at the date of issuance of the new shares, if the latter amount is less. The
maximum amount of ten percent of share capital is reduced by the proportional share of capital represented by the shares issued during the period of this authorization in connection with a capital increase under
exclusion of subscription rights according to Section 186 (3) 4 AktG.
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Furthermore, the Executive Board is authorized to sell the purchased treasury shares by some other means
than on the stock exchange or by way of an offer to all shareholders, provided that such sale is effected
against in-kind contribution for the purpose of business combinations or the acquisition of companies or
shares in companies. To that extent, the subscription right of shareholders will be excluded.
Furthermore, the Executive Board is authorized to use the purchased treasury shares to service subscription
rights to shares (warrants) that were granted to selected members of the Executive Board, selected members of the management of companies affiliated with the company and selected employees of the
company and affiliated companies by virtue of the authorization to grant subscription rights resolved by the
annual general meeting of June 27, 2007.
The shares may also be used to service conversion rights under convertible bonds, convertible loans or warrants issued by the company or Group companies. To that extent, the subscription right of shareholders will
be excluded.

7. Employees
Our employees again made a major contribution to company growth and the successes achieved in 2010.
They represent a decisive factor in our favor in an ever more complex market and competitive environment.
We attach high priority to supporting our employees in their day-to-day activities, their professional careers
and their efforts to achieve their personal goals. The AURELIUS team operates in a very wide range of industries, countries and cultures. For the entire team to work together successful in conditions like these requires
an integrated strategy that unites everyone and simultaneously fosters the specific strengths of each individual.The development of the headcount in the AURELIUS Group is mainly attributable to changes in the
group of companies included in consolidation. The AURELIUS Group had an average of 4,738 employees in
fiscal 2010 (2009: 3,478), of whom 2,494 were wage earners (2009: 1,981) and 2,244 salaried staff (2009:
1,497). Employees of companies that were consolidated for the first time or deconsolidated during the year
are included in those totals on a pro rata basis.
At the reporting date of December 31, 2010, the number of employees totaled 6,803 (2009: 3,523).

Furthermore, the Executive Board is authorized to withdraw the purchased treasury shares, in full or in part,
without the need for an additional resolution from the annual general meeting. Such shares may also be
retired by means of a simplified procedure without the need for a capital decrease, by adjusting the imputed shares of capital represented by the other shares of the company. Such retirement may be limited to only
some of the purchased shares. The authorization to retire shares may be exercised on more than one occasion. If the shares are retired by means of the simplified procedure, the Executive Board is authorized to
adjust the number of shares outstanding in the Articles of Incorporation.
The foregoing authorizations to sell or retire treasury shares can be exercised all at once or in partial
amounts, on one or more occasion, separately or collectively.
There are no significant company agreements that would take effect in the event of a change of control
resulting from a takeover offer. No statements have been made to that effect, nor on the subject of compensation agreements between the company and the members of the Executive Board or employees of the
company that would take effect in the event of a takeover offer.

6. Research and development
Only one subsidiary in the AURELIUS Group's current portfolio, compressor manufacturer SECOP, maintains
its own research and development function.
The development team at the SECOP Technology Center in Flensburg consists of around 100 engineers and
technicians. This group has been tasked with developing leading-edge compressor platforms for the household, light commercial and mobile market segments. The predominant technology in these markets is the
piston compressor, which explains why the development essentially comprises three groups: mechanics
(pump), motor and electronics. The key parameters for developing new compressors are product cost and
compressor efficiency. Integrated product development, starting from the fluid mechanics and magnetic
simulations and ending with the algorithms for motor control and of course the manufacturing processes,
is essential if both parameters are to be incorporated to best effect. This development team is supported by
the engineering teams in the plants (around 50 engineers and technicians), who develop new product variants based on the platforms autonomously.
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Personnel expenses increased by 21 percent to EUR 202.7 million (2009: EUR 167.7 million), while the ratio of
personnel expenses to total operating performance was 22 percent after 24 percent in 2009.

8. Significant events after the reporting date
On March 2, 2011, AURELIUS sold its Book Club Associates Ltd. subsidiary (BCA), Britain's biggest mail-order
and online book distributor, to the Webb Group, Burton upon Trent, UK. The Webb Group is Britain's leading
vendor to consumers of home entertainment products, including games, DVDs, music and gifts. AURELIUS
had acquired BCA from the Bertelsmann DirectGroup at the end of 2008. AURELIUS had submitted BCA to
an intensive restructuring program over the last two years. The measures that were initiated made it possible to modify the company's cost structure. Investments in a new IT system, an improved online offering
and the insourcing of service functions resulted in a far higher level of customer satisfaction and loyalty,
which made it possible to enhance BCA's commercial activities and customer base. Following the restructuring, AURELIUS has now sold the company to a strategic investor who can exploit further synergies and
offer BCA and its workforce a solid future.

9. Report on risks and opportunities
AURELIUS AG is a private equity firm specializing in companies in situations of transition. These include
entities like corporate subsidiaries that no longer form part of a corporation's core business and mid-sized
enterprises with unresolved succession issues or significant operational problems. AURELIUS focuses primarily on achieving sustainable, profitable growth and a constant increase in company value. Risk management represents a fundamental element of this strategy, helping to identify deviations from the defined
targets at an early stage and enable appropriate counter-measures to be taken promptly. These deviations
may be both positive (opportunities) and negative (risks).
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Opportunities and risks of the AURELIUS business model

Disposal of subsidiaries

Opportunities

The corporate group can generate earnings by selling subsidiaries to private, institutional or strategic
investors, or arranging an IPO. AURELIUS can, however, not give any guarantees regarding the timing of a
possible sale or that the disposal of a subsidiary will be possible at all or with a given return. Notably the
economic and industry-specific environment, the condition of the capital markets and also other unforeseeable factors have a decisive influence on the amount of possible proceeds upon disposal. In the event of a
negative economic and/or industry environment and/or weak financial markets, disposals may not be possible or may only be possible with high price discounts.

The specific investment focus of AURELIUS AG of acquiring companies in situations of transition with poor
profitability or a need for restructuring, contains a large amount of potential for increasing value. If the
restructuring of the acquired companies proves successful, the specific business model of AURELIUS makes
it possible to achieve above-average increases in the value of these portfolio companies.
At subsidiary level, the company's strengths and weaknesses are analyzed in their market environment as
part of the strategy for each company. The opportunities and potential for optimization this process reveals
are made available for the portfolio company to exploit.

Risks

Even if the subsidiaries perform well, there is the risk that it will not be possible to realize a suitable price
upon disposal due to a negative economic, industry and/or capital market environment. At the same time,
a strong economic performance can have a positive impact on the earnings of the subsidiary and hence on
the purchase price that can be realized in the future.

The acquisition process

Risk management

The acquisition of subsidiaries regularly includes a not inconsiderable business risk. AURELIUS has experienced internal experts from the Finance, Legal Affairs, Mergers & Acquisitions and Taxes departments perform detailed due diligence checks on potential subsidiaries. In some cases, they are supported by external
advisors. Nevertheless, it is conceivable in this context that risks will not be recognized or be wrongly
assessed.

The AURELIUS Group has a systematic, multi-level risk management system in place to avoid, mitigate and
manage significant risks arising from the business activities of the corporate group to best effect. It is used
to identify, track and subsequently evaluate existing and potential risks. The risk management system is
designed to provide a comprehensive overview of the risk position of the corporate group. Events with significant negative financial effects on the corporate group must be identified promptly so that measures can
be defined and taken to mitigate, avoid or manage such risks. The cash flow is the central planning and control metric in the AURELIUS Group in this context.

Risk notably consists in an incorrect evaluation of a given company's future prospects or ability to be restructured, or in failing to ascertain or identify the subsidiary's liabilities, obligations and other commitments at
the time of acquisition despite careful checks. If the achievable market position, earnings potential, profitability, growth options or other key success factors are wrongly assessed, this has consequences for the
return on investment. Furthermore, the profitability of the corporate group could suffer in subsequent fiscal years on account of write-downs. At the same time, companies in situations of transition in particular
offer considerable earnings potential that has often remained undetected and untapped to date.
Reorganization of subsidiaries
The goal of AURELIUS is to restructure a given company as quickly as possible in order to keep the liquidity
requirements and operating losses to a minimum after the acquisition and to increase the value of the
acquired company in the medium term and realize earnings on dividends and gains on disposal. It is
possible that the restructuring measures employed by AURELIUS and the newly deployed managers at the
subsidiary will not prove successful.
There can be any number of reasons for a subsidiary failing to generate a profit. This could result in subsidiaries having to be sold again for less than their acquisition price or, in the worst case, being forced to file
for bankruptcy as a last resort. In this instance, AURELIUS would suffer the complete loss of the capital
employed, meaning all the funds that the corporate group had employed to acquire, support and possibly
also finance the subsidiary.
Furthermore, AURELIUS AG does not normally conclude any profit-and-loss-transfer agreements or cashpooling agreements with subsidiaries. This policy serves to limit the effects should the restructuring of a
given subsidiary fail.
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The risk management system is geared above all to identifying at an early stage developments that could
endanger the continued existence of the company as a going concern. The system is required to ensure
tracking of the risks and changes therein that could endanger the continued existence of the company as a
going concern in its respective situation.
Since the goal is to identify such risks at an early stage, the risk early warning system must be capable of
tracking the risks promptly and forwarding the relevant information to the responsible decision-makers in
such a way that these people can respond in a suitable manner and the Management Board of AURELIUS
AG is informed about risks which, alone or in conjunction with other risks, could endanger the continued
existence of the company as a going concern.
In order to guarantee this, AURELIUS AG has set up a reporting system which reports to AURELIUS AG on a
quarterly basis within the framework of interim reporting. There are uniform guidelines in place for tracking, documenting and evaluating risk across the entire AURELIUS Group. The Corporate Audit department
is responsible for monitoring risk reporting. This department constantly reviews, evaluates and optimizes
the effectiveness of the internal control systems together with the management and monitoring processes. Compliance with the internal guidelines is also monitored on the premises of the respective subsidiaries
and concrete implementation steps are drawn up with the support of the subsidiary management.
The individual subsidiaries are required to list the risks present in their respective area of influence, specifying them in a uniform, Group-wide risk matrix in detail as well as regularly reviewing and updating them.
This involves appraising external risk fields as well as operating, organizational and strategic risks.
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The people responsible define a maximum loss for the risks identified in this way as part of risk measurement. The figure that arises by multiplying this amount by the estimated probability of occurrence is set
against the equity capital. This gives rise to a ranking of the individual risk listed and an assignment of the
risks to risk classes.
In addition, counter-measures and their effectiveness in the event of occurrence for all risks should be
defined and, where appropriate, the level of implementation of the counter-measure in question specified.
Where early warning indicators exist to permit the prompt identification of risk, these are also to be listed.
The results of this risk classification are reviewed and updated on a quarterly basis at the least.New risks or
the occurrence of existing risks are each reported immediately to the Corporate Audit department and the
Executive Board.

of the subsidiaries is provided by a Group-wide subsidiary controlling system. This involves using a weekly liquidity report and a monthly analysis of deviations from the annual planned budget and forecast(s)
drawn up during the year. In addition, the subsidiary managers inform the Executive Board of AURELIUS
on a regular basis about the current situation in the subsidiaries and hence also about detrimental developments at an early stage. This ensures that suitable counter-measures can be taken in good time.
Nevertheless, it is conceivable in individual instances that the corporate group is only informed about
developments and events in the portfolio companies with a delay, late or incompletely.
Measures that may be necessary can then not be taken or only taken with a delay, meaning that the success of the company or even the value of the subsidiary may under certain circumstances be endangered.
Risk management in the individual elements of the business model

The risk management system is supplemented by the Group-wide controlling function. The Executive Board
receives a detailed evaluation of the indicators regarding the current situation of all the subsidiaries based
on weekly and monthly reports submitted by all the subsidiaries.
Internal control and risk management system
In addition, the AURELIUS Group has set up an internal control system which defines rules and regulations
for managing the company activities and monitoring compliance with these rules and regulations.
The parts of the internal control system geared to the company's business activities are designed to ensure
their effectiveness and efficiency and to protect the company's assets. In this context, the management
teams of the subsidiaries are responsible for designing, setting up, monitoring, modifying and refining their
respective internal control systems.
Within the framework of subsidiary documentation, rules like bylaws and payment guidelines have been
introduced for the subsidiaries as organizational protection measures. The introduction of further monitoring activities including comprehensive contract management is currently being prepared. Compliance rules
covering matters like compliance with the foreign trade legislation have been set up in the subsidiaries. The
internal control and risk management system with regard to the consolidated accounting process ensures
that accounting practices are uniform and in compliance with the statutory provisions, the German
generally accepted accounting principles and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) The
Corporate Accounting department has drawn up an accounting manual which defines the accounting rules
and regulations for all subsidiaries of the AURELIUS Group. The goal is to employ various control and review
mechanisms to adequately ensure that correct, rule-compliant consolidated financial statements are
drawn up. The reporting, controlling and accounting of the subsidiaries will be reviewed locally during
regular visits by corporate controllers in the future. The Corporate Audit department actively monitors the
subsidiaries on a regular basis independently of the business process.

Risk management has been established at all levels of the AURELIUS business model. AURELIUS already
begins to identify business risk at the start of the acquisition process. After attractive acquisition targets
have been selected, potential risks arising from a possible purchase are analyzed in a detailed due diligence
process. A team of internal specialists filters out individual risks from all areas of operational activity of the
acquisition target and calculates the maximum aggregate risk of the underlying transaction in accordance
with specified steps.
AURELIUS uses the calculated aggregate risk to determine a maximum purchase price as the basis for submitting an offer to the seller. This already contains an adequate risk premium. In order to further limit the
maximum extent of specific risks, AURELIUS makes use of a holding structure in which the operating risk of
each individual subsidiary is ring-fenced in a legally independent intermediate company. This approach
ensures that the aggregate total of any risks that arise cannot exceed the maximum risk calculated previously. This generally corresponds to the purchase price paid plus further financing measures less reimbursements from the operating activity of the company received during the course of the holding period.
The level of Vice President was added to the management hierarchy in fiscal 2008. This intermediate hierarchy level between the Executive Board and middle management makes it possible to respond even faster
to changing market conditions. The newly introduced level maintains even closer contact with the subsidiary managers in the individual subsidiaries and identifies emerging risk potential even faster as a result.
The Vice Presidents report on the current situation of the subsidiaries and provide concrete decision
proposals in regular meetings with the Executive Board of AURELIUS.
Description of significant individual risks
Major risk fields and individual risks can be derived from the aggregate risks identified as part of the risk
management process, as described below.

Subsidiary controlling
Legal disputes
As soon as a subsidiary has been acquired, a comprehensive, reliable information and controlling system
needs to be implemented locally to supply the new management team under AURELIUS with the information required to improve the cost and earnings situation and hence to successfully restructure the subsidiary in question. Should the management team fail to set up such systems in the companies quickly,
this can endanger the success of restructuring activities. In the AURELIUS Group, transparency on the KPIs
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Former employees are currently suing EDS Sales Group SAS, formerly the direct parent company of the
French mail-order subsidiary La Source S.A. (formerly known as Quelle La Source S.A.), which had to file
for protection from creditors in fiscal 2009, as alleged co-employer before Orleans Commercial Court for
further employment or damages due to the termination of their employment contracts allegedly in
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breach of obligation. Furthermore, former employees of the French mail-order subsidiary La Source S.A.
formerly held indirectly by AURELIUS AG are currently suing AURELIUS AG, among others, for damages
before Orleans Commercial Court. This suit is based on allegations made by the former employees of
mistakes made by the management of AURELIUS AG in connection with its indirect holding in La Source
S.A. The amount involved in this case totals up to EUR 25 million, less amount granted to the employees
from the suit against EDS Sales Group SAS. In addition, two former employees of La Source S.A. in their
function as liquidation auditors of La Source S.A. are similarly suing AURELIUS AG, among others, for
damages before Orleans Commercial Court. This suit is similarly based on allegations of mistakes made
by the management of AURELIUS AG in connection with its indirect holding in La Source S.A. The amount
involved in this case amounts to around EUR 48 million. Both AURELIUS AG and its legal counsel believe
that the allegations maintained in the suits are either inaccurate or do not justify any claims to damages.
Accordingly, AURELIUS AG considers the suits to be completely unfounded and believes it unlikely that it will
be called upon to act as a result of these suits. Accordingly, no provisions had been set up for this by the
reporting date. AURELIUS AG will keep a constant eye on these proceedings and, if necessary, set up an
appropriate provision should the circumstances change.
Economic and industry risk
Economic risk
The commercial success of the subsidiaries is influenced by the general economic situation and the cyclical
development of the markets in which the subsidiary in question operates. A positive economic environment
has a positive effect on the finance, net assets and earnings position, and hence on the company value of
the subsidiaries, which in the final analysis also has a positive impact on the finance, net assets and earnings position of the AURELIUS Group. Economic downturns, on the other hand, generally also have a
negative impact on the operational development and restructuring of the individual subsidiaries.
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AURELIUS intends to invest on the capital markets any free funds as part of its usual business activities.
Changes in interest rates can lead to the corporate group's investment losing value, which would have a
negative effect on the earnings position. At the same time, the interest rates and their development can also
have an influence on the cost of finance for AURELIUS. The extent of this risk depends on the general finance
requirements that have to be covered by borrowings, the current interest rates and the fixed-interest
periods of the loans and credits taken out. Furthermore, rising interest rates also increase the cost of finance
for subsidiaries, which could have a negative effect on their restructuring, ability to pay a dividend and also
the disposal options.
Exchange rate risk
Currency and exchange rate risk can arise when, for instance, subsidiaries are acquired from foreign
companies and paid for in foreign currency, subsidiaries have international business activities or subsidiaries are held abroad. The Corporate Finance department identifies and analyzes financial risk in
conjunction with the Group's operating units. The vast majority of the revenues, earnings and expenses of AURELIUS currently accrue in the euro area. Consequently, the corporate group is relatively independent of changes in exchange rates. Where appropriate, derivative financial instruments are used to
hedge exchange rate risk arising on transactions involving subsidiaries that are denominated in foreign
currency.
Default risk

However, recessionary tendencies are also reflected in significant discounts on the selling prices that can be
realized on account of lower valuation levels.

It was evident in the past that commercial credit insurers had withdrawn in part or in full from ongoing exposures, subjected them to in-depth reviews or adjusted their terms to the detriment of the
insured party. This could give rise to greater liquidity requirements for individual subsidiaries under certain circumstances. At the same time, the risk of greater losses of receivables arises on account of the
inability to insure commercial credit. AURELIUS is attempting to counter these risks by applying a
receivables management approach adapted to the present market situation. Furthermore, most subsidiaries work with commercial credit insurers who cover most of a possible loss of receivables. If it is
not possible for the contractual partner to take out a corresponding insurance policy, there is the option
of delivery against payment in advance.

Industry risk

Market risk

AURELIUS does not focus on any specific industries when identifying suitable acquisition targets. Instead,
the ability to be restructured and the future prospects are the main criteria when selecting companies.
Despite a careful selection process, there is a risk for every subsidiary that the restructuring efforts will fail,
which could result in the bankruptcy of the subsidiary in extreme cases. AURELIUS does, however, make
every effort to minimize the risk arising from the economic development of individual companies, industries or regions within the portfolio of subsidiaries by means of diversification.

Building on its long-standing network of contacts with M&A consultants, corporate groups and other
potential sellers, AURELIUS is regularly involved in disposal processes and on occasion even benefits in
the form of low purchase prices. Greater interest in companies in transitional situations could lead to
stronger competition for the companies that are for sale and an increase in the average purchase prices
to be paid. This would reduce the return prospects on the investment in question and increase the
financial risk in the event of bankruptcy. However, the positive development that AURELIUS has demonstrated in the past from the restructuring of companies, coupled with the many years of experience
boasted by management with companies in transitional situations, give the AURELIUS Group a decisive
competitive advantage.

With regard to the acquisition activities of AURELIUS, it should be noted that more companies or divisions
are put up for sale during periods of weak economic growth. Given fewer potential buyers at the same time,
this can sometimes result in lower purchase prices.
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Personnel risk
The many years of experience gained by management represents one of the key elements in the future
success of AURELIUS. The planned growth of AURELIUS does, however, depend on the ability of the corporate group to call upon an adequately large number of people when required in the future for the
acquisition, restructuring and operational management of the subsidiaries. The restructuring of crisisridden companies in particular makes major demands on the manager(s) responsible. The success of
the business model depends on the ability to call upon qualified internal or external staff with practical experience in the industry in question and plenty of management skill. At the same time, the good
reputation, experience and coherent concept of AURELIUS make it possible to tie the best people available on the market to the company.
IT risk
The business and production processes together with the internal and external communications of the
AURELIUS Group and its subsidiaries are increasingly built around information technologies. A major
malfunction or even breakdown of these systems could lead to a loss of data and an impairment of the
business and production processes. IT documentation and ongoing monitoring are part of the internal
control and risk management system of the AURELIUS Group. This also includes compliance with security guidelines, access and data backup plans, and documentation of the licenses employed and internally generated software.

The IMF expects the emerging markets of Asia to again enjoy strong growth, of 8.4 percent, with the
Chinese economy expanding by 9.6 percent. The other BRIC states - India (plus 8.4 percent), Brazil and
Russia, which are both expected to grow by 4.5 percent - can also look to the new year with confidence.
The forecasts call for inflation in emerging markets to total 6.0 percent, while the industrialized world
should continue to live in an environment of relatively stable prices (up 1.6 percent). The economic
researchers see the main risks in the massive public debt of some major industrialized nations like the
United States and Japan as well as in the sovereign-debt crisis in some European countries. The measures required to counter these problems will also play a crucial role in the volatility and development
of exchange rates as well as in the level of key interest rates, although these are set to remain low
across the industrialized world in 2011. In addition, the IMF points to risks arising from greater global
imbalances and the associated danger of overheating economies in some newly industrializing
nations. Furthermore, the IMF experts also expect commodity prices to rise again sharply.
Outlook for the private equity market in 2011
Following a survey of its members, the German Private Equity and Venture Capital Association (BVK)1
expects investment in 2011 to at least match that of 2010. The positive economic outlook will help to
boost the market for equity capital. In addition, a majority of the members expect company disposals
to increase, especially by way of sales to strategic investors and IPOs.
Outlook for the AURELIUS Group

Overall assessment of the risk situation of the AURELIUS Group
The overall risk situation of the AURELIUS Group remains limited in scope and manageable. Based on
the information that is currently available, no risks can be identified which, individually or in combination, could endanger the continued existence of the AURELIUS Group as a going concern. It is possible
that, as a result of the volatile economic environment worldwide in particular, future results could
deviate from the current expectation of the Executive Board of AURELIUS AG.

10. Outlook
All assessments provided below are subject to change as a result of the consequences of the disaster
in Japan that were unforeseeable at the reporting date.
Global economic expansion to continue in 2011
In a study published in January 2011, the IMF stated that it expected the economic recovery to continue
in 2011, albeit at a slower pace than in 2010. It estimates that global economic output will increase by
4.4 percent. Again in 2011, emerging markets will be the main force behind this trend, enjoying growth
of 6.5 percent. The experts are much more reticent with regard to the industrialized world, forecasting
growth of 2.5 percent. Major industrialized nations will find their expansion hampered by high levels of
public debt. According to the IMF experts, the US is likely to expand by 3.0 percent and Japan by 1.6 percent. The forecasts for Europe assume growth of 1.5 percent. As in 2010, a division into two groups will
become apparent between the much better developments in major exporting countries like Germany
(plus 2.2 percent) and the stagnating, highly indebted nations mainly in southern Europe (plus 0.6 percent forecast for Spain, plus 1.0 percent forecast for Italy).
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Our portfolio companies also benefited greatly from the economic recovery in fiscal 2010. The positive
development of these companies forecast at the beginning of 2010, with rising new orders and revenues, is reflected in the published figures. On an annualized basis, consolidated revenues have
breached the billion mark. The operating result shows how the measures that have been initiated in
the individual companies are taking effect and that AURELIUS is moving in a good direction in restructuring these companies. Subject to economic developments, the AURELIUS Executive Board expects
revenues to continue rising in the current fiscal year and the operating results of the investment portfolio to again improve. Our equity ratio and good pool of cash form a solid foundation for the further
growth of the corporate group.
Consequently, we are confident of being able to remain on course for profitable growth in 2012.
Assuming that the economy continues to perform well, we are planning to increase the operating
results of our portfolio companies again in 2012. It does not make sense to provide a specific company
forecast above all on account of the unforeseeable effects of company acquisitions and disposals in
2011 and 2012.
In terms of acquiring new companies, we greatly expanded our investment focus last year and intend to
leverage our hugely strengthened financial base in the future to also make investments in "healthier"
companies showing potential for operational optimization.
1 German Private Equity and Venture Capital Association, Annual Statistics 2010, published on March 2, 2011 at www.bvkap.de.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Konzern-Gesamtergebnisrechnung - Fortsetzung

of AURELIUS AG for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2010

Continue

01/01 -12/31/ 01/01 -12/31/
2010
2009*

in kEUR
Continuing operations
1. Revenues

Share of profit/loss attributable to:
3.1

2. Change in inventories of finished and semi-finished goods

906,063

711,416

- Shareholders of the parent company

9,427

-9,905

- Non-controlling interests

3. Other operating income

3.2

250,706

144,120

4. Income/expenses from associated companies

3.3

-1,119

-204

5. Purchased goods and services

3.4

-533,799

-389,687

6. Personnel expenses

3.5

-202,703

-167,719

7. Other operating expenses

3.6

-190,256

-160,981

8. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization (EBITDA)

238,319

127,040

9. Amortization and depreciation of intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment

-56,679

-34,166

10. Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

181,640

92,874

-/-

-12

12. Other interest and similar income

3.7

8,925

1,685

13. Interest and similar expenses

3.7

-13,058

-8,087

177,507

86,460

-160

144

177,347

86,604

14. Earnings before taxes (EBT)
15. Taxes on income

3.8

16. Profit/loss after taxes from continuing operations

3.10
129,618

74,815

9,209

5,824

132,790

74,436

9,346

5,824

17.51

8.53

From discontinued operations

-4.01

-0.63

Total from continuing and discontinued operations

13.50

7.90

From continuing operations

17.48

8.43

From discontinued operations

-4.00

-0.62

Total from continuing and discontinued operations

13.48

7.81

Share of comprehensive income/loss attributable to:

3.10

- Shareholders of the parent company
- Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share

11. Impairments of investments

01/01 -12/31/ 01/01 -12/31/
2010
2009*

in kEUR

3.11

- Basic, in euros
From continuing operations

- Diluted, in euros

* The prior-year income statement figures were adjusted for comparison purposes, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5

Discontinued operations
17. Income/expenses from discontinued operations

3.9

-38,520

-5,965

138,827

80,639

19. Foreign exchange differences

2,183

-379

20.Profit from cash flow hedges

1,126

-/-

142,136

80,260

Profit/loss for the period
18. Consolidated profit/loss

Other income/expenses

Comprehensive income/loss for the period
21. Comprehensive income/loss
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

of AURELIUS AG at December 31, 2010

of AURELIUS AG at December 31, 2010

Assets

Equity and liabilities

in kEUR

Note

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

Non-current assets

in kEUR

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

Subscribed capital

9,600

9,600

Additional paid-in capital

15,813

15,778

Other reserves

3,065

-107

Equity

Note
4.11

Intangible assets

4.1

108,464

61,238

Property, plant and equipment

4.2

304,507

119,643

Investments

4.3

17,012

18,776

Financial assets

4.3

2,733

7,174

Retained earnings

285,315

168,202

4.17

13,999

8,711

Share of equity attributable to shareholders of AURELIUS AG

313,793

193,473

446,715

215,542

Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets

Non-controlling interests
Total equity

40,291

35,812

354,084

229,285

Current assets
Inventories

4.4

151,114

87,567

Trade receivables

4.5

193,308

127,989

Current income tax assets

4.6

6,959

2,942

Derivatives

4.7

4,172

-/-

Other assets

4.8

64,007

Cash and cash equivalents

4.9

177,194

Assets held for sale

Total current assets

Total assets

4.10

Pension obligations

4.12

34,260

29,187

Provisions

4.13

11,813

21,944

Financial liabilities

4.14

147,982

47,225

54,395

Liabilities under finance leases

4.16

103

541

155,595

Other liabilities

4.15

46,366

29,667

Deferred tax liabilities

4.17

79,467

37,408

319,991

165,972

16,613

34,940

613,367

463,428

1,060,082

Non-current liabilities

678,970

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Pension obligations

4.12

873

3,790

Provisions

4.13

34,236

29,331

Financial liabilities

4.18

39,950

24,186

Liabilities under finance leases

4.16

992

725

Trade payables

4.19

171,354

100,016

Liabilities under long-term construction contracts

4.20

8,512

7,237

3,064

415

Current income tax liabilities
Derivatives

136

-/-

Liquor tax liabilities

4.21

22,294

26,320

Other liabilities

4.22

97,254

70,383

Liabilities held for sale

4.10

7,342

21,310

386,007

283,713

1,060,082

678,970

Total current liabilities

Total equity and liabilities
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-/-

74,815

-/-

-/-

74,815

5,824

80,639

15,778

168,202

-/-

-107

193,473

35,812

229,285

-/-

-/-

129,618

-/-

-/-

129,618

9,209

138,827

Cash flow-Hedges,
net after taxes

-/-

-/-

-/-

1,126

-/-

1,126

-/-

1,126

Foreign exchange differences

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

2,046

2,046

137

2,183

Comprehensive income/loss

-/-

-/-

129,618

1,126

2,046

132,790

9,346

142,136

Capital increase

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Issuance of stock options

-/-

35

-/-

-/-

-/-

35

-/-

35

Dividend

-/-

-/-

-10,752

-/-

-/-

-10,752

-3,617

-14,369

Changes in equity holdings in
subsidiaries that did not lead
to a loss of control

-/-

-/-

-1,753

-/-

-/-

-1,753

-1,250

-3,003

Consolidated profit/loss
for the period
Other profits and losses

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Foreign exchange differences

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-379

-379

-/-

-379

-/-

-/-

74,815

-/-

-379

74,436

5,824

80,260

Equity transactions
with shareholders
Capital increase

278

1,667

-/-

-/-

-/-

1,945

-/-

1,945

Issuance of stock options

-/-

40

-/-

-/-

-/-

40

-/-

40

Changes in equity holdings in
subsidiaries that did not lead
to a loss of control

Consolidated
equity

-/-

Cash flow hedges, net after taxes

Dividend

9,600

January 1, 2010
Comprehensive income/loss

Other profits and losses

Comprehensive income/loss

Non-controlling
interests

Consolidated profit/loss
for the period

Share of equity
attributable to
shareholders of
AURELIUS

141,459

Currency
changes

37,362

in kEUR

-/-

-/-

-4,661

-/-

-/-

-4,661

-/-

-4,661

Equity transactions
with shareholders

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-483

-483

Treasury shares

8

189

-/-

-/-

-/-

197

-/-

197

Other changes

-/-

-/-

17,419

-/-

-/-

17,419

-6,891

10,528

Treasury shares

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

229,285

Other changes

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

9,600

15,813

285,315

1,126

1,939

313,793

40,291

354,084

December 31, 2009

9,600

15,778

168,202

-/-

-107

193,473

35,812

December 31, 2010
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CashflowHedges

104,097

Retained earnings,
including distributable profit

272

Additional
paid-in capital

-/-

Comprehensive income/loss

Subscribed
capital

80,629

Consolidated
equity

13,882

Non-controlling
interests

9,314

Share of equity
attributable to
shareholders of
AURELIUS

January 1, 2009

Currency
changes

in kEUR

CashflowHedges

of AURELIUS AG for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2010

Retained earnings,
including distributable profit

of AURELIUS AG for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2009

Additional
paid-in capital

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Bericht aus den
Beteiligungen

Subscribed
capital

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Bericht aus den
Beteiligungen
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

of AURELIUS AG for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2010

Continue

in kEUR

in kEUR
Purchase price for shares in companies
Cash acquired with the purchase of sales in companies
Proceeds in disposal of subsidiaries
Cash transferred on the sale of shares in companies
Payments received on the sale of non-current assets
Payments made for investments in non-current assets
Cash flow from investing activities

Earnings before taxes (EBT)
Profit/loss from discontinued operations
Reversal of negative goodwill arising on initial consolidation
Income from acquisition of loans below nominal value
Amortization and depreciation of intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and investment
Increase (+)/ decrease (-) in pension provisions and other provisions
Gain (-)/loss (+) on the sale of property, plant and equipment
Gain (-)/loss (+) on the sale of investments
Gain (-)/loss (+) on currency translation
Issuance of stock options
Gain (-)/loss (+) from evaluation at equity
Net interest income/expenses
Interest received
Interest paid
Dividends received
Income taxes paid
Gross cash flow
Change in working capital
Increase(-)/ decrease (+) in inventories
Increase(-)/ decrease (+) in trade receivables and other receivables
Increase(+)/ decrease (-) in trade payables and other liabilities
Increase(+)/ decrease (-) in other balance sheet items
Cash flow from operating activities (net cash flow)

01/01/ - 12/31/10

1/01/ - 12/31/09

177,507
-38,520
-98,373
-59,478

86,460
-5,965
-93,297
-/-

56,679
-39,212
-1,269
-7,397
-1,643
35
1,119
4,133
1,773
-7,693
553
-12,132
-23,918

34,166
-32,313
-2,875
-7,459
681
40
204
6,402
1,824
-6,223
-/-10,743
-29,098

5,017
114,005
50,605
-10,831
134,878

71,691
17,643
-75,680
26,736
11,292

*The cash flow statement of prior year were adjusted for comparison purposes, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5.
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Free cash flow
Payments received from the borrowing of (+)/payments made on (-)
current financial liabilities
Payments received from the borrowing of (+)/payments made on (-)
non-current financial liabilities
Capital increase of AURELIUS AG
Payments received from the borrowing of liabilities under finance leases
Sale (+) / purchase (-) of treasury shares
Payments made to non-controlling interests
Dividend of AURELIUS AG
Cash flow from financing activities
Other changes caused by currency and consolidation group effects
Net funds at beginning of period
Change in net funds
Net funds from continuing operations at end of period

01/01/ - 12/31/10
-88,832
45,708
8,236
-4,606
20,330
-51,430
-70,594

1/01/ - 12/31/09
-16,447
145,077
846
-2,596
15,361
-45,465
96,776

64,284

108,068

20,879

-36,940

-49,957
-/-171
-/-4,867
-10,752
-44,868

16,552
1,945
-1,267
197
-483
-4,661
-24,657

2,183
155,595
19,416
177,194

-378
72,562
83,411
155,595

*The cash flow statement of prior year were adjusted for comparison purposes, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5.
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KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS
a.A.
AB
Afs
AG
AktG
BCA
BV
CGU
CHF
CNY
CZK
d.o.o.
DBO
DCGK
Dr.
EBIT
EBITDA
EBT
EDP
ERP
EU
EUR
EUR mn
FA-FV
FL-FV
ff.
FLAC
GewStG
GmbH
GBP
HGB
HRB
HUF
IAS
IASB
IFRIC
IFRS
INR
IP
kEUR
KG
KStG
LaR
Ltd.
MYR
No.
PLN
RCP
Rep.
Spol. s.r.o.
s.r.o.
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Am Ammersee
Aktiebolag (Swedish version of the legal form of a stock corporation)
Available-for-sale financial assets
Aktiengesellschaft, stock corporation under German law
Aktiengesetz, German Stock Corporations Act
Book Club Associates
Besloten Vennootschap met Beperkte Aansprakelijkheid
(Dutch version of the legal form of a limited liability company)
Cash-Generating Unit
Swiss francs (currency)
Chinese renminbi (currency)
Czech koruna (currency)
Druzba z omejeno odgovornostjo (Slovenian version of the legal form
of a limited liability company)
Defined Benefit Obligation
Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex (German Corporate Governance Code)
Doctor
Earnings Before Interest and Taxes
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Amortization and Depreciation
Earnings Before Taxes
Electronic Data Processing
Enterprise Resource Planning
European Union
Euro (currency)
Million Euro (currency)
Financial instruments (assets) measured at fair value
Financial instruments (liabilities) measured at fair value
and following pages
Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortized Cost
Gewerbesteuergesetz (German Trade Tax Act)
Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung
(limited liability company under German Law)
British pounds (currency)
Handelsgesetzbuch (German Commercial Code)
German Commercial Register, Department B
Hungarian forint (currency)
International Accounting Standards
International Accounting Standards Board
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
International Financial Reporting Standards
Indian rupee (currency)
Industrial Products (segment)
Thousand Euro
Kommanditgesellschaft (limited partnership under German law)
Körperschaftsteuergesetz (German Corporate Income Tax Act)
Loans and receivables
Limited (British version of the legal form of a limited liability company)
Malaysian ringgit (currency)
number
Polish zloty (currency)
Retail and Consumer Products (segment)
Republic
Spolocnost s Rucenim Obmedzenym (Slovakian version of the legal form of a
limited liability company)
Spolecnost s Rucenim Omezenym (Czech version of the legal form
of a limited liability company)

S&S
SA
SARL
SAS
Sdn. Bhd.
SEK
SEStEG
SIC
SOP
Spolka z.o.o.
SRL
TND
USD
WpHG

Services & Solutions (segment)
Société Anonyme (French version of the legal form of a stock corporation)
Société à Responsabilité Limitée
(French version of the legal form of a limited liability company)
Société par Actions Simplifiée (French version of the legal form of a
simplified stock corporation)
Sendirian Berhad (Indian version of the legal form of a limited liability
company)
Swedish krona (currency)
German Act on Tax Measures Accompanying the Introduction
of the European Corporation and on the Amendment of Other Tax Laws
Standard Interpretations Committee
Stock Options Plan
Spółka z Ograniczoną Odpowiedzialnością (Polish version of the legal form
of a limited liability company)
Societá a responsibilita limitata (italian version of the legal form of a limited
liability company)
Tunesian Dinar (currency)
US dollar (currency)
Securities Trade Act
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.1

Basic principles applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements

1.2

Application of International Financial Reporting Standards

1.3

Presentation methods

1.4

Basic principles applied for consolidation

1.5

Business combinations

1.6

Shares in associated companies

1.7

Consolidation group

1.8

Foreign currencies

1.9

Application of new Standards and Interpretations that have effects
on the consolidated financial statements for 2010

1.10

Application of new Standards and Interpretations that have no
effects on the consolidated financial statements for 2010

1.11

Early application of Financial Accounting Standards

1.12

Standards, Interpretations and amendments that have been published,
but not yet applied

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

C A L A C H E M / G R A N G E M O U T H / S COT L A N D
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1. INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

1.3 Presentation methods

AURELIUS AG, Grünwald (“AURELIUS AG” or the “company”) is a German stock corporation that was
formed in Munich on March 20, 2006. The company’s registered head office is located on LudwigGanghofer-Strasse 6 in 82031 Grünwald. The company is registered with the Munich Registry Court
(HRB 161 677).

The presentation of the consolidated financial statements is conformant with the provisions of IAS 1.
The cost summary method is applied for the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. In
accordance with IFRS, income from the reversal of negative goodwill arising on consolidation is presented
within the item of other operating income and is therefore contained in the earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization. Furthermore, the income/expenses from companies accounted
for at equity are also included within EBITDA.

The business activity of AURELIUS AG comprises the acquisition and restructuring of companies in
transitional or exceptional situations, as in the case of unresolved succession arrangements or modernization measures. AURELIUS acquires the companies with the goal of increasing their profitability by
means of operational improvements.
AURELIUS’ portfolio companies operate primarily in the sectors of mechanical engineering, retail,
chemicals and services.

1.1 Basis principles applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements
As of the enactment of the Directive of the European Parliament and Council of Ministers of the
European Union on the Application of International Financial Reporting Standards of June 6, 2002, all
capital market-oriented companies are obligated to prepare their consolidated financial statements for
financial years that begin after December 31, 2004 in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). Since June 26, 2006, the shares of AURELIUS AG have been traded in the Open Market
section of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, which is not an “organized market” within the meaning of
Section 2 (5) WpHG. Thus, AURELIUS AG is not a capital market-oriented company within the meaning
of this law. Therefore, the present consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS AG pursuant to
Section 315a (3) HGB have been voluntarily prepared in accordance with IFRS, as they are to be applied
in the European Union.

In accordance with IAS 1.60 ff., items presented in the consolidated statement of financial position are
presented separately on the basis of maturity. Accordingly, current assets are assets which are recoverable within one year, or are intended for sale or use in the normal course of business, or are held for trading or consist of cash or cash equivalents. Conversely, all assets that will remain within the Group for
longer than one year are classified as non-current assets. In accordance with IAS 1.68, inventories and
trade receivables are always presented as current assets. Deferred tax assets, by contrast, are always
presented as non-current assets. In accordance with IAS 1.69, liabilities are classified as current when
they are due and payable within twelve months or in the normal course of business, or when they are
held for trading. By way of exception to this rule, trade payables are always judged, like trade receivables,
on the basis of their settlement in the normal course of business, not by the twelve-month rule, and so
they are always presented as current liabilities. Deferred tax liabilities are always classified as noncurrent liabilities. Non-controlling interests are presented as a separate component of equity (non-controlling interests).
In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5, continuing operations are presented separately from discontinued operations and from assets and liabilities held for sale (disposal groups). Individual items of
the consolidated financial statements are presented separately on this basis.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the assumption of a going concern.

1.2 Application of International Financial Reporting Standards
The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS AG (“AURELIUS” or the “Group”) for financial year
2010 and the notes applicable to the prior year were prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and International Accounting Standards (IAS), as published by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in London on or before December 31, 2010, in the manner in which they have been interpreted by the Standard Interpretations Committee (SIC) and the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), provided that they have been
adopted by the European Union (EU) and are applicable to the company. A Group management report
and the obligatory disclosures pursuant to Section 315a Abs. 1 HGB were prepared in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS comprise the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the statement of financial position, the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow
statement and the notes to the consolidated financial statements. For the sake of improving the
clarity and usefulness of the financial statements, individual items of the statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive income have been combined and explained separately in the
notes. The consolidated financial statements are denominated in euros, as the functional currency of
the parent company AURELIUS. Unless otherwise noted, all figures are stated in euro thousands (kEUR).
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1.4 Basic principles applied in consolidation
As a general rule, all domestic and foreign companies in which AURELIUS AG directly or indirectly holds
a majority of voting rights (normally more than 50% of voting rights), and those companies whose
financial and operating policies can be governed or controlled by AURELIUS AG by other means, are
included in the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2010, in addition to AURELIUS AG. As
a general rule, subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements by way of full consolidation from the time when the Group obtained control over or the ability to control the subsidiary.
They are deconsolidated as of the date when the Group no longer has control or the ability to control.
They are accounted for by application of the acquisition method. In connection with consolidation by
application of the restatement method according to IAS 27 in conjunction with IFRS 3, the carrying
amount of the investment is netted with the remeasured proportional share of equity in the subsidiary at the acquisition date.
All revenues, other operating income and expenses, receivables, liabilities and provisions between fully
consolidated companies, as well as intermediate profits on internal transactions within the Group that
are not generated on sales to third parties, are eliminated in full. The results of companies that are fully
consolidated or deconsolidated for the first time in the past financial year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as of the date when the power to control the respective
companies is obtained or lost.
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The shares of consolidated equity and the share of the period profit or loss and comprehensive income
that accrue to non-controlling interests are presented separately from the shares attributable to shareholders of AURELIUS AG.
The separate financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared by application of uniform recognition and measurement methods, as are the separate financial statements of the parent company.
Transactions with non-controlling interests are treated in the same way as transactions with owners of
the company. Any difference between the paid amount and the corresponding share of the carrying
amount of the net assets of the subsidiary resulting from the purchase of a non-controlling interest is
recognized in equity. Profits and losses arising on the sale of non-controlling interests are likewise
recognized in equity.
When AURELIUS loses the ability to either control or exert significant influence over a company, the
remaining equity share is remeasured at fair value and the resulting difference is recognized as a
profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income. The fair value is the fair value determined
upon initial recognition of an associated company, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, all
amounts presented within the item of other comprehensive income in relation to the respective company are accounted for in the manner that would be required if the parent company had directly sold
the corresponding assets and liabilities. As a result, any profit or loss that had formerly been recognized
in other comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss for the period.

1.5 Business combinations
The capital consolidation of subsidiaries is effected by application of the acquisition method according
to IFRS 3 Business Combinations, in conjunction with IAS 27, by netting the acquisition cost with the fair
value of the acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the acquisition date. The acquisition
cost of a purchase is equal to the fair value of the assets transferred, the equity instruments issued and
the liabilities incurred or assumed at the acquisition date. Assets and liabilities under contingent consideration agreements are likewise included.
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profit or loss attributable to AURELIUS, less dividends paid to AURELIUS and any impairment losses.
Differences between the acquisition cost of an investment and the proportional share of the net assets
of the associated company measured at fair value at the acquisition date are recognized in the same
manner as under the acquisition method. There is no listed market price in an active market for the
companies accounted for at equity in the consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS. The recognition
and measurement methods of associated companies are adjusted or changed, when necessary, to
reflect the uniform, Group-wide recognition and measurement methods of AURELIUS, so as to ensure
uniform Group-wide accounting.
Unrealized profits on transactions between Group companies and associated companies are eliminated in the amount of the proportional share of equity held in the associated company. Unrealized losses
are likewise eliminated, unless the transaction is indicative of an impairment of the transferred asset.

1.7 Consolidation group
All material companies whose financial and operating policies can be governed or controlled by
AURELIUS in such a way as to derive benefits from their activities (subsidiaries) are included in the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2010, in addition to AURELIUS AG as the parent company.
By way of exception, some of the general partner companies and the so-called label companies of the
Berentzen Group, which do not engage in business operations of their own, as well as a few other companies, all of which, individually and together, are immaterial for the financial position, cash flows and
financial performance of AURELIUS, are not included in the consolidated financial statements. Because
there is no active market for these companies and it is not possible to determine fair values reliably at
a reasonable cost, they are presented in the consolidated financial statements at the respective
acquisition costs, plus any impairment losses.

Any excess of net assets measured at fair value over the acquisition cost (positive goodwill) is recognized as goodwill. If the acquisition costs are less than the proportional share of the acquired
company’s net assets measured at fair value (negative goodwill), the matter is first reviewed again and
any remaining difference is recognized directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income (bargain purchase). Non-controlling interests are presented as the proportion of the fair values
of the recognized assets and liabilities accruing to the non-controlling interests.

1.6 Shares in associated companies
Companies over which AURELIUS can exert significant control (associated companies), but which it cannot control, and companies over which AURELIUS shares control, directly or indirectly, with another
company (joint ventures), are accounted for by application of the equity method, in accordance with IAS
28 (Investments in Associates). In such cases, AURELIUS generally holds between 20 and 50 percent of
the voting rights. Upon initial recognition, such companies are measured at acquisition cost; in subsequent periods, the carrying amount is increased or decreased by the share of the associated company’s
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The composition of the AURELIUS Group at December 31, 2010 is presented in the table below:

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

Germany

76

71

Foreign countries

38

34

10

10

5

6

Number of fully consolidated companies
(subsidiaries), in

Number of companies (subsidiaries) that were not
consolidated for materiality reasons, in
Germany
Foreign countries
Number of companies consolidated
for at-equity, in
Germany
Foreign countries

-/-

1

1

2

1

1

-/-

-/-

Number of companies (associated companies) that were
not accounted for at equity for materiality reasons, in
Germany
Foreign countries

Blaupunkt Audio Vision GmbH & Co. KG
Blaupunkt Car Audio Systems GmbH & Co. KG
Blaupunkt International GmbH & Co. KG
Blaupunkt Navigation Systems GmbH & Co. KG
Blaupunkt Sound Systems GmbH & Co. KG
Funktechnik Verwertungsgesellschaft GmbH & Co. KG
HI-Logistics Services GmbH & Co. KG
Schleicher Electronic GmbH & Co. KG
SE Berlin Grundstücksverwaltung GmbH & Co. KG
Vivaris Getränke GmbH & Co. KG

1.8 Foreign currencies
The items presented in the present consolidated financial statements are measured on the basis of the
currency of the primary economic environment, also known as the “functional currency.” It is the currency in which the respective company operates. It is identical to the national currency in all cases.
The items presented in the income statements and statements of financial position of all Group companies that have a different functional currency than the Group’s reporting currency (euro) are translated to the reporting currency as follows:
■

■

Compared to the prior year, 39 companies were included in the consolidation group for the first time
and 32 companies were deconsolidated or sold.
The reporting date of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements is the same as
the reporting date of the parent company.
The List of Shareholdings of AURELIUS pursuant to Section 313 (2) (1) to (4) HGB is presented in Note 5.17
of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements.
The following fully consolidated affiliated German companies in the legal form of partnerships have
fulfilled the conditions of Section 264b HGB by virtue of being included in the consolidated financial
statements and having exercised the simplification options allowed with respect to the preparation,
auditing and publication of separate financial statements:

■

Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate on the respective reporting date, while
equity is translated at historical exchange rates;
The income and expenses presented in the statement of comprehensive income are translated at
the average exchange rate;
Currency translation differences are recognized in equity, in a separate sub-item within the other
reserves.

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the exchange rate in effect on the transaction date. The
profits and losses arising on such transactions and on currency translation at the reporting date of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income, unless they are to be recognized in other comprehensive income as qualifying
cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.
Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from the translation of cash and cash equivalents and
financial liabilities are presented in the statement of comprehensive income within the item of net
financial income/expenses. All other foreign currency gains and losses are presented in the statement
of comprehensive income within the item of other operating income or other operating expenses.
The exchange rates applied for currency translation are presented in the table below (equivalent to 1
euro). Where no prior-year exchange rates are presented, the corresponding currencies were relevant to
the Group for the first time in the past financial year.
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Currency translation
2010
1 Euro

Currency code

2009

Exchange rate on Average exchange Exchange rate on Average exchange
the reporting date rate for the year
the reporting date rate for the year

Great Britain

GBP

0.8565

0.8576

0.8999

0.8912

India

INR

60.0601

60.5694

67.2141

71.4286

Malaysia

MYR

4.0710

4.2483

4.9065

4.8928

Poland

PLN

3.9635

3.9836

4.1304

4.3147

Sweden

SEK

8.9928

9.5329

10.3111

10.6150

Switzerland

CHF

1.2464

1.3799

1.4875

1.5097

Czech Republic

CZK

25.2334

25.2525

26.3854

26.4006

Tunisia

TND

1.8984

1.8793

1.8782

1.8477

Hungary

HUF

279.0957

274.7253

-/-

-/-

USA

USD

1.3252

1.3247

1.4332

1.3942

People's Republic
of China

CNY

8.7336

8.9558

-/-

-/-

None of the currencies used within the Group are the currencies of hyperinflationary economies within the meaning of IAS 29.

1.9 Application of new Standards and Interpretations that have effects on the
consolidated financial statements for 2010
The following Standards and Interpretations were to be applied for the first time in the past financial
year and were therefore applied by AURELIUS.
The presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the notes was affected by application of
the following Standards:
IFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business Combinations: The revised Standard entails various changes to the
accounting treatment of business combinations. The principal changes relate to the determination of
the purchase price, the measurement of non-controlling interests (formerly referred to as minority interests) and the accounting treatment of step acquisitions. All purchase price payments are measured at
fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent purchase price components are measured at fair value at
the acquisition date for the purpose of estimating the purchase price and any changes that occur are recognized in income in subsequent periods. Acquisition-related transaction costs of a business combination may no longer be capitalized as incidental expenses, but must be recognized directly in income. In
the case of non-controlling interests, the new Standard allows an option to disclose the goodwill
attributable to them, meaning that an enterprise has the option, for every acquisition, to measure noncontrolling interests at fair value or at the proportional share of remeasured equity. Furthermore, the
Standard prescribes, for the first time, the accounting treatment of business combinations that come
about as a result of step acquisitions. Depending on the type and scope of transactions, these changes
will affect the presentation of the financial position, cash flows and financial performance of AURELIUS.
The changes are to be applied in financial years that begin on or after July 1, 2009. The changes were
recognized by the EU Commission in June 2009, upon completion of the endorsement process.
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AURELIUS applied this Standard relative to the acquisition of a majority interest in RH Retail on March 1,
2010, which qualified as a step acquisition. In addition, the acquisition-related costs of new acquisitions
amounted to EUR 1,041 thousand in financial year 2010. Under the provisions of IFRS 3 prior to the
revision in 2008, such costs were not recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, but were
included in the purchase price, thereby increasing goodwill or decreasing the bargain purchase effect.
The effect on earnings per share according to IAS 33 is to be considered immaterial.
IAS 27 (as revised in 2008) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements: The amendments to this
Standard refer particularly to the accounting treatment of transactions and/or events that lead to a
change in the shareholding of a parent company in a subsidiary, but do not lead to a loss of control and
therefore do not affect the accounting treatment to be applied. Due to the absence of specific
regulations under IFRS prior to the revision, increases in the shareholding in existing subsidiaries were
treated in the same way as the acquisition of subsidiaries. Furthermore, decreases in the shareholding
that did not lead to a loss of control were recognized in income, prior to the revision of this Standard.
According to IAS 27 (2008), such increases or decreases in the shareholding must now be recognized in
equity, as a binding rule, if they do not lead to a change in control. Consequently, any effects on goodwill
or on the statement of comprehensive income are excluded. The Standard provides detailed instructions
on the accounting treatment to be applied in the event of a loss of control. In that case, the remaining
shareholding is to be measured at fair value and any profit or loss arising on the transaction must be
recognized as such. These provisions are to be applied in financial years that begin on or after July 1, 2009.
They were recognized by the EU Commission in 2009, upon completion of the endorsement process.
AURELIUS applied this Standard relative to the buy-back of the shares of non-controlling interests of
corporate groups that were already fully consolidated. The control situation was not affected by the
purchase of those shares. That transaction gave rise to an equity-reducing effect of EUR 1,110 thousand
in financial year 2010. The change in the earnings per share according to IAS 33 is immaterial.
IAS 28 (as revised in 2008) Investments in Associates: The fundamental amendments made to IAS 27
(2008) require that a loss of control be recognized as a disposal and that any shares retained be
measured at fair value; these amendments also entailed changes to IAS 28 (2008). If the enterprise would
lose the power to exert significant influence, the shares retained in a company that was previously an
associate must be measured at fair value and any profit or loss arising on the transaction must be
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Under the formerly applicable Standard, it was
necessary to treat the carrying amount of any remaining investment as “financial instruments held for
sale,” measured at cost according to IAS 39, for purposes of subsequent consolidation, while the change
in fair value was to be recognized in other comprehensive income. Based on previous transactions, however, this change is considered to be immaterial. These provisions are to be applied in financial years that
begin on or after July 1, 2009. They were recognized by the EU in 2009.
Amendments to IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: As a result of
these amendments, the disclosure requirements prescribed in other Standards besides IFRS 5 are not
applicable to “non-current assets held for sale” and to “discontinued operations.” Consequently,
disclosure obligations beyond the scope required by IFRS 5 will apply only if a Standard prescribes
additional disclosure obligations for “non-current assets held for sale” and for “discontinued operations”
or for assets and liabilities of a disposal group, concerning which other Standards prescribe certain
disclosures relative to the measurement of such assets and liabilities, including, for example, financial
assets that fall within the scope of IAS 39, and other Standards that prescribe certain disclosures relative
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to the measurement of such assets and liabilities. The Standard is to be applied prospectively in financial
years that begin on or after July 1, 2009.
Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: In connection with the revision of this Standard, it was
decided that only those cash payments that lead to the recognition of an asset can be presented as cash
flows from investing activities in the cash flow statement. Companies are required to apply the changes
in financial years that begin on or after January 1, 2010.

1.10 Application of new Standards and Interpretations that have no effects on
the consolidated financial statements for 2010
The following Standards and Interpretations were also applicable for the first time in financial year 2010,
but had no effects on the present consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS; however, they could
have an effect on future transactions or agreements.
IFRS 1 (as revised in 2008) First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards: In July
2009, the IASB revised this Standard for the purpose of ensuring that companies would not incur
unnecessary costs and additional burdens in connection with the first-time adoption of IFRS. These
changes must be applied in financial years that begin on or after July 1, 2009. They were recognized by
the EU Commission on November 25, 2009.
Amendments to IFRS 1 Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters: Under these amendments, firsttime adopters are granted the same transitional options that were granted in connection with the
amendments to IFRS 7 to preparers of financial statements that had already adopted IFRS. The
amendments take effect as of July 1, 2010. The amendments were recognized by the EU on June 23, 2010,
upon completion of the endorsement process.
Amendments to IFRS 2 Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions: The amendments govern
the accounting treatment of share-based payment transactions settled in cash. Under such agreements,
the subsidiary receives goods or services from employees or suppliers, but the parent company or another
Group company pays the corresponding employees or suppliers. In such cases, the subsidiary is required
to account for the goods or services in question. As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 2, the
guidelines that had formerly been presented in IFRIC 8 and IFRIC 11 were incorporated into the Standard.
Therefore, the IASB withdrew IFRIC 8 and IFRIC 11. The amendments are to be applied in financial years
that begin on or after January 1, 2010. They were recognized by the EU Commission on March 23, 2010,
upon completion of the endorsement process.
Amendments to IFRS 8 Operating Segments: These amendments clarify that figures on (segment) assets
and liabilities need only be presented in the segment report when such figures are also contained in the
regular reports provided to the chief operating decision maker of the company. Thus, it is not a minimum
requirement. The amendments are to be applied in financial years that begin on or after January 1, 2010.
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: According to IAS 1, an enterprise must classify a liability as current whenever it does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
obligation beyond twelve months of the reporting date. In this connection, questions had arisen regarding
the classification of a convertible instrument, because, according to the Framework, the conversion of an
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obligation into an equity instrument is a form of settlement. If the holder of a convertible instrument has
the option of converting it into an equity instrument at any time, it would then be necessary to classify
the debt component always as current, even if redemption would not occur until after twelve months of
the reporting date (assuming the conversion right is not exercised). To prevent that, a provision was
added to IAS 1.69, stipulating that any existing options of a counterparty to demand settlement of
liabilities in the form of issuing equity instruments will have no effect on the classification of such
liabilities as current or non-current. These amendments are to be applied in financial years that begin on
or after January 1, 2010.
Amendments to IAS 17 Leases: The amended version clarifies that no different criteria should be applied
for classifying leases for land than for leases for buildings. Although land typically has an indefinite useful life, and that fact is still noted in the Standard, the new formulation specifies that all criteria applied
for the purpose of classifying a lease, including the attribution of economic ownership of the leased
asset, must be given equal consideration and that the passage of ownership represents only one aspect,
albeit an important one. These amendments are to be applied in financial years that begin on or after
January 1, 2010.
Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets: The amended version clarifies that a cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units attributed to goodwill for purposes of conducting the impairment test
may not be greater than an operating segment. For that purpose, the definition of operating segment
set forth in FRS 8 must be applied. These amendments are to be applied in financial years that begin on
or after January 1, 2010. They have already been recognized by the EU Commission, upon completion of
the endorsement process.
Amendments to IAS 38 Intangible Assets: The provisions of IAS 38 were clarified to the effect that a purchased intangible asset acquired in connection with a business combination can possibly be separated
only in conjunction with a corresponding contract, identifiable asset or liability. In that case, the intangible asset must be presented separately from goodwill and recognized in connection with the
corresponding asset or liability. In addition, it was clarified that a group of complementary intangible
assets may be recognized as a single asset if they have similar useful lives. These amendments are to be
applied prospectively in financial years that begin on or after July 1, 2009. Therefore, goodwill and intangible assets from earlier business combinations may be carried forward without changes.
Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, Eligible Hedged Items: The
amendments clarify two aspects related to the accounting treatment of hedging instruments: whether
inflation can be regarded as a hedgeable risk and the use of options for hedging purposes. The amendments were recognized by the EU Commission on September 15, 2009, upon completion of the endorsement process. They are to be applied in financial years that begin on or after July 1, 2009.
Amendments to IFRIC 9 Embedded Derivatives and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement: With these amendments, the IASB clarified that an assessment of embedded derivatives
must also be conducted in connection with a reclassification of financial assets out of the category of “at
fair value through profit or loss,” in view of the fact that it was formerly not required to examine
structured products to determine the existence of separable embedded derivatives when measuring
them at fair value. The new versions must be applied at the latest in financial years that begin on or after
July 1, 2009. The EU Commission has already endorsed these amendments.
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IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate: IFRIC 15 addresses questions related to the
recognition of income under construction projects. It must be applied at the latest in financial years that
begin on or after January 1, 2010. It clarifies the question of whether a construction contract falls under
the scope of IAS 11 Construction Contracts or IAS 18 Revenue, and the question of when revenues arising
from the construction of real estate should be recognized. The EU Commission recognized this
Interpretation on July 22, 2009, upon completion of the endorsement process.
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation: The purpose of this Interpretation is to clarify the definition of a risk relative to hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, as well as the specific company within a corporate group in which the corresponding hedging instrument may be held.
This Interpretation must be applied at the latest in financial years that begin on or after July 1, 2009. The
EU Commission recognized this IFRIC in June 2009.
IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners: IFRIC 17 addresses topics such as the method to be
applied by an enterprise for measuring the value of non-cash assets distributed to owners as a dividend.
This Interpretation is to be applied at the latest in financial years that begin on or after July 1, 2009. The
EU Commission recognized this Interpretation on November 17, 2009, upon completion of the endorsement process.
IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers: IFRIC 18 provides additional guidance on the accounting
treatment of agreements under which a customer transfers assets to an enterprise, which will then use
them to supply goods or services to the customer, as in the case of the energy industry, for example. This
Interpretation is to be applied at the latest in financial years that begin on or after July 1, 2009. The EU
Commission recognized this Interpretation in November 2009, upon completion of the endorsement
process.

1.11 Early application of Financial Reporting Standards
AURELIUS did not apply ahead of time any IFRS that had already been published and adopted and recognized by the EU, the application of which was not required as of December 31, 2010.

1.12 Published, but not yet applied Standards, Interpretations and amendments
The following International Financial Reporting Standards of the IASB, which had already been published, but the application of which was not yet obligatory, mainly consist of the 2010 Annual
Improvements and were not applied ahead of time. AURELIUS will apply the revised or newly issued
Standards and Interpretations as of January 1, 2011, provided that they will have been adopted as
European law by that time. The full effects on the Group have not yet been analyzed and therefore it is
not possible at the present time to state the exact effects they will have.
IFRS 1 Accounting Policy Changes in the Year of Adoption: A clarification will be added to the effect that
first-time adopters of IFRS, which have changed their accounting methods or made use of the exceptional
provisions of IFRS 1 after publication of an interim report according to IAS 34, are required to explain the
changes made and to adjust the reconciliation statements prescribed in IFRS 1.24 (equity and
comprehensive income) accordingly. As part of the Annual Improvements 2010, this change must be
applied, as a binding rule, in financial years that begin on or after January 1, 2011.
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IFRS 3 Unreplaced and Voluntarily Replaced Share-based Payment Awards: This Standard contains
provisions applicable to the accounting treatment of share-based payment awards of an acquired
company, which the acquirer must replace in connection with a business combination or which expire in
connection with a business combination. The corresponding accounting rules must now be applied to all
share-based payments that are part of a business combination, including those that were not replaced
by the acquirer and those which the acquirer replaces with its own share-based payments, even when
they do not expire as a result of the business combination. Furthermore, the terminology used in IFRS 3
was adapted to that used in IFRS 2. As part of the Annual Improvements 2010, this change must be
applied in financial years that begin on or after July 1, 2010. Earlier application is possible, provided that
it is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Published already in 2009, this Standard represents the completion of the
first phase of a three-phase project to replace IAS 39 with a new Standard. IFRS 9 introduces new rules
applicable to the classification and measurement of financial assets. The new rules must be applied in
financial years that begin on or after January 1, 2013. The IASB intends to adopt new rules applicable to
the classification and measurement of financial liabilities, the derecognition of financial instruments,
impairments and hedge accounting. This Standard has not yet been recognized by the EU Commission
as part of the endorsement process.
IAS 1 Clarification of Statement of Changes in Equity: The changes made to this Standard by the IASB in
March 2010 state that the line item of other comprehensive income does not need to be broken down
within the Statement of Changes in Equity, provided that it is broken down in the notes to the financial
statements. This change is to be applied in financial years that begin on or after January 1, 2011. It is part
of the Annual Improvements 2010.
IAS 24 (as revised in 2009) Related Party Disclosures: This Standard was revised to allow a partial
exception to the disclosure obligations for government-related entities and to clarify the definition of a
related party. Nonetheless, the fundamental approach to be taken with regard to related parties was not
changed, so that companies are still required to provide information about transactions with related
parties. The changes were made in response to concerns that the formerly applicable disclosure requirements and the definition of a related party were too complex and hard to apply in practice, especially in
environments in which government control is prevalent. This change was recognized by the EU
Commission on July 19, 2010, upon completion of the endorsement process. The new Standard must be
applied in financial years that begin on or after January 1, 2011. Earlier application is allowed.
IAS 27 Transition Requirements for Amendments Arising as a Result of IAS 27 (as amended in 2008) to
IAS 21, IAS 28 and IAS 31: In connection with the revision of IFRS 3, IAS 27 was also amended (see also MR
1.9 of the notes). This revision also necessitated changes to the Standards IAS 21, IAS 28 and IAS 31, without concretizing the time frame for such changes, so that it would have been necessary to apply IAS 8
retroactively. For that reason, the provisions of IAS 27 applicable to financial years that begin on or after
July 1, 2009, were changed such that the consequential changes of IAS 21, IAS 28 and IAS 31 are to be
applied prospectively.
Amendments to IFRS 1 Limited Exemptions from Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters:
As a first-time adopter prior to January 1, 2010, an enterprise is not required to present comparison data
for the prior periods, as prescribed by the amendment to IFRS 7 of March 2009. These amendments were
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recognized by the EU upon completion of the endorsement process of June 30, 2010. These amendments
must be applied in financial years that begin on or after January 1, 2011. Early application is allowed.
Amendments to IFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-Time-Adopters: This
Standard was amended in two respects. The first amendment replaces the references to the fixed conversion date of January 1, 2004 with the date of transition to IFRS. The second amendment comprises a
set of application guidelines for companies that were temporarily unable to meet IFRS requirements due
to the fact that their functional currency was subject to severe hyperinflation. These amendments are to
be applied in financial years that begin on or after July 1, 2011. They have not yet been recognized by the
EU by way of the endorsement process.
Amendments to IFRS 1 Revaluation Basis as Deemed Cost: A fair value determined prior to the adoption
of IFRS in the wake of a privatization or IPO may be applied as a substitute for acquisition or production
cost (so-called “deemed cost”). As part of the Annual Improvements 2010, it was clarified that it can also
be applied when the event-driven measurement was effected on or after the date of transition to IFRS,
but not in the period covered by the first financial statements according to IFRS. Such a change must be
recognized in equity, not in income. These amendments are to be applied in financial years that begin on
or after January 1, 2011. They have not yet been recognized by the EU by way of the endorsement process.
Amendments to IFRS 1 Use of Deemed Cost for Operations Subject to Rate Regulation: As of the
transition date, first-time adopters of IFRS are allowed to measure the values of property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets used in operations subject to rate regulation that were measured at
acquisition or production cost (so-called “deemed cost”) in accordance with the formerly applied
accounting regulations. In such cases, however, an impairment test according to IAS 36 must be conducted,
as a binding rule. These amendments are to be applied in financial years that begin on or after January
1, 2011. They are part of the Annual Improvements 2010, which have not yet been recognized by the EU.
Amendments to IFRS 3 Transition Requirements for Contingent Consideration from a business combination that occurred before the effective date of the revised IFRS: As a result of this revision, contingent
consideration granted in connection with business combinations is no longer exempt from the
provisions of IFRS 7, IAS 32 and IAS 39. In order to ensure that these amendments are not applied to
contingent consideration granted in connection with business combinations, the acquisition date of
which occurred prior to the date of initial application of the revised IFRS 3, the provisions relative to the
date of application of the consequential changes arising from the revision were adjusted accordingly.
These amendments are to be applied, as a binding rule, in financial years that begin on or after July 1,
2010. Earlier application is allowed. They have not yet been recognized by the EU by way of the endorsement
process.
Amendments to IFRS 3 Measurement of Non-Controlling Interests: The option of measuring non-controlling interests in an acquired company at fair value or as the proportional share of the identifiable net
assets of the acquired company is now only allowed for instruments that convey a present claim to a
given percentage of net assets in the event of dissolution or liquidation of the acquired subsidiary. These
amendments are to be applied in financial years that begin on or after July 1, 2010. They have not yet been
recognized by the EU.
Amendments to IFRS 7 Clarifications of Disclosures: These amendments specify that the qualitative disclosures on the risks of financial instruments are meant to supplement and support the quantitative
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disclosures prescribed by IFRS 7, so as to convey a general understanding of the nature and scope of risks
to users of the financial statements. Furthermore, additional disclosures relative to default risk were
specified. These amendments are to be applied, as a binding rule, for the first time in financial years that
begin on or after January 1, 2011. These amendments have not yet been recognized by the EU by way of
the endorsement process.
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets: These amendments offer a practical
solution to the problem that arose in determining whether the carrying amount of an asset is to be
recovered through use or sale. The amended version posits a rebuttable presumption that the carrying
amounts of such assets will normally be recovered through sale. As a consequence of this change, SIC 21
no longer applies to investment property measured at fair value. The other guidelines were integrated
into IAS 12 and SIC 21 was withdrawn.
Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation, Classification of Rights Issues: The proposed
amendments are meant to clarify the accounting treatment of subscription rights when they are
denominated in a different currency than the functional currency of the reporting entity. In common
practice, it was assumed that such rights are supposed to be classified as derivative financial liabilities.
In the exposure draft, it is specified that such subscription rights should be classified as equity, provided
that they were issued at a fixed price to the current shareholders of the reporting entity in proportion to
their respective shareholdings, regardless of the currency in which the exercise price is stated. These
amendments are to be applied in financial years that begin on or after February 1, 2010. These amendments were recognized by the EU in December 2009, upon completion of the endorsement process.
Thus, they are to be applied retrospectively as of January 1, 2011.
Amendments to IAS 34 Significant Events and Transactions: These amendments bolster the main guiding principle according to which those events and transactions that occurred after the reporting date
and are significant for an understanding of the company’s financial position, cash flows and financial
performance must be disclosed in the interim report. Consequently, additional disclosure obligations
relative to financial instruments were incorporated into the Standard. These amendments, which are
part of the Annual Improvements 2010 and have not yet been recognized by the EU, are to be applied in
financial years that begin on or after January 1, 2011.
IFRIC 13 Fair Value of Award Credits: A wording change was made, to the effect that the fair value of an
award credit should be measured at the price at which it could be separately sold, as a general rule. This
Standard, which has not yet been recognized by the EU by way of the endorsement process, is to be
applied in financial years that begin on or after January 1, 2011.
IFRIC 14, IAS 19: The Limit of a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their
Interaction: These amendments are applicable under certain limited circumstances, namely when the
reporting entity is subject to minimum funding requirements and must make advance contribution
payments to satisfy those requirements. As a result of the amendments, it is now allowed to recognize
the benefit of such an advance payment as an asset. These amendments must be applied, as a binding
rule, as of January 1, 2011. They were recognized by the EU in July 2010, upon completion of the endorsement process. The amendments must be applied as of the start of the earliest comparison period
presented in the first financial statements to which this Interpretation applies. The adjustments resulting from the application of these amendments must be recognized in equity, with no effect on income,
in the opening statement of financial position for this comparison period.
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IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments: IFRIC 19 governs the accounting
treatment to be applied when equity instruments are issued to lenders as full or partial settlement of
financial liabilities. Such equity instruments are to be measured at fair value, unless the fair value cannot
be determined reliably. The Interpretation is to be applied in financial years that begin on or after July 1,
2010. It was recognized by the EU Commission in July 2010, upon completion of the endorsement process.
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2. RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT METHODS
The separate financial statements of the affiliated companies included in consolidation were consolidated on the uniform basis of the recognition and measurement methods applied at AURELIUS.
The recognition and measurement methods, as well as the notes to the consolidated financial statements according to IFRS for financial year 2010, are generally based on the same recognition and
measurement methods that were applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements for
2009, with the exception of the new or revised International Financial Reporting Standards that
must be applied, as a binding rule, as of January 1, 2010. The principal recognition and measurement
methods applied in preparing the present consolidated financial statements are described in the
following.

2.1 Revenue recognition
Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or to be received, after deduction
of discounts, customer returns, sales tax and liquor tax and other taxes related to the sale. However, the
sales tax or other kinds of tax are deducted from revenues only when AURELIUS is not the economic
tax debtor, as in the case of pass-through taxes. Revenues between Group companies are eliminated.
Revenues generated on the sale of goods are recognized when (1) the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, (2) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably,
(3) it is sufficiently probable that the economic benefits associated with the sale will flow to the seller,
(4) the costs incurred in respect of the sale can be measured reliably, and (5) the seller retains neither
continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold. Revenues generated on the sale of services are recognized with reference
to the date when the services were rendered, provided that it is sufficiently probable that economic
benefits will flow to the seller and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.
For information on revenue recognition under construction contracts, please refer to our comments in
Note 2.3 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

2.2 Recognition of income and expenses
As a general rule, other operating income is recognized when the corresponding goods or services are
supplied, the amount of income can be measured reliably and it is sufficiently probable that economic
benefits will flow to the company. Operating expenses and interest are recognized in the period when
they are incurred.
An internally generated intangible asset resulting from the development activities of AURELIUS is
recognized as an asset only when all the criteria set forth in IAS 38 are met. If the criteria of IAS 38 are
not met, the development costs are recognized as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.
Research activities, on the other hand, are always recognized as expenses. For more information on this
subject, please refer to Note 2.4 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Interest income and expenses are recognized in the corresponding period, with due consideration given
to the outstanding loan amount and the interest rate to be applied in accordance with the effective
interest method. The interest rate to be applied upon initial recognition is the rate that exactly
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discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the net carrying amount of the asset. Dividend income is recognized when the shareholder’s
right to receive the dividend has been legally established, as by way of a dividend resolution, for example.
All income and expenses between Group companies are eliminated.

2.3 Long-term construction contracts
If the outcome of a construction contract can be measured reliably, the income and expenses are
recognized in proportion to the stage of completion at the reporting date, in accordance with IAS 11. The
method applied by AURELIUS to determine the stage of completion is the so-called cost-to-cost
method. The percentage of completion is calculated as the ratio of contract costs incurred up to the
reporting date to the total estimated contract costs. This method is only one of the methods allowed
for determining the percentage of completion. Other methods such as, for example, efforts expected,
contract milestones or units produced or delivered are not applied. Contract revenue also includes
revenues generated on alterations in the original contract work, plus claims and incentive payments in
the agreed amount.
For all ongoing construction contracts, the gross amount due from customers is recognized as an asset,
provided that the costs incurred, including the profits recognized to date, are higher than the sum of
partial invoices plus the sum of losses recognized to date. If, on the other hand, a gross amount is due
to the customer under an ongoing construction contract, a liability is recognized.
If the outcome of a construction contract cannot be measured reliably, the contract revenues are
recognized only in the amount of contract costs incurred that are probably recoverable, based on the
zero-profit method. Furthermore, contract costs are recognized as expenses in the period in which they
are incurred. If it is probable that the total contract costs will exceed the total contract revenues, the
anti-cipated loss is immediately recognized as an expense.

2.4 Research and development costs
Costs incurred in connection with the attainment of new technical and/or scientific knowledge
(research activities) are always recognized as expenses in the full amount. On the other hand, costs of
development activities, meaning activities by means of which research results are implemented in the
form of a plan and/or a prototype for the production of new or substantially improved products or
processes, can be capitalized. According to IAS 38, the necessary preconditions for such capitalization
are the following: (1) The development costs can be measured reliably; (2) The research phase can be
distinguished from the development phase; (3) The technical and commercial feasibility has been
established; (4) The reporting entity intends to use or sell the asset; (5) Sufficient resources are available
to complete the development phase; and (6) The inflow of future economic benefits is probable.
Capitalizable costs include all directly allocable costs required to create, produce and prepare the asset
for its intended use. As a general rule, that includes material costs, the manufacturing wages of
AURELIUS and directly allocable overhead costs. All other development costs are recognized as expenses.
Capitalized development costs are presented in the Statement of Changes in Noncurrent Assets
within the item of “other intangible assets”; they are measured at historical production cost, less
accumulated amortization and impairments.
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2.5 Government grants
Government grants are forms of assistance that can be granted to an enterprise in the form of
financial resources and serve as compensation for the past or future fulfillment of certain conditions
related to the operating activities of the enterprise. Other forms of government assistance that cannot
be measured reliably or business dealings with government entities that cannot be distinguished from
the company’s normal activities are not covered by the definition of government grants. By contrast,
other forms of government assistance are defined as measures that serve the purpose of granting an
economic advantage to one or more companies, subject to the fulfillment of certain criteria, as opposed
to advantages created indirectly through measures that influence general economic conditions.
The recipient of government grants should recognize them as consideration for the past or future
fulfillment of certain conditions attached to the grant only when the company in question has fulfilled
those conditions and the grant is received. According to IAS 20, it must be reasonably assured that both
conditions will be met.
According to IAS 20, any contingent liabilities or contingent assets arising in connection with government grants that have already been recognized must be accounted for in accordance with IAS 37.
Applying the income approach prescribed in IAS 20.12, government grants are recognized as income
over the period necessary to match them with the related costs on a systematic basis. The additional
option allowed by IAS 20.13 of recognizing government grants in equity (capital approach) is not exercised in the AURELIUS Group.
With regard to the presentation of an asset in the statement of financial position, the AURELIUS Group
recognizes the grant as deferred income. The AURELIUS Group does not exercise the option of
deducting the grant from the carrying amount of the asset; thus, any asset acquired with the aid of
government grants is always measured at the full purchase price and the amount of the government
grant is recognized as deferred income. In addition, government grants are presented as other income
and not reduced by the amount of costs related to the grant (IAS 20.29 ff.).
In accordance with IAS 20.32, any repayment of government grants, due to non-fulfillment of
contractual conditions, for example, must be accounted for as a change in estimates according to IAS
8. Furthermore, any such repayment must be deducted from the deferred income that has not yet been
reversed and recognized in income; if the repayment amount exceeds the amount of deferred income,
the latter is charged to expense.

2.6 Income taxes
For the purpose of measuring current German taxes, a uniform corporate income tax rate of 15 percent
is applied to distributed and retained earnings and a solidarity surtax rate of 5.5 percent is applied to
that amount. That yields a tax rate of 15.83 percent. In addition, the German trade tax is imposed on
profits earned in Germany. The trade tax is based on the assessment rates of the various municipalities
and the basic federal rate, which is a flat rate of 3.5 percent according to the business tax reform of
2008 in Section 11 (2) GewStG. The trade tax varies, depending on the different assessment rates of the
municipalities, but a flat rate of 14.49 percent is applied in the consolidated financial statements of
AURELIUS.
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The profits earned by the non-German Group companies are calculated on the basis of the national tax
laws applicable in each country and taxed at the tax rates in effect in those countries. The country-specific
tax rates range from 14 to 33.3 percent. The Group tax rate is 30.3 percent, unchanged from the prior year.
Total income tax expenses are calculated as the sum of current tax expenses and deferred taxes. Taxes
are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, unless they are imposed on
items that are recognized directly in equity, in which case the corresponding taxes are also recognized
in equity. Deferred tax liabilities in respect of temporary differences related to the Group’s investments
in subsidiaries and associates are recognized in the consolidated financial statements, unless the Group
is able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, based on the control exerted by the Group.
No deferred tax liabilities were recognized in respect of temporary differences related to the Group’s
investments in subsidiaries and associates because AURELIUS is able to control the timing of reversal
and the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred taxes represent the tax liabilities or assets expected to result from differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements according to IFRS and the tax
bases of those assets and liabilities. The liability method, which is oriented to the statement of
financial position, is applied for that purpose. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized in respect of all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available in the future. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities should be netted
when the conditions of IAS 12.74 are met, that is, when the reporting entity has a legal right to settle on
a net basis and when the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities refer to income taxes that are
levied by the same taxing authority on the same entity or on different entities that intend to recover
the asset and settle the liability at the same time.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed every year at the reporting date and adjustments are made when necessary. Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates that apply
or are expected to apply when the liability is settled or the asset is recovered, based on tax laws that
have been enacted as of the reporting date. As a general rule, deferred taxes are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, except in the case of items that are recognized directly in equity.

2.7 Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of acquisition costs of a business combination
over the Group’s proportionate share of the net fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities and
contingent liabilities of a subsidiary or joint venture at the acquisition date. Upon initial recognition,
goodwill is measured at cost; in subsequent periods, it is measured at cost minus accumulated impairments. In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill is not subjected to systematic amortization; instead, it is
subjected to an annual impairment test according to IAS 36. For purposes of the impairment test, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units (CGUs) or groups of cash-generating units based on
identified operating segments that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business
combination on which the goodwill arose. When necessary, the CGUs must be written down to their
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recoverable amounts and the corresponding impairments must be recognized in income (“impairment-only approach”). Any impairment loss in excess of the full impairment of goodwill is allocated
proportionately to the other assets on the basis of the carrying amounts of each asset within the cashgenerating unit. When so-called “triggering events,” meaning indications of a possible impairment,
occur during the year, an impairment test is conducted already at that time and the goodwill is written
down to the recoverable amount, if necessary. For that purpose, the recoverable amount is the higher
of the fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be generated
from the continued use of the asset in question. A subsequent reversal of impairment losses recognized
in goodwill is not permitted. When a subsidiary or joint venture is sold, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on the sale.
Customer bases
In connection with the acquisition of subsidiaries, the Group regularly purchases the customer
potential (contractual customer relationships) of the acquired company. Customer bases are
recognized as an intangible asset according to IAS 38, measured at fair value and amortized over their
expected useful lives.
Trademark rights
Trademark rights acquired in connection with business combinations are recognized as intangible
assets according to IAS 38, measured at fair value and amortized over their expected useful lives.
So-called “umbrella brands” representing a family of brands have indefinite useful lives. Consequently,
they are not amortized, but are subjected to an annual impairment test and written down to their
recoverable amount when necessary.
When so-called “triggering events,” meaning indications of a possible impairment, occur during the
year, an impairment test is conducted already at that time and the corresponding asset is written down
to its recoverable amount when necessary.
Other intangible assets
Purchased patents, licenses and trademarks that are not acquired in connection with business
combinations, as well as other intangible assets, are measured at their historical acquisition or
production costs. They have determinable useful lives. In subsequent periods, they are measured at
their acquisition or production costs, minus accumulated amortization.
Amortization of intangible assets
Depending on the type of intangible asset, the expected useful lives of customer bases are determined
on the basis of the extrapolated average cancellation rate and the average term of the individual user
agreements.
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Intangible assets with determinable useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Amortization begins from the time when the intangible asset is ready for use.
The useful lives are as follows:
■
■
■
■
■

Customer bases: 5 - 12 years
Software and licenses: 1 - 10 years
Patents, utility designs, trademarks, publishing rights, copyrights and performance rights: 3 - 5 years
Brand names, company logos, ERP software and Internet domain names: 5 - 10 years
Copyrighted software: 3 - 5 years

The expected useful lives and the amortization method applied are reviewed at the end of every
financial year and all changes in estimates are taken into consideration prospectively. When there are
indications of a possible impairment, systematically amortized intangible assets are subjected to an
impairment test and when necessary, they are written down to the recoverable amount according to
IAS 36.
Internally generated intangible assets
In the case of internally generated intangible assets, IAS 38 makes a distinction between the research
phase and the development phase. Costs incurred during the research phase may not be capitalized,
but must be charged to expense. On the other hand, costs incurred during the development phase
must be capitalized, provided that the reporting entity demonstrably fulfills all six objectification criteria
set out in IAS 38.57 ff. (See also Note 2.4 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.)

2.8 Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at acquisition or production cost, minus
accumulated straight-line depreciation. Production cost comprises all costs that are directly allocable
to the production process. That also includes appropriate proportions of production-related overhead
costs; on the other hand, borrowing costs are usually not capitalized. Borrowing costs can be included
as part of the incidental acquisition costs only in the case of special assets known as qualifying assets.
According to IAS 23.8 ff., borrowing costs should be capitalized in full or proportionately when they can
be attributed directly or indirectly to the funds borrowed for the purpose of financing the acquisition
or production of the asset. Examples of qualifying assets are assets that take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale. Such assets may include factory equipment and land or
buildings held as investment property. If, however, the assets are manufactured on a repetitive basis or
over a short period of time, they may not be classified as qualifying assets.
Subsequent acquisition or production costs are added to the acquisition or production cost of a
tangible asset only when it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the company as a result and
when the costs can be measured reliably. While land is not subjected to systematic depreciation, all
other items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated in a manner that reflects the pattern in
which the asset’s economic benefits are consumed by the enterprise.
Buildings are deemed to have useful lives of between ten and 50 years. Under normal usage conditions,
operational devices, operational equipment and office equipment are deemed to have useful lives of
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between three and ten years. Machinery and technical plant and equipment are depreciated over useful lives of two to 15 years. Land is not depreciated.
The component approach is an alternative recognition and measurement method for items of property,
plant and equipment that is applied in the present consolidated financial statements for MS DEUTSCHLAND. Under the component approach, a tangible asset is methodically separated into different
components for recognition and measurement purposes. In the case of MS DEUTSCHLAND, such
components basically consist of the ship, on the one hand, and the plant and machinery, on the other
hand. According to IAS 16.43, the acquisition cost of an asset must be divided among individual components when their value is considered significant in relation to the value of the total asset. Therefore,
the total value of an asset must first be determined and then divided up among significant
components. However, the Standard does not prescribe a method for determining the significance of
components, much less qualitative limits. Under IAS 16.45, moreover, an enterprise is allowed to
aggregate significant components of a physical asset if they have the same useful lives and
depreciation methods. On that basis, the depreciation expense is calculated for the aggregated total of
similar components. The component approach makes it possible to capitalize replacement parts and
larger-scale maintenance costs as subsequent acquisition costs. In most cases, the depreciation period
for maintenance costs extends to the next planned dockyard time. Smaller maintenance and service
costs may not be capitalized, but must be recognized as expenses in the statement of comprehensive
income.
The residual carrying amounts and economic useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, when necessary,
at every reporting date. If the carrying amount of a tangible asset exceeds the recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recognized, in addition to systematic depreciation, in order to lower the carrying
amount to the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less costs to
sell (net selling price) and the present value of the net cash flows expected to result from the continued use of the asset. Whenever possible, the net selling price is derived from the most recently
observed market transactions.
If it is not possible to estimate the expected future cash flows for an individual asset, the expected
future cash flows for the next-higher group of assets is estimated and discounted to present value by
application of a risk-adjusted discount factor, and then the recoverable amount is allocated
proportionately to the carrying amounts of the individual assets.

2.9 Investments accounted for at equity
Shares in associated companies and in joint ventures are accounted for by the equity method. An
associated company is deemed to exist whenever the parent company has or can exert significant
influence, but not control. That is usually the case when the parent company holds between 20.01 and
50.00 percent of the voting rights. Joint ventures are defined as companies that are managed by more
than one partner, each vested with equivalent rights. In most cases, the partners hold equal shares of
the voting rights.
In accordance with IAS 28, initial consolidation is performed in a manner analogous to that applied in
full consolidation, meaning that investments are initially measured at cost. The carrying amount of an
investment held by the AURELIUS Group in an associated company or joint venture includes the goodwill arising on the acquisition, minus accumulated impairments.
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The Group’s share of profits and losses is recognized as a separate item of EBITDA in the statement of
comprehensive income at the acquisition date. Accumulated changes after the acquisition arising from
non-income changes in the equity of the associated company, such as dividend payments, for example,
are offset against the carrying amount of the investment.
Unrealized gains and losses on transactions between Group companies and associated companies are
eliminated in proportion to the share held in the associated company. In the case of unrealized losses,
moreover, the transferred assets are subjected to an impairment test.

2.10 Impairments of non-financial assets
According to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, an enterprise must assess at every reporting date whether
there are any indications that an asset may be impaired. When such indications exist, the recoverable
amount of the asset in question is estimated. Regardless of whether there are indications of an impairment, an enterprise must subject all intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, intangible assets
which are not yet ready for use and acquired goodwill to an annual impairment test. An asset is
considered to be impaired when its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows that are
expected to result from the continued use of the asset (value in use). If the recoverable amount is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss must be recognized in the amount of the difference and
charged to income, as a general rule. If the recoverable amount of an individual asset cannot be
estimated, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Provided that an appropriate and continuous allocation basis can be determined, joint
company-wide assets are allocated to the cash-generating units; otherwise, they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which an appropriate and continuous allocation basis can
be determined.
When the reasons for an earlier impairment loss no longer exist, it should be reversed. Such reversals
may not lead to a carrying amount that is higher than the carrying amount that would have resulted if
no impairment loss had been recognized. As a general rule, reversals of impairment losses are recognized in income.

2.11 Inventories
The line item of inventories comprises raw materials and supplies, down payments rendered, semifinished and finished goods and services and purchased goods. All such items are measured at the
lower of acquisition or production cost and the net realizable value at the reporting date.
Production costs comprise direct material costs and direct manufacturing costs, as well as an appropriate
proportion of manufacturing overhead costs. Borrowing costs are added to the acquisition cost only in
the case of certain assets known as qualifying assets. According to IAS 23.8 ff., borrowing costs should
be capitalized in full or proportionately when they can be directly or indirectly attributed to the funds
borrowed for the purpose of financing the acquisition or production of the asset. Examples of
qualifying assets are assets that take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale. If, however, the assets are manufactured on a repetitive basis or over a short period of time, they
may not be classified as qualifying assets. The same rule applies to inventories that were ready to sell
or use already when they were purchased.
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Acquisition or production cost is calculated using the weighted average method. The net realizable
value is the estimated selling price, less all estimated costs of completion and the costs of making the
sale. As a general rule, the net realizable value of the final product is applied. By reason of the
orientation to the sales market, raw materials and supplies and semi-finished goods are written down
only when the net realizable value of the finished goods incorporating those items does not allow for
a positive profit margin.
When necessary, writedowns are charged to account for long inventory turnover rates, obsolescence
and reduced salability, subject to the condition that lower selling prices will lead to negative profit
margins.

2.12 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts owed to the company as consideration for the supply of goods and
services in the normal course of business. In the normal business cycle, all receivables are due in less
than one year and are therefore classified as current; otherwise, they are presented as non-current
receivables.
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If the default risk is divided between the seller and buyer of a receivable, it must be recognized as an
asset and in the amount of the seller’s continuing involvement and concurrently as a liability. The
amount of the liability is calculated such that the net balance of the asset and liability is equal to the
actual amount of the claim or obligation, respectively.
Any interest income earned from the sale of receivables is recognized in net financial income or expenses,
while any administrative fees incurred are recognized as other operating expenses.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, demand deposits and other current financial assets with an
original maturity of no more than three months. Such assets are measured at face value. Drawdowns
under overdraft facilities are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within
“current financial liabilities” as “liabilities due from banks.”

2.15 Financial assets
Financial assets are divided into the following categories:

Upon initial recognition, receivables are measured at cost; in this context, the measurement at fair
value upon initial recognition allowed by IAS 39.43 is deemed equivalent to cost because under normal
circumstances the fair value is the same as the transaction price upon initial recognition. Although
receivables are to be measured at fair value, they are normally measured as the fair value of the
consideration given and therefore the fair value is also equivalent to cost, according to IAS 39.AG 64. In
addition to acquisition costs, transaction costs are also included in the measured value of receivables,
meaning that due consideration is given to discounts, rebates, price reductions, etc.
In subsequent periods, receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Under the effective interest method, the effective interest is first determined, based on the normal
interest rate and discount. Thereafter, the amortized cost is calculated on the basis of the acquisition
cost, the effective interest rate and the actual payment receipts.
A writedown is charged when there are objective indications that receivables may not be collectible in
full when they are due. The amount of the writedown is calculated as the difference between the
carrying amount of the receivable and the present value of the estimated future cash flows from the
receivable, discounted by application of the original effective interest rate. Such writedowns must be
recognized in income. When the reasons for writedowns charged in earlier periods no longer exist, they
are reversed and recognized in income. Receivables denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the exchange rate on the reporting date.

2.13 Factoring
According to IAS 39, a distinction must be made between non-recourse factoring and recourse
factoring. If the default risk associated with the receivable is transferred to the buyer (non-recourse
factoring), the receivable is derecognized. If, on the other hand, the non-payment risk associated with
the receivable remains with the seller (recourse factoring), the receivable may not be derecognized.
Payments received under recourse factoring arrangements are deemed to be secured borrowings and
are therefore recognized as liabilities.
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1) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
2) Loans and receivables;
3) Financial assets held to maturity;
4) Financial assets available for sale.
Financial assets are classified with reference to the purpose for which they were acquired. The
classification is reviewed at every reporting date. Depending on the classification, financial assets are
measured either at amortized cost or fair value.
1) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises two sub-categories: Financial assets classified as held for trading from the
beginning and financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset is
assigned to this category when it was acquired with the basic intention to resell it in the short-term
future or when it was designated as such by the management. Derivatives are also assigned to this
category if they do not qualify as hedges. The financial assets assigned to this category are presented
as current when they are either held for sale or when it is expected that they will be recovered within
twelve months of the reporting date.
2) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not traded in an active market. They are constituted when AURELIUS directly provides money, goods or
services to a debtor without the intention of trading the corresponding receivables. They are presented
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as non-current or current financial assets depending on the remaining term to maturity. Loans and
receivables are presented in the statement of financial position as trade receivables and other assets.
3) Financial assets held to maturity
Financial assets held to maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed terms that the management of AURELIUS intends and is able to hold to maturity.
Loans are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Upon initial recognition, they are measured at fair value; in subsequent periods, they
are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, after deduction of impairments. If
they are due in more than twelve months, they are presented as non-current financial assets. They are
presented as current financial assets if they are due in twelve months or less of the reporting date. With
the exception of current receivables, the interest effect of which would be immaterial, interest income
is recognized on the basis of the effective interest method.
4) Financial assets available for sale
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that have not been assigned to
any of the other categories. They are presented as non-current financial assets when the management
does not intend to sell them within twelve months of the reporting date and when the asset in
question will not mature within that period of time.
All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, that being the day when
the company undertook an obligation to purchase or sell the asset. Upon initial recognition, financial
assets not classified as at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, plus transaction
costs. They are derecognized when the right to receive payments from the investment has expired or
been transferred and when the company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
incident to ownership. Subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets and
financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Loans and
receivables and financial assets held to maturity are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.
Realized and unrealized gains or losses arising from the change in fair value of financial assets
classified as at fair value through profit or loss are recognized as other comprehensive income in the
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Unrealized gains or losses
arising from the change in fair value of non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
financial assets are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. When securities classified
as available-for-sale financial assets are sold or impaired, the accumulated changes in fair value that
had been recognized in equity are recognized as profits or losses from financial assets in the statement
of comprehensive income.
The fair value of quoted shares is determined on the basis of current market prices. When there is not an
active market for financial assets or when the financial assets in question are not quoted, the fair value
is determined using appropriate valuation methods, including reference to the prices of recently
conducted transactions between independent business partners, the application of current market
prices of other assets that are basically similar to the asset in question, discounted cash flow methods
or option price models, which take into consideration the specific circumstances of the issuer.
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When a financial asset classified as available for sale is deemed to be impaired, the profits and losses
that had previously been recognized in the other comprehensive income section of equity must be
reclassified as profits or losses in the statement of comprehensive income. If in subsequent periods the
impairment of a financial asset that is not an available-for-sale equity instrument is reduced, and if the
reduction can be objectively attributed to an event that occurred after the recognition of the impairment loss, the previously recognized impairment is reversed by way of the statement of comprehensive
income. However, such reversals may not lead to a carrying amount that is higher than the amortized
cost would have been if no impairment loss had been recognized.
In the case of equity instruments classified as available for sale, impairment losses recognized in prior
periods may not be reversed and recognized in income. Any increase in the fair value after a previous
impairment is recognized in other comprehensive income.

2.16 Financial assets held for sale
Assets (and groups of assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount or their fair value less costs to sell. Systematic depreciation must be discontinued from the
time when they are classified as held for sale. Assets and groups of assets are classified as held for sale
when their carrying amounts will likely be recovered through sale, rather than through continued use.
This condition is deemed to be fulfilled when a sale is highly probable and when the asset (or group of
assets held for sale) can be sold immediately in their current condition.

2.17 Equity
Shares are classified as equity. Costs that are directly related to the issuance of new shares or stock
options are accounted for in equity on a net basis, meaning that they are deducted from the issue
proceeds after taxes. For additional information on the equity of AURELIUS, please refer to Note 4.11 of
the present notes to the consolidated financial statements.

2.18 Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others who render comparable services are
measured at the fair value of the equity instrument on the grant date. The value of the stock option
plan is measured by way of financial mathematical methods based on the Monte Carlo option price
model.
The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments at the grant date is charged as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the period until the vesting date, based on the Group’s expectations regarding
the equity instruments that will probably become vested. At every reporting date, the Group reviews its
estimates of the number of equity instruments that are expected to become vested. The effects of any
changes in the original estimates are recognized in income over the period remaining until the vesting
date by means of making the appropriate adjustments to provisions.
In respect of cash-settled share-based payments, the Group recognizes a liability in the amount of the
proportion of goods or services received, measured at fair value, at every reporting date. Share-based
payment plans defined as cash-settled plans are remeasured at every reporting date.
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No stock option plans are in effect with employees of the Group’s subsidiaries. The social insurance contributions payable in connection with the granting of share options are treated as part of the grant and
the corresponding expenses are recognized as cash-settled compensation. For more information on
this subject, please refer to Note 5.7 of the present consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

rence of the originally hedged item is no longer expected, the accumulated unrealized profits and/or
losses that had previously been recognized in equity are recognized immediately in the statement of
comprehensive income.

2.21 Provisions
2.19 Earnings per share
In accordance with the provisions of IAS 33, the Group’s earnings per share are calculated by dividing
the consolidated profit after taxes by the average number of shares outstanding during the reporting
period. Diluted earnings per share are presented when the Group has issued equity instruments that
could lead to a higher number of shares in the future, in addition to the common and preferred shares
outstanding at the given reporting date.

2.20 Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivative financial instruments are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of IAS 39. When
such financial instruments are employed for the purpose of hedging the risks associated with future
cash flows and for hedging items of the consolidated statement of financial position, IAS 39 allows the
option of applying special provisions, provided that certain conditions are met. The purpose of hedge
accounting is to reduce the volatility of AURELIUS’ statements of comprehensive income. Hedges are
classified as fair-value hedges, cash-flow hedges or hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation,
depending on the type of hedged item.
Under a fair-value hedge, the hedging instrument is measured at fair value and any changes in fair
value are recognized as income or expenses. The purpose of such fair-value hedges is to hedge the
assets and liabilities presented in the statement of financial position, as well as any obligations that are
not recognized in the statement of financial position. In the case of a perfect hedge, the effects emanating from the hedged item and the hedging instrument offset each other exactly.

In accordance with IAS 37, provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to a third party, arising from a past event, and when it is more likely than not that the
settlement of the obligation will lead to an outflow of economic resources, and when the amount of
the provision can be measured reliably. In accordance with IAS 37, “other provisions” are recognized in
respect of all discernible risks and uncertain obligations. Uncertain obligations are measured at the
best possible estimate. Recourse claims are not deducted from the carrying amount of such liabilities.
In the case of a large population of similar obligations, the probability of a future outflow of economic
resources is determined on the basis of the overall population.
Warranty provisions are recognized as of the date of sale of the corresponding goods or services. The
amount of such provisions is determined on the basis of past experience values and an estimate of
future probabilities. Restructuring provisions are recognized when there exists a detailed restructuring
plan that meets the requirements of IAS 37, or in the case of a new acquisition, subject to the rules
prescribed in IFRS 3. Particularly in connection with company acquisitions, provisions are recognized to
account for any onerous contracts identified as part of the purchase price allocation process.
Non-current provisions that have not resulted in an outflow of economic resources in the following
year are discounted to present value by application of the currently prevailing market interest rate, provided that the effect is material. Any increases in provisions resulting from pure compounding are
likewise recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Both such effects are presented in net
financial income or expenses.

2.22 Litigation, claims for damages and liability risks
Cash-flow hedges are designed to hedge variations in the future cash flows expected to result from the
assets and liabilities recognized in the statement of financial position, or from future transactions that
are expected to occur in the future with a high degree of probability, or from the currency risks of a firm
contractual obligation. The effective portion of the hedge is recognized in the accumulated other
comprehensive income of AURELIUS. Such amounts are transferred from equity to the statement of
comprehensive income in the period when the hedged item is also recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income. The ineffective portion of the derivative remaining after determination of the
effectiveness of the hedged item and hedging instrument, as well as any adjustments made on the basis
of interest rate effects, are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as other operating
income.
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognized in the same manner as cash-flow
hedges.

In connection with their normal business operations, companies of the AURELIUS Group are involved in
various lawsuits and governmental proceedings or such lawsuits and governmental proceedings may
be initiated or brought in the future. Although the outcome of individual proceedings cannot be
predicted with certainty, given the imponderabilities associated with legal disputes, the Group does not
believe, based on the information currently available to it, that such proceedings will have material,
lasting adverse effects on the Group’s financial position, cash flows or financial performance, beyond
the risks accounted for in the consolidated financial statements in the form of liabilities and provisions.
Contingent liabilities related to collateral furnished or liabilities assumed are disclosed separately in
Note 5.6 of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements. Identified purchased contingent
liabilities assumed in connection with a business combination according to IFRS 3 are measured at fair
value at the acquisition date.

When the hedging instrument expires, is sold, is terminated or exercised, or when the hedging relationship no longer exists, but when the planned hedged item is nonetheless expected to occur, all
accu-mulated unrealized profits or losses are left in equity and are not recognized in income until the
period when the hedged item is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. If the occur-
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2.23 Employee benefits
Pension obligations
The projected unit-credit method prescribed in IAS 19 Employee Benefits is applied for the purpose of
measuring the actuarial value of employee pension provisions. An actuarial measurement is conducted
at every reporting date.
There are various pension plans in effect in the AURELIUS Group, but they relate exclusively to the
Group’s subsidiaries. Under defined contribution plans, the company pays fixed amounts to an
independent entity such as a pension fund or insurance company, which will then pay post-termination
benefits to employees; in such cases, the company does not have a legal or constructive obligation to
pay any further amounts in the event that the entity in question would not have sufficient financial
resources to satisfy all the pension claims of all employees for current and prior years. All pension plans
that promise to pay post-termination benefits to employees, but do not fall under the definition of a
defined contribution plan, are considered to be defined benefit plans.
Under defined contribution plans, the company is only obligated to pay the contribution for a given
period. Therefore, it is not necessary to make actuarial assumptions and no actuarial gains or losses can
arise. Such obligations are not discounted to present value unless they will not be due and payable in
the full amount within twelve months of the end of the period in which the corresponding work was
performed. Payments to defined contribution plans are recognized as expenses in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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Liabilities are measured at amortized cost. For current liabilities, that means they are measured at their
repayment or settlement amount. Non-current liabilities and financial liabilities are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Liabilities under finance leases are measured at the
discounted present value of minimum lease payments or at the fair value of the leased asset, whichever
is lower.
Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities in general, and particularly financial liabilities arising from
purchase price adjustment clauses or earn-out clauses, are measured at fair value, which is usually equal
to cost. As preconditions for recognizing such liabilities in the statement of financial position, however,
they must be probable at the acquisition date and their amount must be reliably measurable.
Non-interest-bearing or low-interest-bearing financial liabilities are measured at their settlement value
or nominal value. The difference from the disbursement amount is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in subsequent periods. Also in subsequent periods, such financial liabilities measured
at amortized cost are compounded, using the effective interest method.

2.25 Leases
Leases are classified either as finance leases or operating leases. They are classified as finance leases
when, by virtue of the lease’s contractual terms and conditions, substantially all the risks and awards
incident to ownership of the leased asset are transferred to the lessee. The primary criteria to be
examined for the purpose of classifying finance leases are the contractual clauses applicable to the
transfer of ownership, the existence of a favorable purchase option, the ratio of the lease term to the
useful life of the leased asset, the present value of minimum lease payments and/or the degree of
specialization of the leased assets.

Obligations under defined benefit plans are determined separately for each plan by estimating the
amount of benefits to be paid to employees in respect of their work in the current and prior periods.
Such defined benefits are then discounted to present value, from which is deducted the fair value of
plan assets. The factors taken into consideration as part of the projected unit-credit method include the
pension benefits and vested benefits known at the reporting date, as well as expected future increases
in salaries and pension benefits and the expected income from plan assets. The plan assets of AURELIUS are
composed of pension liability insurance claims that have been pledged to eligible beneficiaries and
other assets that meet the definition of plan assets according to IAS 19. Accumulated actuarial gains
and/or losses resulting from the difference between the expected and actual pension obligations and
plan assets at the end of the year are recognized only when they exceed 10 percent of the greater of the
defined benefit obligation or plan assets (corridor method). If that is the case, the excess is divided by
the remaining average working lives of active employees eligible for pension benefits and recognized
as additional expenses or income. Subsequent service cost in respect of defined benefit obligations
that have not yet become vested is allocated over the remaining working lives until the defined benefit claim becomes vested. In the case of defined benefit claims that are already vested, expenses are
re-cognized immediately.

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognized as expenses over the term of the lease.

2.24 Liabilities

2.26 Segment report

Trade payables are amounts owed as consideration for goods or services provided to the company in
the normal course of business. In the normal business cycle, all liabilities are due in one year or less and
are therefore classified as current; otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

According to the rules prescribed in IFRS 8 Operating Segments, certain financial information must be
presented separately by segments and regions. Operating segments are defined on the basis of the internal reporting data which the chief decision maker uses to make reliable assessments of the entity’s risks

Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership are operating
leases.
In the case of finance leases, the company recognizes both an asset and a liability of equal amount, at
the beginning of the lease term. This amount is measured as either the fair value of the leased assets or
the discounted present value of the minimum lease payments, whichever is lower, plus any incidental
costs assumed by the lessee. The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the
reduction of the outstanding liability, in such a way as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability. The depreciation methods and useful lives applied to leased assets
under finance leases are the same as those applied to similar purchased assets. If at the inception of the
lease it is not sufficiently certain that ownership will be transferred to the lessee, the asset should be
depreciated in full over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the leased asset.
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and financial performance. The segment report is meant to transparently present the profitability and
future prospects of the company’s various activities. In accordance with its internal management
approach, AURELIUS defines its primary segment format on the basis of business areas.
The operating segments of AURELIUS are structured on the basis of their primary activities and
geographic characteristics. The primary activities are Services and Solutions (S&S), Industrial Production
(IP) and Retail and Consumer Products (RCP).
As a general rule, the same recognition and measurement methods applied in preparing the consolidated
financial statements were applied in preparing the segment report.

2.27 Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements according to IFRS requires that the management make certain
assumptions and estimates that have an effect on the amounts presented in the financial statements
and the related disclosures in the notes. Discretionary judgments and estimates are made primarily in
connection with the assessment of the actual value of goodwill, intangible assets, the adoption of
uniform Groupwide useful lives for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, and the
recognition and measurement of provisions. The assumptions underlying such discretionary judgments
and estimates are based on the information available at the time of preparing the financial statements,
particularly with regard to the expected future business performance and the circumstances prevailing
at the time when the consolidated financial statements are prepared. Assumptions must also be made
regarding realistic expectations of future market conditions. If actual conditions in the future would
differ from the assumptions made, or if future developments would differ from the underlying assumptions and are beyond the control of the management, the resulting amounts may differ from the
originally estimated amounts.
Estimates are made on the basis of experience values and other assumptions that are deemed to be
accurate given the prevailing circumstances. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on a regular basis.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The companies of the AURELIUS Group are obligated to pay income taxes. Assumptions need to be made
for the purpose of measuring tax provisions. The final taxation of certain transactions and calculations
cannot be conclusively determined in the normal course of business. Provisions for the costs of anticipated
tax audits are measured on the basis of estimates concerning whether and in what amount additional
taxes will be owed. If the final taxation of such transactions differs from the initially assumed taxation,
that difference will have an effect on current and deferred taxes in the period when the final taxation is
conclusively determined.
At the time of preparing the present consolidated financial statements, no significant changes in the
underlying assumptions and estimates are to be expected, so that, from the current perspective, there is
no reason to expect that significant adjustments will be made to the assets and liabilities presented in
the statement of financial position in financial year 2011.

2.28 Financial instruments and financial risk management
A financial instrument is defined as a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one party to the
contract and a financial liability or equity instrument of the other party. Financial assets include cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables and loan receivables, as well as so-called certificated receivables such
as checks and debentures, for example. Financial liabilities include trade payables and liabilities due to
banks and/or third parties. As an internationally active group, AURELIUS is exposed to various financial
risks related to the use of such financial instruments.
The purpose of the following comments is to provide information concerning the amount, timing and
probability of cash flows that are expected to result from financial instruments.
The risks associated with financial instruments and the use of financial instruments include:
■
■
■

Also in connection with company acquisitions, estimates are generally made for the purpose of measuring
the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Land and buildings are usually measured
on the basis of standard land values or appraisals conducted by independent experts; such appraisals are
used also for measuring the value of technical equipment, plant and machinery. Marketable securities
are measured at their respective market values. Depending on the nature of the intangible asset in
question and the difficulty of measuring the value of such an asset, an independent external expert is
consulted or the fair value of an intangible asset is determined internally using a suitable valuation
method, usually based on a forecast of future cash flows. Depending on the nature of the asset and the
availability of information, different valuation techniques are applied. Such techniques are based either
on cost, market prices or future cash flows.
AURELIUS considers the estimates made with regard to the expected useful lives of certain assets and
the assumptions made with regard to the future macroeconomic conditions and developments in the
industries in which AURELIUS operates, as well as the estimates made with respect to the present value
of future cash flows, to be appropriate. Nonetheless, changes in assumptions or changed circumstances
may necessitate corrections, which could lead to additional impairment losses or even reversals of
impairment losses in the future, if the developments anticipated by AURELIUS would reverse.
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Credit and default risk;
Liquidity risk, and
Market risk (comprising foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and other price risks).

The Group’s overarching capital management program is focused on the unpredictability of
developments in the financial markets and is designed to minimize any potential adverse effects on the
Group’s cash flows.
Risk management is conducted on the level of AURELIUS AG and the Group’s individual operating
entities, which apply the guidelines and principles adopted by the management of AURELIUS AG.
Financial risks are identified, assessed and hedged in close cooperation with the Corporate Finance
Department. AURELIUS further expanded its centralized, Groupwide risk management program within
the Corporate Finance Department in financial year 2010. For the purpose of concretizing the Groupwide
risk policy, appropriate guidelines based on the applicable legal requirements and the Minimum
Requirements for the Risk Management of Banks were formulated last year.
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- Other financial assets*

Past due
between 60 - 90
days

Past due
between 90 - 120
days

Past due for
more than
120 days

Total

2,757

1,482

1,486

29,326

442

-/-

-/-

-/-

272

714

Total

- Trade receivables

4,277

Past due for
more than 120
days

in kEUR 2009

Past due
between 30 - 60
days

- Other financial assets*

19,324

Past due
between 90 - 120
days

The writedowns charged against trade receivables and the defaults experienced on the other financial
assets in the AURELIUS Group are presented in the table below:

- Trade receivables

Past due
between 60 - 90
days

By reason of the business activities and the corresponding diversification of AURELIUS, the Group was
not exposed to any significant risk concentrations in financial year 2010, nor in prior years.

in kEUR 2010

Past due
between 30 - 60
days

Writedowns are charged to account for the risks associated with non-derivative financial instruments.
Furthermore, the Group only conducts business with creditworthy partners. Creditworthiness is
evaluated by means of credit references and/or historical data derived from previous business dealings.
Some of the Group’s operating entities conduct detailed, ongoing credit checks based on an internal
rating system (credit scoring method) and set credit limits for each one of their customers. In addition,
the Group’s subsidiaries work with trade credit insurers, which insure a portion of the possible loss of
receivables. If it would not be possible to insure a given contractual partner, the Group’s subsidiaries can
exercise the option of demanding cash in advance for any deliveries.

Past due up
to 30 days

The companies of the AURELIUS Group operate in different industries and sell a wide variety of products
to customers throughout the world. Accordingly, the credit risk and default risk associated with financial
assets consist in the risk that a contractual partner would default on its obligations; therefore, the
maximum loss under such risks is the fair value of the amounts owed by the respective contractual partner.

In the following, the risks associated with non-current financial assets are not addressed because such
risks are considered immaterial for AURELIUS. The corresponding maturity analysis is presented in the
table below:

Past due up
to 30 days

Credit risk and default risk

10,264

1,885

622

434

1,710

14,915

-/-

15

15

23

1,243

1,296

* The "other financial assets" within the meaning of IFRS 7 are presented within the item of "other assets" in the consolidated statement of financial position, in the amount of EUR 64,007 thousand (PY: EUR 54,395 thousand).

in kEUR

Neither past
due, nor
written down

Past due,
but not
written down

Written down

Carrying
amounts at
12/31/2010

Measured at amortized cost
- Non-current financial assets
- Trade receivables
- Other financial assets*

2,733

-/-

-/-

2,733

163,982

29,326

2,585

193,308

30,172

714

-/-

30,886

4,172

-/-

-/-

4,172

Measured at fair value
- Derivative financial instruments

in kEUR

Neither past
due, nor
written down

Past due,
but not
written down

Written down

Carrying
amounts at
12/31/2009

Measured at amortized cost
- Non-current financial assets

7,174

-/-

-/-

7,174

- Trade receivables

113,074

14,915

2,897

127,989

- Other financial assets*

35,057

1,296

244

36,353

* The "other financial assets" within the meaning of IFRS 7 are presented within the item of "other assets" in the consolidated statement of financial position, in the amount of EUR 64,007 thousand (PY: EUR 54,395 thousand).
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14,185

64,161

193,308

33.19%

-/-

817

886

1,703

30,886

5.51%

Other financial assets*

30,886
22,332

- Other financial assets*

2009 in TEUR

Secured, in %

22,001

Carrying
amounts at
12/31/2009

- thereof: Rest of World

Secured, in %

4,255

Carrying
amounts at
12/31/2009

Secured portion

45,721

Secured portion

Other loan
security

58,715
99,491
13,101

- thereof: Europe - EU

- Trade receivables

193,308

- thereof: Europe - Other

- thereof: Germany

2010 in kEUR

Other loan
security

- thereof: Europe - EU

Carrying amounts
at 12/31/2010

Letters of credit

- thereof: Germany

Akkreditive

Trade receivables

Trade credit
insurance

in kEUR

The various forms of security backing trade receivables and other financial assets are presented in the
table below:

Trade credit
insurance

The breakdown of receivables and other financial assets by regions yields the following risk structure for
the AURELIUS Group:

8,277

- thereof: Europe - Other

58

- thereof: Rest of World

219

- Trade receivables

44,463

- Other financial assets*

-/-

157
-/-

1,748
-/-

46,368
-/-

127,989

36.23%

36.353

0.00%

*The „other financial assets“ within the meaning of IFRS 7 are presented within the items of „other assets“ in the consolidated statement of financial position, in the amount of EUR 64,007 (PY: EUR 54,395 thousand).

in kEUR
Trade receivables

Carrying amounts
at 12/31/2009
127,989

- thereof: Germany

78,992

- thereof: Europe - EU

34,427

- thereof: Europe - Other

11,054

- thereof: Rest of World

3,516

Other financial assets*

36,353

- thereof: Germany

36,044

- thereof: Europe - EU

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the possibility that a company would encounter difficulties in fulfilling the
obligations arising from its financial liabilities. By reason of the dynamic nature of the business environment in which AURELIUS operates, the goal of Corporate Finance is to preserve the necessary financing
flexibility. The Group’s solvency and liquidity supply is constantly monitored by means of a rolling
liqui-dity plan and the Group maintains a liquidity reserve in the form of cash and available credit lines.
The undiscounted, contractually agreed cash flows that are expected to result from financial
instruments are presented in the table below:
Due in less
than one year

246

- thereof: Europe - Other

2

- thereof: Rest of World

61

* The "other financial assets" within the meaning of IFRS 7 are presented within the item of "other assets" in the consolidated
statement of financial position, in the amount of EUR 64,007 thousand (PY: EUR 54,395 thousand).

The default risk of trade receivables and other financial assets presented in the statement of financial
position, which amounts to EUR 224,194 thousand (PY: EUR 164,342 thousand), is limited to a maximum
default risk of EUR 158,330 thousand (PY: EUR 117,974 thousand) by means of trade credit insurance,
letters of credit and other forms of security.

Due in 1 - 5
years

Due in more
than 5 years

Carrying amounts
at 12/31/2010

in kEUR
Trade payables

171,354

171,354

-/-

-/-

Financial liabilities

39,950

132,578

15,404

187,932

Other financial liabilities *

80,080

36,735

9,631

126,446

Total

291,384

169,313

25,035

485,732

Due in less
than one year

Due in 1 - 5
years

Due in more
than 5 years

Carrying amounts
at 12/31/2009

in kEUR
Trade payables

-/-

Financial liabilities

24,186

46,398

827

71,411

Other financial liabilities *

70,383

29,318

349

100,050

194,585

75,716

1,176

271,477

Total

-/-

100,016

100,016

*The „other financial liabilities“ within the meaning of IFRS 7 are presented within the line items of other liabilities, liabilities under
long-term construction contracts und liabilities under finance leases in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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The non-current financial liabilities will entail interest payments of EUR 21,599 thousand (PY: EUR 4,276
thousand) in subsequent years. The “other financial liabilities” according to the definition of IFRS 7 are
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as “other liabilities” in the amount of EUR
143,620 thousand (PY: EUR 100,050 thousand), along with liabilities under long-term construction
contracts in the amount of EUR 8,512 thousand (PY: EUR 7,237 thousand) and liabilities under finance
leases in the amount of EUR 1,095 thousand (PY: EUR 1,266 thousand).

-/-

in kEUR 2009
Trade payable

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

1,823

Financial liabilities

1,077

16,241

958

6,613

1,000

Other financial liabilities *

-/-

6,610

-/-

-/-

-/-

632

in %

-/-

171,354

0.00%

187,932

57.99%

126,446

0.50%

in %

-/-

Carrying amount

632

-/-

Carrying amount

-/-

Secured portion

Other financial liabilities *

-/-

75,504 108,978

Secured portion

1,675

Other

-/-

111

Other

-/-

31,534

Trade receivables

Inventories

-/-

154

Inventories

Plant and
equipment, land
and buildings

-/-

Financial liabilities

Plant and
equipment, land
and buildings

Trade payable

Intangible assets

in kEUR 2010

Intangible assets

Trade receivables

Of the total financial liabilities presented in the consolidated statement of financial position at
December 31, 2010 in the amount of EUR 485,732 thousand (PY: EUR 271,477 thousand), an amount of EUR
109,610 thousand (PY: EUR 34,322 thousand) or 22.6 percent (PY: 12.6%) is secured. The items serving as
security have the following structure:

1,823

100,016

1.82%

25,889

71,411

36.25%

6,610

100,050

6.61%

*The „other financial liabilities“ within the meaning of IFRS 7 are presented within the line items of other liabilities, liabilities under
long-term construction contracts and liabilities under finance leases in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The breakdown of financial liabilities by regions yields the following risk structure:
Carrying
amounts
at 12/31/2010

Carrying
amounts
at 12/31/2009

Trade payables

171,354

100,016

- thereof: Germany

48,408

44,818

- thereof: Europe - EU

97,812

46,612

- thereof: Europe - Other

6,830

3,935

- thereof: Rest of World

18,305

4,651

in kEUR

Financial liabilities

187.932

71,411

- thereof: Germany

172,170

46,080

- thereof: Europe - EU

13,446

19,849

- thereof: Europe - Other

501

5,482

- thereof: Rest of World

1,815

-/-

126.446

100,050

- thereof: Germany

82,618

86,296

- thereof: Europe - EU

Other financial liabilities

22,862

6,788

- thereof: Europe - Other

17,816

6,058

- thereof: Rest of World

3,150

908

* The "other financial liabilities" within the meaning of IFRS 7 are presented within the line items of other liabilities, liabilities under
long-term construction contracts and liabilities under finance leases in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Market risk
Market risk is defined as the possibility that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
would vary as a result of changes in market prices. Market risk encompasses foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk and other price risks.
Foreign exchange risks can arise in connection with capital expenditures, financing measures or even
operating activities, as a result of changes in the exchange rates of various foreign currencies. When
necessary, an enterprise can employ financial instruments such as forward exchange deals, currency
options or currency swaps to limit such risks. Although AURELIUS operates on an international scale, the
Group was exposed to only an insignificant degree of foreign exchange risk in financial 2010, as in prior
years, due to the fact that most transactions are effected in the euro zone (functional currency).
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Of the total financial instruments presented in the consolidated financial statements, financial assets
denominated in foreign currencies amounted to EUR 70,812 thousand (PY: EUR 39,790 thousand) and
financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies amounted to EUR 115,124 thousand (PY: EUR 55,400
thousand). The risk concentration relative to foreign currencies is presented in the table below:
Carrying
amount
12/31/2010

in %

Carrying
amount
12/31/2009

in %

Trade receivables

193,308

86.22%

127,989

77.88%

Other financial assets

30,886

13.78%

36,353

22.12%

224,194

100.00%

164,342

100.00%
62.27%

in kEUR
Financial assets

- thereof in foreign currencies
GBP (British pounds)

30,585

43.19%

24,776

RMB (Chinese renminbi)

17,633

24.90%

-/-

-/-

CHF (Swiss francs)

13,159

18.58%

11,371

28.58%

HUF (Hungarian forints)

4,849

6.85%

-/-

-/-

MYR (Malaysian ringit)

4,586

6.48%

3,596

9.04%

-/-

-/-

47

0.11%

70,812

100.00%

39,790

100.00%

171,354

35.28%

100,016

36.85%

Financial liabilities

187,932

38.69%

71,411

26.30%

Other financial liabilities

126,446

26.03%

100,050

36.85%

485,732

100.00%

271,477

100.00%

GBP (British pounds)

64,235

55.80%

32,645

58.93%

RMB (Chinese renminbi)

15,988

13.89%

-/-

-/-

CHF (Swiss francs)

25,147

21.84%

14,714

26.56%

TD (Tunisian dinars)
Financial liabilities
Trade payables

Interest rate risk arises from changes in market rates of interest, particularly with respect to variable-interest, medium-term and long-term assets and liabilities. Accordingly, all fixed-interest financial instruments
measured at amortized cost are not subject to interest rate risk within the meaning of IFRS 7.
The sensitivity analysis conducted for interest rate risks identifies the effects on the Group’s equity and
financial performance that would result from a change in the risk-free market interest rate. If the level
of market interest rates had been higher or lower by 100 basis points than the corresponding level at
December 31, 2010, the Group’s profit would have been lower or higher, respectively, by EUR 1,361 thousand.
With regard to other price risks, IFRS 7 requires in particular that the reporting entity present the effects
on the price of financial instruments that would result from hypothetical changes in risk variables. As the
risk variables analyzed for that purpose, AURELIUS examines the risks related to the procurement of commodities, as well as stock exchange prices and indexes.
In order to rule out significant risks related to the procurement of commodities, the affected operating
entities enter into master agreements with suppliers, most of which with terms of one year, so as to
exclude greater risks. If the relevant commodity prices at December 31, 2010 had been higher or lower by
10%, the Group’s profit would have been lower or higher, respectively, by EUR 7,829 thousand.
At December 31, 2010, the AURELIUS Group did not hold shares in other exchange-listed companies that
were not fully consolidated.

- thereof in foreign currencies

HUF (Hungarian forints)

2,473

2.15%

-/-

-/-

MYR (Malaysian ringit)

7,281

6.32%

5,416

9.78%

TD (Tunisian Dinar)

-/-

-/-

2,625

4.73%

115,124

100.00%

55,400

100.00%

For the purpose of presenting market risks, AURELIUS conducts a sensitivity analysis according to IFRS 7,
in order to identify the effects on the Group’s equity and financial performance that would result from
assumed, hypothetical changes in relevant risk variables. The hypothetical changes in risk variables are
applied to the holdings of financial instruments at the reporting date, so as to identify the effects
relative to the reporting period. This analysis is conducted under the assumption that the holdings of
financial instruments at December 31, 2010 are representative for the entire year.
If the value of the functional currency had been 10% higher or lower at the reporting date than the other
above-mentioned currencies used in the Group, the presented equity would have been lower or higher,
respectively, by EUR 4,431 thousand.
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The reconciliation of the items presented in the consolidated statement of financial position with the
categories defined in IAS 39 is presented in the table below:

Note

in kEUR
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Financial assets

Current assets
Trade receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Other assets
- thereof financial assets
Cash and cash equivalent

AURELIUS ANNUAL REPORT

Carrying
amount
12/31/2010

Fair Value
12/31/2010

4.3
4,3

LaR
Afs

2,236
497

2,236
497

4,5
4,7
4,8

LaR
FA-FV

193,308
4,172
64,007
30,886
177,194

193,308
4,172
64,007
30,886
177,194

4,9

LaR
LaR

Note

in kEUR
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Financial assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Liabilities under finance leases
Other liabilities

4,14
4,16
4,15

FLAC
FLAC
FLAC

147,982
103
46,366

147,982
103
46,366

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Trade payables
Liabilities under finance leases
Liabilities under long-term construction contracts

4,18
4,19
4,16
4,20

FLAC
FLAC
FLAC
FLAC

39,950
171,354
992
8,512

39,950
171,354
992
8,512

4,7
4,22

FL-FV

136
97,254
70,473

136
97,254
70,473

thereof aggregated by measurement category per IAS 39
Loans and receivables (LaR)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Afs)
Derivative (asset), designated as at fair value (FA-FV)
Derivative (liability) designated as at fair value (FL-FV)

403,624
497
4,172
136

403,624
497
4,172
136

Financial liabilities
Measured at amortized cost (FLAC)

485,732

485,732

Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities
- thereof financial liabilities

122 I

Measurement
category per
IAS 39

In financial year 2010, the line item of “other assets” included financial assets in the amount of EUR
30,886 thousand (PY: EUR 36,353 thousand) and the line item of “other liabilities” included financial
liabilities in the amount of EUR 70,473 thousand (PY: EUR 100,050 thousand). The fair values of derivative
financial instruments are calculated by using discounted present value and option price models.
Whenever possible, the relevant market prices and interest rates taken from recognized external sources
are applied as the inputs for such valuation models. Commitments under finance leases do not fall
within the scope of IAS 39 and are presented separately in accordance with IAS 17. The fair values of financial assets and liabilities with terms to maturity of more than one year are equal to the discounted
present values of the cash flows expected to result from the corresponding assets and liabilities, based
on currently valid interest rate parameters. Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade
payables, current financial assets and liabilities have short terms to maturity, so that their carrying
amounts are generally equal to their fair values.

FLAC

Measurement
category per
IAS 39

Carrying
amount
12/31/201

Fair Value
12/31/2009

4.3
4.3

LaR
Afs

6,750
424

6,750
424

4.5
4.8

LaR

127,989
54,395
36,353
155,595

Kurzfristige Vermögenswerte
Trade receivables
Other assets
- thereof financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

4.9

LaR
LaR

127,989
54,395
36,353
155,595

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Liabilities under finance leases
Other liabilities

4.14
4.16
4.15

FLAC
FLAC
FLAC

47,225
541
29,667

47,225
541
29,667

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Trade payables
Liabilities under finance leases
Liabilities under long-term construction contracts
Other liabilities

4.18
4.19
4.16
4.20
4.22

FLAC
FLAC
FLAC
FLAC
FL-FV

24,186
100,016
725
7,237
70,383

24,186
100,016
725
7,237
70,383

thereof aggregated by measurement categories per IAS 39
Loans and receivables (LaR)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Afs)

326,687
424

326,687
424

Financial liabilities
Measured at amortized cost (FLAC)

279,980

279,980
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The net gains and losses arising from financial instruments in financial years 2010 and 2009 are presented in the table below:
From measurement in subsequent periods
Category
IAS 39

From interest

At fair value

Currency
translation

LaR

53

-/-

302

-5,656

-/-

Afs

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

FA-FV

-/-

1,126

-/-

-/-

-/-

1.126

FLAC

-13,058

-/-

1,341

-/-

3,912

-7,805

FL-FV

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Impairment

On disposal

Net result
2010
-5,301

2.29 Capital management
The overriding objective of AURELIUS’ capital management program is to ensure that the Group can
effectively achieve its goals and strategies, in the interest of its shareholders, employees and other stakeholders. AURELIUS focuses on the acquisition and restructuring of companies in transitional or
exceptional situations. Consequently, the primary objective is to ensure the continued operation of all
Group companies as going concerns and to ensure an optimal balance between equity and debt, for the
benefit of all stakeholders. The greater share of the Group’s capitalization needs is handled by its
operating entities. Capital is monitored on the Group level by means of a regular reporting system, so
that the Group can intervene with support and optimization measures when necessary. Furthermore,
decisions concerning dividend payments and capital measures are made on a case-by-case basis, with
reference to the internal reporting system and in consultation with the subsidiaries.

From measurement in subsequent periods
Category
IAS 39
LaR

From interest

At fair value

Currency
translation

67

-/-

-352

Impairment

-7,553

On disposal

-/-

Net result
2009
-7,838

Afs

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

FA-FV

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

FLAC

-8,087

-/-

-79

-/-

-/-

-8,166

FL-FV

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

The capital managed by way of the Group’s capital management program encompasses current and
non-current liability items, as well as equity components. The development of the Group’s capital
structure over time, as well as the associated change in dependency on external lenders, are measured
by means of the so-called “gearing ratio.” The gearing ratio is calculated with reference to the reporting
date. By reason of the particular market environment in which AURELIUS operates, which entails
unusual capital requirements, as well as the changes that typically occur in the Group’s consolidation
group, its gearing ratio is not as informative as it is for companies operating in other sectors.
Despite the tremendous growth of the AURELIUS Group in financial year 2010, the gearing ratio for 2010
was nearly unchanged from prior years:
Development of the Gearing Ratio
in kEUR
on-current liabilities

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

319,991

165,972

Current liabilities

386,007

283,713

Total liabilities

705,998

449,685

Equity

354,084

229,285

2.0

2.0

Gearing ratio

Unlike the gearing ratio, the net debt of the AURELIUS Group increased in financial year 2010. At the
reporting date of December 31, 2010, the Group’s net debts were backed by equity at the rate of slightly
less than 67.0 percent (PY: 78.0%):
Net Indebtedness
in kEUR
Non-current liabilities

165,972

386,007

283,713

Total liabilities

705,998

449,685

177,194

155,595

Net liabilities

528,804

294,090

Equity

354,084

229,285

1.5

1.3

Net indebtedness
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12/31/2009

319,991

Current liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

3.1

Revenues

3.2

Other operating income

3.3

Income/expenses of companies accounted for by the equity method

3.4

Purchased goods and services

3.5

Personnel expenses

3.6

Other operating expenses

3.7

Net financial income/expenses

3.8

Taxes on income

3.9

Income/expenses from discontinued operations

3.10 Share of the period profit/loss and the comprehensive income or loss
attributable to non-controlling interests
3.11

SCHABMÜLLER / BERCHING / GERMANY

Earnings per share
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3. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
3.1 Revenues

PY: EUR 67 thousand), the processing of pension obligations (EUR 3,968 thousand; PY: EUR 0 thousand)
and the disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets from the consolidation group
(EUR 2,548 thousand; PY: EUR 4,295 thousand), among other factors.

The Group’s revenues break down as follows:
in kEUR

01/01-12/31/2010

01/01-12/31/2009

Revenues from sales of goods

732,057

553,688

Revenues from sales of services

145,976

114,003

Revenues from long-term construction contracts

28,030

43,725

906,063

711,416

29,417

190,825

935,480

902,241

Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total revenues

Income from bargain purchase in the amount of EUR 98,373 thousand, is presented in accordance with
IFRS 3.34, provided that the fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeded the acquisition cost of the business combination. After repeated review, any remaining excess
is recognized immediately in income, in accordance with IFRS 3.36.

3.3 Income/expenses from companies accounted for by the equity method
The expenses of companies accounted for by the equity method, in the amount of EUR -1,119 thousand (PY:
EUR -204 thousand), resulted from Compagnie de Gestion et des Prets SA in the amount of EUR 1,851
thousand (PY: EUR 1,464 thousand) and from the loss on the deconsolidation of Channel21 and the change
in the consolidation method applied for Mode&Preis, in the amount of EUR -2,970 thousand (PY: EUR 1,662 thousand from continuing operations).

As in the prior year, revenues from long-term construction contracts (accounted for by the percentageof-completion method) consisted exclusively of revenues generated by the subsidiaries connectis and
Consinto.

3.4 Purchased goods and services

The breakdown of revenues by geographic regions and by operating segments is presented in the notes
to the Segment Report in Note 5.1 of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements.

in kEUR

The breakdown of purchased goods and services in financial year 2010 is presented in the table below:

Raw materials and supplies

270,813

160,847

Purchased goods

167,270

161,082

The breakdown of other operating income for financial year 2010 is presented in the table below:

Purchased services

46,570

40,593

Other purchased goods and services

49,146

27,165

01/01-12/31/2010

01/01-12/31/2009

Income from bargain purchase

98,373

93,463

Income from the acquisition of loans below nominal value

59,478

4,760

Income from the reversal of provisions

33,451

16,300

Income from the derecognition of liabilities

12,587

2,431

Income from costs charged to third parties

8,394

3,004

Income from exchange rate changes

6,014

808

6,000

8,199

26,409

15,155

250,706

144,120

9,943

52,653

260,649

196,773

Income from deconsolidations
Miscellaneous other operating income
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total other operating income

Total continuing operations

533,799

389,687

Discontinued operations

20,316

106,030

Total purchased goods and services

554,115

495,717

The other purchased goods and services in the amount of EUR 49,146 thousand (PY: EUR 27,165
thousand) consisted mostly of energy costs (EUR 15,268 thousand), other consumable supplies (EUR
14,496 thousand), warehouse costs (EUR 11,548 thousand) and waste disposal costs (EUR 3,184
thousand).

3.5 Personnel expenses
The breakdown of personnel expenses is presented in the table below:
in kEUR
Wages and salaries
Social security, pension and other benefit costs
Total continuing operations

The other operating income of EUR 26,409 thousand (PY: EUR 15,155 thousand) resulted from the
reversal of writedowns that have previously been charged against receivables (EUR 4,651 thousand;
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01/01-12/31/2009

3.2 Other operating income

in kEUR
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01/01-12/31/2010

Discontinued operations
Total personnel expenses

01/01-12/31/2010

01/01-12/31/2009

165,437

138,858

37,266

28,861

202,703

167,719

9,303

34,258

212,006

201,977
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3.6 Other operating expenses

corporate income tax, the solidarity surtax and the German trade tax, came to about 30 percent (PY:
30%) in total.

The breakdown of other operating expenses is presented in the table below:
in kEUR

The reasons for the difference between the expected tax expenses and the actual tax expenses
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income are described below:

01/01-12/31/2010

01/01-12/31/2009

Freight and shipping costs

40,876

30,991

Administration

33,698

34,919

Marketing expenses and commissions

31,444

31,255

Profit/loss before taxes from continuing operations

Buildings and machinery

20,571

18,504

Expected income tax rate

Consulting

15,050

11,402

in kEUR

01/01-12/31/2010

01/01-12/31/2009

177,507

86,460

30%

30%

Expected income tax expenses

53,252

25,938

442

-775

-34,804

-32,129

-9,496

3,682

Office expenses

14,254

9,022

Differing foreign tax expenses

Writedowns on receivables and inventories

8,888

3,623

Tax-exempt income from bargain purchase

Miscellaneous other operating expenses
Total continuing operations

25,475

21,265

190,256

160,981

Discontinued operations

29,846

104,124

Total other operating expenses

220,102

265,105

Significant elements of administrative expenses include other personnel expenses (EUR 11,307
thousand), insurance premiums and fees (EUR 6,509 thousand) and travel and entertainment expenses (EUR 6,442 thousand).
Building and machinery expenses consisted mainly of rental expenses (EUR 11,744 thousand) and
maintenance expenses (EUR 5,093 thousand).

Tax rate differences compared to Group tax rate
Trade tax additions and deductions

187

159

Non-deductible operating expenses

1,487

892

Tax-exempt profits/losses on the sale of investments

275

-769

-9,405

-4,990

Permanent differences from line items of the statement of financial position

-4,710

-1,278

Tax effects of tax rate change

-4,549

-516

Changes in impairments, current year

-3,937

7,669

Non-period income taxes, other

-6,551

3,506

Other effects

17,969

-1,533

160

-144

0.1%

-0.2%

Tax-exempt income

Presented income tax expenses/ income
Effective tax rate

Office expenses consisted mainly of IT expenses (EUR 5,085 thousand) and other communication
expenses (EUR 2,135 thousand).
The miscellaneous other operating expenses consisted mainly of expenses from foreign exchange losses
(EUR 4,371 thousand), expenses for other taxes (EUR 2,461 thousand) and losses on the disposal of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (EUR 2,118 thousand).

3.7 Net financial income/expenses
The other interest and similar income in the amount of EUR 8,925 thousand (PY: EUR 1,685 thousand)
resulted mainly from a dividend paid to RH Retail by a subsidiary that was deconsolidated in financial
year 2010. This item also contained interest income on current accounts and term deposits.
The interest and similar expenses in the amount of EUR 13,058 thousand (PY: EUR 8,087 thousand)
consisted mainly of interest paid on liabilities due to banks.

3.8 Taxes on income
The differences between the actual income tax expenses recognized in the statement of comprehensive
income and the expected income tax expenses are presented in the following reconciliation statement.
The expected income tax expenses were calculated by multiplying the profit/loss before income taxes
by the expected tax rate. The expected income tax rate, which is composed of the statutory German
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The category of “other effects” includes an amount of EUR 10,561 thousand from the carry-back or
expiration of tax losses and from changes in the impairment loss recognized for the current year. The
presented tax expenses (PY: tax income) in the amount of EUR 160 thousand (PY: EUR 144 thousand)
were composed of income tax expenses in the amount of EUR 7,865 thousand (PY: EUR 9,760 thousand)
and income from deferred taxes in the amount of EUR 7,705 thousand (PY: EUR 9,904 thousand).
The tax income (PY: tax expenses) on the period profit or loss from the normal activities of discontinued
operations amounted to EUR 319 thousand (PY: EUR 1,099 thousand).

3.9 Income/expenses from discontinued operations
The provisions of IFRS 5 prescribe special measurement and presentation requirements for discontinued
operations and for non-current assets held for sale.
The purpose of these provisions is to draw a distinction between business operations that are expected to
continue in the future and discontinued business operations, so as to clarify the effects of discontinuation
or disposal plans for the users of financial statements. For that reason, the financial reporting of AURELIUS
is primarily geared to continuing operations, for the sake of improved transparency and comparability.
Therefore, information on discontinued operations is presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated cash
flow statement.
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Additional information on the companies deconsolidated in financial year 2010 is provided in Section 5.4
of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements.
The antennae business of Blaupunkt was sold to the Rosenheimer Kathrein Group in late May 2010.
Whereas the Antenna and Loudspeaker segments were still classified as a disposal group in the
acquisition year 2009, these two segments of Blaupunkt proved to be significant in the wake of the Group’s
restructuring and reorientation. The management of AURELIUS is of the opinion that a separate presentation both in the consolidated statement of financial position and in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income provides more reliable and relevant information because it reflects the actual continuing operations of AURELIUS. The corresponding change of estimate of the management at the reporting
date of December 31, 2010 did not have an effect on the consolidated statement of financial position, nor
on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. At the reporting date, the Loudspeakers segment was classified as discontinued operations within the meaning of IFRS 5. The financial performance
of the Antennae and Loudspeakers segments in the period of affiliation with the AURELIUS Group since
March 9, 2009, and the result from the market valuation of assets and liabilities held for sale are presented in the table below:

Discontinued Operations:
Blaupunkt Antenna and Loudspeakers Divisions
in kEUR

01/01-12/31/2010

03/09-12/31/2009

Income

5,503

14,505

-29,113

-18.852

13

19

-23,597

-4,328

-92

325

-23,689

-4,003

-7,083

-/-

2,178

-/-

-28,594

-4,003

Ongoing expenses
Net financial expense
Earnings before taxes (EBT)
Taxes
Income/expenses from discontinued operations before
non-controlling interests
Remeasurement of assets and liabilities held for sale
Taxes

Discontinued Operations: BCA
in kEUR

01/01-12/31/2010

01/01-12/31/2009

Income

14,535

50,612

-17,608

-33,202

-267

-123

Earnings before taxes (EBT)

-3,340

17,287

Taxes

-2,485

-1,554

Income/expenses from discontinued operations
before non-controlling interests

-5,825

15,733

Remeasurement of assets and liabilities held for sale

-2,081

-/-

758

-/-

-7,148

15,733

Ongoing expenses
Net financial expenses

Taxes
Profit/loss from discontinued operations in the current financial year

On January 27, 2010, CVC Camping Conversion GmbH (formerly: Westfalia Van Conversion GmbH) filed an
application for commencement of insolvency proceedings with the competent local court in Bielefeld, by
reason of imminent insolvency. Following the failure of negotiations between AURELIUS and a French
group, this step was necessary in order to create the basis for a fresh start, so as to secure the company’s
vehicle production for as long as possible. In November 2010, the company was sold by the insolvency
administrator to the RAPIDO Group, a strategic investor from France, thereby preserving all the jobs and
the production site in Germany. The financial performance of the company in the reporting year and in the
prior year is summarized in the table below:

Discontinued Operations: Westfalia Van Conversion
in kEUR

01/01-12/31/2010

01/01-12/31/2009

Income

3,660

32,621

Ongoing expenses

-5,983

-43,055

-4

-210

-2,327

-10,644

-46

214

-2,373

-10,430

Net financial expenses
Profit/loss from discontinued operations in the current financial year

Earnings before taxes (EBT)
Taxes

A decision was made concerning the sale of BCA at the end of 2010. The contract was signed in March 2011.
At December 31, 2010, therefore, AURELIUS classified the BCA Group as discontinued operations within the
meaning of IFRS 5. A summarized income statement of the BCA Group for the reporting year and the prior
year and the result from the market valuation of the corresponding assets and liabilities held for sale are
presented in the table below:
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Profit/loss from discontinued operations before non-controlling interests

After the loss of its most important licensor Tommy Hilfiger in the summer of 2010, Einhorn Mode
Manufaktur lost about 60 percent of its revenues. Because the revenue loss could not be countered either
by acquiring new customers or by quickly adapting the company’s cost structures, Einhorn Mode
Manufaktur GmbH & Co. KG was compelled in August 2010 to file an application for commencement of
insolvency proceedings with the competent local court, by reason of imminent insolvency. The
negotiations that had previously been conducted with a strategic investor were unsuccessful. The income
statements of this corporate group for the reporting year and the prior year are presented in the table
below:
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3.11 Earnings per share

Discontinued Operations: Einhorn Mode Manufaktur
in kEUR

01/01-12/31/2011

01/01-12/31/2009

Income

9,076

27,877

-9,407

-28,146

-79

-139

-410

-408

5

130

-405

-278

Ongoing expenses
Net financial income
Earnings before taxes (EBT)
Taxes
Profit/loss from discontinued operations before non-controlling interests

In accordance with IAS 33 Earnings Per Share, the basic earnings per share have been calculated by
dividing the consolidated profit/loss after non-controlling interests by the average weighted shares
outstanding. For the purpose of calculating the diluted earnings per share, the average number of shares
outstanding was corrected by the number of potentially diluting shares, which consisted exclusively of
stock options issued in connection with the stock option plan. In addition, the consolidated profit/loss
was corrected for the expenses of the stock option plan.

in kEUR

01/01-12/31/2010

01/01-12/31/2009

177,347

86,604

9,209

5,824

Share of profit attributable to shareholders of AURELIUS AG

168,138

80,780

Profit/loss from discontinued operations

-38,520

-5,965

35

40

9,600,000

9,474,120

19,875

111,208

9,619,875

9,585,328

17.51

8.53

from discontinued operations

-4.01

-0.63

from continuing and discontinued operations

13.50

7.90

from continuing operations

17.48

8.43

from discontinued operations

-4.00

-0.62

from continuing and discontinued operations

13.48

7.81

Profit after taxes

3.10 Shares of the period profit/loss and the comprehensive income/loss
attributable to non-controlling interests
The period profit/loss of EUR 129,618 thousand (PY: EUR 74,815 thousand) attributable to shareholders of
the parent company already contains the share of non-controlling interests in the period profit/loss in
the amount of EUR -9,209 thousand (PY: EUR -5,824 thousand).
The comprehensive income/loss of EUR 132,790 thousand (PY: EUR 74,436 thousand) attributable to
shareholders of the parent company already contains the share of non-controlling interests in the
comprehensive income/loss in the amount of EUR -9,346 thousand (PY: EUR -5,824 thousand).

Share of profit attributable to non-controlling interests

Expenses of Stock Option Plan

Average weighted shares outstanding
Effect of potentially diluting shares: Weighted average stock options outstanding
Average weighted shares outstanding for the diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share, in EUR
from continuing operations

Diluted earnings per share, in EUR
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4.1

Intangible assets

4.2

Property, plant and equipment

4.3

Investments and financial assets accounted for by the equity method

4.4

Inventories

4.5

Trade receivables

4.6

Current income tax assets

4.7

Derivatives

4.8

Other assets

4.9

Cash and cash equivalents

4.10 Assets and liabilities held for sale and discontinued operations
4.11

Equity

4.12 Pension obligations
4.13 Provisions
4.14 Non-current financial liabilities
4.15 Other non-current liabilities
4.16 Liabilities under finance leases
4.17 Deferred tax assets and deferred statement liabilities
4.18 Current financial liabilities
4.19 Trade payables
4.20 Liabilities under long-term construction contracts
4.21 Liabilities under the liquor tax
4.22 Other current liabilities

SCHABMÜLLER / BERCHING / GERMANY
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Other intangible
assets

Acquisition or production cost
Balance at January 1, 2009
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Changes in the consolidation group
Acquisitions
Disposals
Transfers
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2009
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Changes in the consolidation group
Acquisitions
Disposals
Transfers
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2010

36,866
10,776
26,090
20,505
2,499
-11,898
28
-2
37,222
1,336
35,886
21,459
3,795
-3,666
-14,239
682
43,917

1,091
-/1,091
-/4
-/1
-/1,096
-/1,096
-4
-/-/-/-/1,092

19,707
675
19,032
12,657
3,601
-130
364
-9
35,515
566
34,949
38,162
5,047
-447
14,239
1,542
93,492

567
-/567
-567
-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-

58,231
11,451
46,780
32,595
6,104
-12,028
393
-11
73,833
1,902
71,931
59,617
8,842
-4,113
-/2,224
138,501

Amortization and impairments
Balance at January 1, 2009
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Acquisitions
Impairments (IAS 36)
Disposals
Transfers
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2009
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Acquisitions
Impairment (IAS 36)
Disposals
Transfers
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2010

-3,395
-411
-2,984
-4,812
-/6,692
-/-3
-1,107
-183
-924
-8,466
-2,585
2,595
-190
-685
-10,255

-4
-/-4
-/-19
-/-/-/-23
-/-23
-/-207
-/-/-/-230

-4,987
-/-4,987
-7,663
-943
2,124
-/4
-11,465
-113
-11,352
-8,537
-2,494
3,451
190
-810
-19,552

-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-

-8,386
-411
-7,975
-12,475
-962
8,816
-/1
-12,595
-296
-12,299
-17,003
-5,286
6,046
-/-1,495
-30,037

Carrying amount at December 31, 2009
Carrying amount at December 31, 2010

36,115
33,662

1,073
862

24,050
73,940

-/-/-

61,238
108,464

4.1 Intangible assets
Intangible assets in the amount of EUR 108,464 thousand (PY: EUR 61,238 thousand) are mainly
composed of software, industrial property rights, trademarks, orders on hand, customer relationships
and goodwill. The increase in this item compared to the prior year resulted from the acquisitions of the
AURELIUS Group in the reporting period.
In connection with the purchase price allocations according to IFRS 3, additional intangible assets
besides purchased intangible assets were identified and capitalized. Such intangible assets consisted
particularly of trademarks with definite useful lives, technologies, capitalized development expenses,
customer relationships and orders on hand.
For the purpose of conducting impairment tests, brands with indefinite useful lives and goodwill are
assigned to cash-generating units. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined as
the fair value less the costs to sell. Because directly observable market prices generally do not exist for
the intangible assets in question, the fair value is determined by discounting future cash flows to
present value. In financial year 2010, it was necessary to write down the value of certain assets, the
recoverable amounts of which were less than their carrying amounts. The corresponding impairment
losses recognized in financial year 2010 amounted to EUR 5,286 thousand (PY: EUR 962 thousand).
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Total

Goodwill

in kEUR

Advance payments

Intangible assets in the amount of EUR 154 thousand (PY: EUR 1,077 thousand) have been pledged as
security for the Group’s financial liabilities.

Franchises, industrial
property rights and
similar rights and
licenses

4. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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As a result of the impairment tests conducted in accordance with IAS 36, it was necessary to write
down the carrying amounts of certain assets to their lower recoverable amounts. The corresponding
impairment losses recognized in financial year 2010 amounted to EUR 606 thousand (PY: EUR 505 thousand).
Of the total property, plant and equipment, an amount of EUR 31,534 thousand (PY: EUR 16,241
thousand) has been pledged as security for financial liabilities and an amount of EUR 632 thousand (PY:
EUR 6,610 thousand) has been pledged as security for other liabilities.

Balance at January 1, 2009
iscontinued operations
Continuing operations
Changes in consolidation group
Acquisitions
Disposals
Transfers
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2009
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Changes in consolidation group
Acquisitions
Disposals
Transfers
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2010
Depreciation and impairments
Balance at January 1, 2009
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Acquisitions
Impairment (IAS 36)
Disposals
Transfers
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2009
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Acquisitions
Impairment (IAS 36)
Disposals
Transfers
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2010
Carrying amount at December 31, 2009
Carrying amount at December 31, 2010
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Total

Advance payments
and assets under
construction

Acquisition or production cost

Other equipment,
operational and
office equipment

in kEUR

Technical equipment,
plant and machinery

Property, plant and equipment in the total amount of EUR 304,507 thousand (PY: EUR 119,643
thousand) included leased operational and office equipment in the amount of EUR 631 thousand (PY:
EUR 1,036 thousand), leased buildings, including buildings on non-owned land, in the amount of EUR
762 thousand (PY: EUR 848 thousand), and leased technical equipment, plant and machinery in the
amount of EUR 5,368 thousand (PY: EUR 5,708 thousand). The corresponding assets are classified as
finance leases by reason of the contract formulation and therefore AURELIUS is considered to be the
economic owner of those assets. The leases relate to operational and office equipment at connectis and
the Berentzen Group, land and buildings at Sit-Up TV, CalaChem and SECOP, and production facilities at
the Berentzen Group, Schleicher Electronic and CalaChem.

Buildings, including
buildings on nonowned land

4.2 Property, plant and equipment

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Land, leasehold rights

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9,335

33,717

63,666

39,435

516

146,669

279
9,056
3,353
3,167
-882
1,013
1
15,708
2,984
12,724
5,395
14,189
-933
-/4
31,379

1,320
32,397
1,248
9,539
-3,034
-1,009
19
39,160
2,558
36,602
17,996
11,293
-126
25
146
65,936

8,246
55,420
9,439
8,228
-5,925
-904
2
66,260
883
65,377
147,428
11,118
-13,731
1,676
431
212,298

8,879
30,556
9,175
11,106
-5,094
3
13
45,759
134
45,625
918
4,466
-4,159
398
642
47,890

273
243
-/682
-495
504
-1
933
-/933
11,769
4,094
-/-2,099
64
14,761

18,997
127,672
23,215
32,722
-15,430
-393
34
167,820
6,559
161,261
183,506
45,160
-18,949
-/1,287
372,264

-326
-213
-113
-84
-53
107
-/-/-143
-40
-103
-/-98
93
-/-/-108

-6,775
-569
-6,206
-3,388
-/137
-/3
-9,454
-129
-9,325
-2,460
-492
113
-/-34
-12,198

-20,196
-1,736
-18,460
-11,556
-179
10,254
125
15
-19,801
-225
-19,576
-23,797
-/10,549
-8
-128
-32,958

-13,087
-421
-12,666
-8,177
-273
2,472
-/-5
-18,649
-78
-18,571
-7,527
-16
4,001
-12
-255
-22,378

-/-/-/-/-/-/-125
-5
-130
-/-130
-/-/-/20
-5
-115

-40,384
-2,939
-37,445
-23,205
-505
12,970
-/8
-48,177
-472
-47,705
-33,784
-606
14,756
-/-418
-67,757

15,565
31,271

29,706
53,738

46,459
179,340

27,110
25,512

803
14,646

119,643
304,507
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4.3 Investments and financial assets accounted for by the equity method
Investments accounted for by the equity method
The only item assigned to this category in financial year 2010 was the investment in Compagnie de
Gestion et des Prêts (PY: EUR 15,405 thousand and other EUR 3,369 thousand), in which the AURELIUS
Group held a 34.9 percent equity share, unchanged from the prior year.
The assets and liabilities of Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts are presented in aggregated form in the
table below:
Assets and liabilities
in kEUR
Assets
Liabilities

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

368,015

454,305

311,257

415,046

The period profit/loss of Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts is presented in the List of Shareholdings in
Note 5.17 (PY: EUR 3,623 thousand).
Shares in non-consolidated subsidiaries
The item of financial assets also included shares in non-consolidated subsidiaries. Both individually and
in total, those companies are immaterial for the AURELIUS Group. Such shares included shares in the
Berentzen Group, in the amount of EUR 361 thousand (PY: EUR 361 thousand), and shares held by the
Blaupunkt Group in its non-consolidated subsidiaries, in the amount of EUR 80 thousand (PY: EUR 30
thousand).
Financial assets measured at amortized cost
The item of financial assets also included investments held by AURELIUS, in the amount of EUR 13 thousand (PY: EUR 13 thousand), investments held by RH Retail, in the amount of EUR 23 thousand (PY: EUR
0 thousand) and investments held by the Berentzen Group, in the amount of EUR 20 thousand (PY: EUR
20 thousand).
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This item also included loans with a remaining term to maturity of longer than one year, in the
amount of EUR 2,236 thousand (PY: EUR 5,309 thousand).

in kEUR
Acquisition or production cost
Balance at January 1, 2009
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Changes in consolidation group
Acquisitions
Disposals
Transfers
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2009
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Changes in consolidation group
Acquisitions
Disposals
Transfers
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2010

Shares in associated
companies

Other financial
assets

Total

26,783
67
26,716
3
-/-1,273
-6,670
-/18,776
-/18,776
-2,246
1,285
-803
-/-/17,012

1,186
-/1,186
-959
604
-315
6,670
-/7,186
-/7,186
400
1,011
-5,852
-/-/2,745

27,969
67
27,902
-956
604
-1,588
-/-/25,962
-/25,962
-1,846
2,296
-6,655
-/-/19,757

Impairments
Balance at January 1, 2009
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Acquisitions
Impairments (IAS 36)
Disposals
Transfers
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2009
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Acquisitions
Impairments (IAS 36)
Disposals
Transfers
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2010

-4,135
-/-4,135
-/-/-/4,135
-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-

-/-/-/-12
-/4,135
-4,135
-/-12
-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-12

-4,135
-/-4,135
-12
-/4,135
-/-/-12
-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-12

Carrying amount at December 31, 2009
Carrying amount at December 31, 2010

18,776
17,012

7,174
2,733

25,950
19,745
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4.4 Inventories

4.6 Current income tax assets

The breakdown of inventories is presented in the table below:

Current income tax assets in the total amount of EUR 6,959 thousand (PY: EUR 2,942 thousand) were
mainly held by AURELIUS AG, in the amount of EUR 2,250 thousand (PY: EUR 1,806 thousand), RH Retail
in the amount of EUR 2,117 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), the ISOCHEM Group in the amount of EUR
737 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) and the Berentzen Group in the amount of EUR 717 thousand (PY:
EUR 109 thousand).

in kEUR

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

Finished goods and trading stock

76,465

45,657

Raw materials and supplies

52,909

24,124

Semi-finished goods and services

21,736

17,613

Advance payments received

4

173

Total continuing operations

151,114

87,567

Discontinued operations

3,580

6,110

154,694

93,677

Total inventories

4.7 Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments are held exclusively by SECOP in the form of copper futures, the
purpose of which is to hedge the cash flow variations related to future purchases of the raw material
copper.

4.8 Other assets
Inventories of finished goods and trading stock were held primarily by SECOP, in the amount of EUR
17,645 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), by the ISOCHEM Group in the amount of EUR 12,034 thousand
(PY: EUR 0 thousand), by Blaupunkt in the amount of EUR 10,065 thousand (PY: EUR 4,913 thousand), by
Sit-Up TV in the amount of EUR 9,876 thousand (PY: EUR 6,341 thousand), by Wellman International in
the amount of EUR 9,353 thousand (PY: EUR 8,531 thousand), and by the Berentzen Group in the amount
of EUR 9,046 thousand (PY: EUR 11,178 thousand).
Inventories of raw materials and supplies were held mainly by SECOP, in the amount of EUR 21,345
thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), by Wellman International in the amount of EUR 10,594 thousand (PY:
EUR 6,726 thousand), by the Berentzen Group in the amount of EUR 5,534 thousand (PY: EUR 6,609
thousand) and by the ISOCHEM Group in the amount of EUR 5,297 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand).
Inventories of semi-finished goods and services were held primarily by the Berentzen Group, in the
amount of EUR 6,305 thousand (PY: EUR 8,184 thousand), by the Schabmüller Group in the amount of
EUR 4,403 thousand (PY: EUR 2,906 thousand) and by connectis, in the amount of EUR 4,044 thousand
(PY: EUR 2,176 thousand).

The item of other assets breaks down as follows:
Vermögenswerte und Schulden
in kEUR
Tax assets
Advance payments rendered

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

17,301

7,555

10,926

12,343

Factoring receivables

7,904

8,280

Prepaid expenses

2,925

1,640

Insurance claims

10,985

2,703

Other receivables due from investee companies
Other
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total other assets

79

9,751

13,887

12,123

64,007

54,395

744

2,141

64,751

56,536

Of the total inventories, an amount of EUR 111 thousand (PY: EUR 958 thousand) has been pledged as
security for financial liabilities.

The “other” sub-item consisted mainly of receivables from sales of non-current assets (EUR 2,001
thousand), receivables due from suppliers with debit accounts (EUR 1,625 thousand) and security
deposit receivables (EUR 681 thousand).

4.5 Trade receivables

4.9 Cash and cash equivalents

Of the total trade receivables in the amount of EUR 193,308 thousand (PY: EUR 127,989 thousand),
SECOP held EUR 77,521 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), the Berentzen Group held EUR 23,929 thousand
(PY: EUR 28,028 thousand), Wellman International held EUR 20,841 thousand (PY: EUR 21,282 thousand),
the ISOCHEM Group held EUR 16,159 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), Blaupunkt held EUR 13,254
thousand (PY: EUR 33,338 thousand) and connectis held EUR 13,101 thousand (PY: EUR 11,054 thousand).
All receivables are due in one year or less.

Of the total amount of EUR 177,194 thousand (PY: EUR 155,595 thousand), Blaupunkt held EUR 42,417
thousand (PY: EUR 70,355 thousand), SECOP held EUR 26,084 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), Sit-Up TV
held EUR 24,589 thousand (PY: EUR 32,458 thousand), the Berentzen Group held EUR 13,437 thousand
(PY: EUR 5,263 thousand) and AURELIUS AG held EUR 11,850 thousand (PY: EUR 27,925 thousand). Of the
total cash and cash equivalents, an amount of EUR 21,762 thousand (PY: EUR 2,823 thousand) has been
pledged as security (“restricted cash”).

Of the total receivables, an amount of EUR 1,675 thousand (PY: EUR 6,613 thousand) has been pledged
as security for financial liabilities.
For information on the default risk, maturity analysis and risk concentration of receivables, please refer
to Note 2.28 of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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4.10 Assets and liabilities held for sale and discontinued operations

The structure of the assets and liabilities held for sale of the Blaupunkt Division at the reporting date
of December 31, 2010 is presented in the table below:

The item presented in the consolidated statement of financial position at December 31, 2010 mainly
consisted of the assets and liabilities of BCA and the Loudspeakers Division of Blaupunkt, which are
supposed to be sold in 2011. All these assets and liabilities are assignable to the Retail segment.

Discontinued Operations: Blaupunkt Loudspeakers Division
in kEUR

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5, an impairment test was conducted before reclassifying
assets as assets held for sale, in order to determine if the fair value less costs to sell may possibly be less
than the carrying amount. The items described below have been measured at the lower of their fair value
less foreseeable costs to sell or their carrying amount to date. The fair value less costs to sell is
determined on an aggregated level and compared with the sum of the corresponding carrying amounts.
A decision was made regarding the sale of BCA at the end of 2010. The corresponding contract was signed
in March 2011. Consequently, AURELIUS classified the BCA Group as discontinued operations within the
meaning of IFRS 5 at December 31, 2010.

12/31/2010

ASSETS
Non-current financial assets
Inventories
Trade receivables, other assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets of the disposal group

6
3,115
1,069
334
4,524

LIABILITIES
Provisions

599

The assets and liabilities of this group at December 31, 2010 are presented in the table below:

Trade payables

2,949

Discontinued Operations: BCA

Other liabilities

1,138

Liabilities of the disposal group
in kEUR
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables, other assets

4,686

12/31/2010
Net assets of the disposal group

-162

4,785
465
2,323

Cash and cash equivalents

4,200

Assets of the disposal group

11,773

4.11 Equity
The share capital of AURELIUS AG in the amount of EUR 9,600,000 (PY: EUR 9,600,000) is fully paid in.
It is divided into 9,600,000 no-par shares, each representing a proportional share of capital equal to
EUR 1.00. There were 9,600,000 shares outstanding at December 31, 2010.

LIABILITIES
Pension obligations
Provisions
Trade payables
Other liabilities
Liabilities of the disposal group

Net assets of the disposal group

384
393
1,457
337
2,571

9,202

The assets and liabilities of the Loudspeakers Division of Blaupunkt were likewise classified as held for
sale within the meaning of IFRS 5 at the reporting date of December 31, 2010, because the management
of AURELIUS has been conducting contract negotiations with potential buyers already for a longer
period of time.
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Additional paid-in capital
The additional paid-in capital of AURELIUS amounted to EUR 15,813 thousand (PY: EUR 15,778 thousand).
It was increased by EUR 35 thousand in financial year 2010 as a result of expenses related to stock
options. At the reporting date of December 31, 2010, the item of stock options granted to employees
amounted to EUR 75 thousand (PY: EUR 40 thousand).
Non-controlling interests
The adjustment item for non-controlling interests in the amount of EUR 40,291 thousand (PY: EUR
35,812 thousand) was related to the Berentzen Group.
Utilization of net profit
In financial year 2010, a dividend of EUR 10,752 thousand was paid to shareholders from the
distributable profit of AURELIUS AG for financial year 2009, in the amount of EUR 28,015 thousand, by
virtue of the corresponding resolution of the annual general meeting of July 27, 2010. That corresponds
to a dividend of EUR 1.12 per share.
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Under the German Stock Corporations Act, the amount of dividend that can be paid to shareholders is
determined on the basis of the distributable profit presented in the separate financial statements of
AURELIUS AG, which are drawn up in accordance with the accounting regulations of the German
Commercial Code. The profit utilization proposal of the Executive Board of AURELIUS AG states that the
company will pay a dividend of EUR 1.30 per share from the distributable profit presented in the
separate, commercial-law financial statements for 2010, in the amount of EUR 28,557 thousand. That
corresponds to a total dividend pay-out of EUR 12,480 thousand. Under the profit utilization proposal,
an amount of EUR 16,077 thousand will be carried forward to new account. If the company holds
treasury shares, which do not qualify for dividends pursuant to Section 71b AktG, on the day of the
annual general meeting, the dividend attributable to such treasury shares will be carried forward to
new account.
Authorized Capital
The Authorized Capital of July 6, 2009 (Authorized Capital 2009/I) was not utilized in financial year
2010. At the reporting date of December 31, 2009, therefore, the amount was unchanged at EUR
4,661,125. By resolution of the annual general meeting of July 27, 2010, the existing Authorized Capital
(Authorized Capital 2009/I) was annulled. By virtue of the same resolution, a new Authorized Capital
(Authorized Capital 2010/I) was created. Under that resolution, the Executive Board is authorized, with
the consent of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital by a total of up to EUR 4,800,000 on
one or more occasions in the time until July 26, 2015, by issuing up to 4,800,000 new bearer shares,
each representing a proportional share of capital equal to EUR 1.00, in exchange for cash or in-kind
capital contributions. In certain cases, the Executive Board is authorized, with the consent of the
Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscription right of shareholders. The Executive Board is authorized,
with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to define the share rights and the terms and conditions of
issue and to establish further particulars related to the conduct of the capital increase. At the
reporting date, the Authorized Capital still amounted to EUR 4,800,000.
Contingent Capital
By virtue of the resolution adopted by the annual general meeting on June 27, 2007, as well as the
corresponding entry in the Commercial Register of August 16, 2007 and the corresponding amendment
to the Articles of Incorporation of August 27, 2007, the company’s share capital was increased on a
contingent basis by up to EUR 1,717,660, divided into 1,717,660 bearer shares, each representing a
proportional share of capital equal to EUR 1.00 (Contingent Capital 2007/I). The Contingent Capital
2007/I serves the purpose of granting exchange rights or subscription rights for up to 200,000 convertible bonds, each with a nominal value of EUR 100.00, which the Executive Board is authorized to issue
in the time until June 26, 2012 by virtue of the authorization of the annual general meeting of June 27,
2007. The granting of such exchange rights or subscription rights is a precondition for exercising the
Contingent Capital 2007/I. By resolution of the annual general meeting of June 27, 2007, along with the
corresponding entry in the Commercial Register of August 16, 2007 and the corresponding amendment
to the Articles of Incorporation of August 27, 2007, the company’s share capital was increased on a
contingent basis by up to EUR 343,560, divided into 343,560 bearer shares, each representing a
proportional share of capital equal to EUR 1.00 (Contingent Capital 2007/II). The Contingent Capital
2007/IIserves the purpose of granting subscription rights (stock options) to selected members of the
company’s Executive Board, as well as selected members of the management of affiliated companies
and selected employees of the company and affiliated companies (stock option beneficiaries), in
connection with the AURELIUS Stock Option Plan 2007. At the reporting date, a total of 19,875 stock
options had been granted to beneficiaries.
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Purchase of treasury shares
By resolution of the annual general meeting of July 6, 2009, the Executive Board was authorized, in
accordance with Section 71 (1) (8) AktG, to purchase treasury shares of an amount equal to up to 10% of
the current share capital, in the time until the end of January 5, 2011. The Executive Board has not yet
acted under this resolution. The above-mentioned resolution was annulled by resolution of the annual
general meeting of July 27, 2010 and replaced with a new authorization, limited in time until July 26, 2015.
Under the new resolution, the Executive Board is authorized, in accordance with Section 71 (1) (8) AktG,
to purchase treasury shares of an amount equal to up to 10% of the current share capital, in the time
until the end of July 26, 2015.
The purpose of this authorization is to enable the Executive Board to offer shares of the company for sale
to institutional investors in Germany and abroad, and to adjust the company’s equity in a flexible
manner to reflect the business needs of the company, and to respond quickly to stock market situations,
while upholding the interests of shareholders. Furthermore, the authorization enables the company to
offer treasury shares as consideration for the acquisition of companies or investments in companies.
Finally, the resolution is meant to enable the company to use treasury shares to settle the stock options
granted to selected members of the Executive Board, selected employees of the management of affiliated companies and selected employees of the company and affiliated companies in connection with the
SOP 2007.

4.12 Pension obligations
The pension provisions in the total amount of EUR 35,133 thousand (PY: EUR 32,977 thousand) were
divided among the various subsidiaries as follows: EUR 9,831 thousand (PY: EUR 10,198 thousand) for the
Berentzen Group, EUR 7,687 thousand (PY: EUR 7,436 thousand) for Consinto, EUR 7,414 thousand (PY:
EUR 6,492 thousand) for Blaupunkt, EUR 4,295 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) for the ISOCHEM Group,
EUR 3,216 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) for SECOP and EUR 2,168 thousand (PY: EUR 2,088 thousand)
for the Schabmüller Group. Thus, the increase over the prior-year figure resulted almost exclusively
from the first-time consolidation of the ISOCHEM Group and SECOP. Countervailing effects included
the deconsolidation of Einhorn Mode Manufaktur (PY: EUR 3,343 thousand) and the reversal of the
pension fund of Wellman International (PY: EUR 2,431 thousand).
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The carrying amounts of pension obligations under the defined benefit plans in effect at the companies of the AURELIUS Group exhibited the following changes in financial year 2010:
Vermögenswerte und Schulden
in kEUR
Projected unit credit value of pension commitments at 01/01
Changes in consolidation group
Current service cost
Interest expenses
Pension benefits paid
Plan changes/transfers
Projected unit credit value of pension commitments at 12/31
Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+)
Plan changes
Exchange rate changes
Projected unit credit value of pension commitments at 12/31
Fair value of plan assets at 01/01
Changes in consolidation group
Pension benefits paid
Expected income (+) or losses (-) from plan assets
Plan changes/transfers
Expected fair value of plan assets at 12/31
Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+)
Fair value of plan assets at 12/31
Projected unit credit value of pension commitments at 12/31
less fair value of plan assets at 12/31
Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+)
Non-capitalized assets of plan assets
Net accounting obligation at 12/31

2010
35,111
5,497
2,208
928
1,429
3,404
38,911
-2,759
-697
1
40,974

2009
15,257
15,254
2,494
6,310
3,413
-/35,902
-2,040
-2,831
-/35,111

4,197
135
92
66
-2,431
1,875
16
1,891

-/1,623
1,270
-/-/353
3,844
4,197

40,974
1,891
3,972
22
35,133

35,111
4,197
368
2,431
32,977

The following expenses and income were presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for 2010:

in kEUR

01/01-12/31/2010

01/01-12/31/2009

928

6,367

Current service cost

2,208

2,586

Expected income from plan assets

3,468

-/-

4

-2,831

-4

-/-

Interest expenses

Effect of maximum limit per IAS 19,58
Deduction as per IAS 19,58
Plan changes/transfers
Recognition of actuarial gains (+) / losses (-)
Total pension expenses

-1,949

-/-

481

938

-1,800

7,060

The corridor method was applied for the purpose of recognizing actuarial gains and losses. Under that
method, unrealized actuarial gains and losses are recognized in income only when they exceed 10% of
the defined benefit obligation and only in the exceeding amount. The period over which the exceeding
amount is recognized in income is the expected average remaining working lives of active employees
at the calculation date. For the AURELIUS Group, that period is a maximum of 19.2 years.
The calculations were conducted on the basis of the following actuarial assumptions:
12/31/2010
4.50% - 4.90%

5.30%

Salary trend

0.00% - 3.50%

0.00% - 3.50%

Pension trend
Employee turnover

Present value of defined benefit
obligation (DBO)
Fair value of plan assets
Net obligation

1.00% - 2.25%
0.00% - 4.50%

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

12/31/2008

12/31/2007

12/31/2006

40,974

35,111

20,672

11,902

8,066

1,891

4,197

-/-

-/-

-/-

39,083

30,914

20,672

11,902

8,066

Plan assets
There were two pension plans in effect at Wellman International, which were administered by the
company’s own trust companies (Wellman International Trustees Staff Ltd. and Wellman International
Trustees Works Ltd.). At the end of 2010, both pension plans were dissolved after negotiations were
conducted and an agreement was reached with the affected employees. The dissolution generated
income in the total amount of EUR 2,388 thousand.
There is a pension plan in effect at CalaChem, which was consolidated in the AURELIUS Group for the
first time in financial year 2010; this pension plan is administered by a trust company (CalaChem UK
Pension Fund).
The balance of net plan assets at December 31, 2010 and the amounts of expected return on plan assets
per category, which are contained in the fair value of plan assets, are presented in the table below:
Pension obligations / Plan assets CalaChem

Equities
Real estate
Government bonds
Corporate bonds
Other assets
Total expected return

AURELIUS ANNUAL REPORT

1.00% - 3.50%
0.00% - 10.00%

The changes in net obligations under the projected unit-credit method over the last five years are
presented in the table below:

Category

150 I

12/31/2009

Discount factor

Expected return

Fair value

12/31/2010

12/31/2010
kEUR

8.00%
8.00%
4.25%
5.00%
0.00 - 1.50 %
5.11%

3,360
14,324
38,882
79,265
1,920
137,751

Expected
return
12/31/2009

-/-/-/-/-/-/-

Fair value
12/31/2009
kEUR

-/-/-/-/-/-/-
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This amount is the total amount of plan assets, which can only be used to satisfy pension
commitments and would not be available to creditors in the event of insolvency.

4.13 Provisions
The structure of provisions at the reporting date of December 31, 2010 is presented in the table below:

The changes in net plan assets relative to pension obligations, which are based on an expert actuarial
opinion, are presented in the table below:
Vermögenswerte und Schulden
in kEUR
Fair value of plan assets
Fair value of pension obligation
Net plan assets

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

137,751

-/-

-115,047

-/-

22,704

-/-

In accordance with IAS 19.58B, net plan assets were not recognized as assets in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
The projected unit-credit amount of pension obligations arising from the plan assets showed the
following changes in financial year 2010:

01/01/2010

in kEUR
Onerous contracts
Warranty
Restructuring
Commissions
Personnel
Miscellaneous other provisions
Total provisions

17,059
12,635
6,035
2,795
1,262
11,489
51,275

Change in
consolidation group

-45
3,913
9,138
389
1,492
6,959
21,846

Utilization

-2,589
-3,167
-3,318
-1,190
-583
-2,707
-13,554

Appropriation

4,529
588
7,541
1,957
609
4,709
19,933

Reversal

-14,070
-8,940
-1,831
-/-679
-7,931
-33,451

12/31/2010

4,884
5,029
17,565
3,951
2,101
12,519
46,049

The significant decrease in provisions for onerous contracts from EUR 17,059 thousand in the prior year
to EUR 4,884 thousand in financial year 2010 resulted mainly from the reversals at Blaupunkt, where
risk provisions were reduced substantially as a result of the sale of the antenna business.

Vermögenswerte und Schulden
in kEUR
Balance at 01/01

2010

2009

109,483

-/-

Interest expenses

6,220

-/-

Current service cost

1,693

-/-

517

-/-

Pension benefits paid

-2,894

-/-

Deduction expenses

-4,435

-/-

Actuarial gains (+) / losses (-)

4,463

-/-

115,047

-/-

Contributions of pension beneficiaries

Balance at 12/31

The following actuarial assumptions were applied for the purpose of measuring the value of plan
assets:
Vermögenswerte und Schulden
12/31/2010

12/31/2009

5.25%

-/-

-/-

-/-

Pension trend

3.30%

-/-

Inflation rate

3.50%

-/-

Discount factor
Salary trend

At EUR 5,029 thousand, the provisions for warranty obligations were EUR 7,606 thousand lower than
the corresponding prior-year figure (PY: EUR 12,635 thousand), mainly as a result of the reversal of
provisions at Blaupunkt.
The restructuring provisions in the total amount of EUR 17,565 thousand (PY: EUR 6,035 thousand)
consisted mainly of provisions for personnel measures, risk provisions and moving costs. The increase
over the prior-year figure resulted almost exclusively from the first-time consolidation of SECOP and
the ISOCHEM Group.
The personnel provisions in the total amount of EUR 2,101 thousand (PY: EUR 1,262 thousand) consisted
exclusively of provisions for employee anniversary bonuses, in the amount of EUR 1,633 thousand (PY:
EUR 1,110 thousand), and provisions for partial early retirement arrangements (known in Germany as
Altersteilzeit), in the amount of EUR 468 thousand (PY: EUR 152 thousand).
The miscellaneous other provisions in the total amount of EUR 12,519 thousand (PY: EUR 11,489
thousand) consisted of provisions for major repairs, provisions for site restoration obligations and
various other individual obligations, among other provisions.
The maturity structure of provisions is presented in the table below:
Vermögenswerte und Schulden
in kEUR

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

11,813

21,944

Current provisions

34,236

29,331

Total other provisions

46,049

51,275

Non-current provisions
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4.14 Non-current financial liabilities

4.16 Liabilities under finance leases

The breakdown of non-current financial liabilities is presented in the table below:
Vermögenswerte und Schulden

The Group’s property, plant and equipment comprise buildings, including buildings on non-owned
land, as well as technical equipment, plant and machinery and operational and office equipment, which
are attributable to the AURELIUS Group as the economic owner by reason of the formulation of the
underlying leases (finance leases). The resulting lease obligations of the AURELIUS Group in the
reporting period and the prior period are presented in the table below:

in kEUR

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

57,777

23,576

Other financial liabilities

90,205

23,649

Total continuing operations

147,982

47,225

596

2,256

148,579

49,481

Liabilities due to banks

Discontinued operations
Total non-current financial liabilities

in kEUR at 12/31/2010

Nominal value

Discount

Present value

1,005

13

992

103

-/-

103

- Due in more than five years

-/-

-/-

-/-

Total continuing operations

1,108

13

1,095

-/-

-/-

-/-

1,108

13

1,095

Nominal value

Discount

Present value

- Due in one year or less

769

44

725

- Due in one to five years

551

10

541

- Due in one year or less
- Due in one to five years

Liabilities due to banks existed mainly at Reederei Peter Deilmann, in the amount of EUR 26,806
thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), as well as in connection with the acquisition of the real estate
portfolio leased by the GHOTEL Group, in the amount of EUR 14,700 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), and
Wellman International, in the amount of EUR 5,623 thousand (PY: EUR 7,000 thousand).

Discontinued operations
Total commitments under finance leases

The other financial liabilities mainly consisted of liabilities due to third parties of SECOP, in the amount
of EUR 60,458 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), and liabilities of Reederei Peter Deilmann, in the amount
of EUR 18,224 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand).

in kEUR at 12/31/2009

The increase in this item resulted particularly from the financing of the acquisition of SECOP and the
real estate portfolio leased by GHOTEL Group.

- Due in more than five years

-/-

-/-

-/-

Total continuing operations

1,320

54

1,266

4.15 Other non-current liabilities

Discontinued operations

-/-

-/-

-/-

1,320

54

1,266

Total commitments under finance leases

The other non-current liabilities in the amount of EUR 46,366 thousand (PY: EUR 29,667 thousand)
consisted mainly of obligations under purchase price adjustment clauses (earn-outs), the occurrence of
which is deemed to be probable, which resulted from the acquisition of shares in companies.
At the reporting date of December 31, 2010, the fair value of earn-out liabilities classified as financial
liabilities measured at amortized cost amounted to EUR 24,724 thousand (PY: EUR 26,015 thousand).
The fair values were calculated using the acquisition method in connection with the purchase price
allocation process conducted in respect of acquired companies. When such fair values are determined
with reference to expected profits and losses, they are updated on the basis of the budgets of the
affected companies.
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4.17 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
Deferred taxes result from differences in the values presented in the consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS and the corresponding tax bases, and from consolidation measures.
AURELIUS recognized deferred tax assets in respect of corporate income tax and trade tax loss
carry-forwards of Group companies for the first time in financial year 2010. The total amount of
corporate income tax loss carry-forwards applied for this purpose was EUR 4,577 thousand (PY: EUR
106,803 thousand) and the total amount of trade tax loss carry-forwards was EUR 433 thousand (PY:
EUR 6,331 thousand). No deferred tax assets were recognized in respect of other corporate income tax
loss carry-forwards (EUR 145,475 thousand; PY: EUR 106,803 thousand) and other trade tax loss
carry-forwards (EUR 31,233 thousand; PY: EUR 6,331 thousand), due to statutory or economic restrictions
on the application of such tax loss carry-forwards. In Germany, tax loss carry-forwards can be fully set off
against positive taxable profits in every tax assessment period up to an amount of EUR 1,000 thousand;

AURELIUS ANNUAL REPORT

I 155

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

beyond that amount, corporate income tax and trade tax loss carry-forwards can be set off against
positive taxable profit only at the rate of 60 percent (minimum taxation). As a general rule, such tax
loss carry-forwards are not subject to any temporal limitations; since the introduction of the SEStEG on
December 13, 2006, however, they can no longer be transferred to other companies in connection with
mergers or similar transactions. In Germany, the provisions of Section 8c KStG introduced in connection
with the business tax reform of 2008 must be observed. Deferred tax assets are not recognized in
respect of tax loss carry-forwards that existed in acquired companies at the acquisition date.
At every reporting date, tax loss carry-forwards are reviewed individually to determine whether they
can be applied in the future. By reason of the particular aspects of the business model of AURELIUS, the
decision on recognizing tax loss carry-forwards is made with reference to an individual planning
period of one to three years.

4.18 Current financial liabilities
The breakdown of current financial liabilities at the reporting date of December 31, 2010 is presented in
the table below:
Vermögenswerte und Schulden
in kEUR

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

Liabilities due to banks

33,882

19,824

Other financial liabilities

6,068

4,362

39,950

24,186

Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total current financial liabilities

8

137

39,958

24,323

The deferred tax assets and liabilities break down as follows:
Deferred tax assets
in kEUR
Inventories

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

92

-/-

Current assets

6,293

628

Pension provisions

2,160

656

Other provisions

2,609

3,188

Liabilities
Tax loss carry-forwards
Impairments
Total deferred tax assets

2,222

4,239

630

32,987

-7

-32,987

13,999

8,711

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

16,992

10,842

Deferred tax liabilities
in kEUR
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Non-current financial assets
Inventories
Receivables and other current assets

2,654

2,002

38,405

2,623

-/-

207

2,838

2,838

Tax adjustment items from company acquisitions

18,578

18,896

Total deferred tax liabilities

79,467

37,408

The tax adjustment items resulted from additional payments by the seller of the Blaupunkt business
activities in financial year 2009 in connection with an asset deal.

The financial liabilities due to banks related mainly to SECOP, in the amount of EUR 15,000 thousand
(PY: EUR 0 thousand), Wellman International in the amount of EUR 7,245 thousand (PY: EUR 6,608
thousand), the Berentzen Group in the amount of EUR 3,051 thousand (PY: EUR 7,780 thousand),
Schleicher Electronic in the amount of EUR 2,950 thousand (PY: EUR 2,208 thousand) and DFA Transport und Logistik in the amount of EUR 1,174 thousand (PY: EUR 1,019 thousand).
The other financial liabilities were composed in particular of liabilities due to third parties at LD
Didactic, in the amount of EUR 2,500 thousand (PY: EUR 1,470 thousand).

4.19 Trade payables
Trade payables in the total amount of EUR 171,354 thousand (PY: EUR 100,016 thousand) were owed to
third parties. They are measured at the settlement or repayment amount. They are all due in one year
or less. Of the total amount, SECOP accounted for EUR 57,837 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), Sit-Up TV
accounted for EUR 29,034 thousand (PY: EUR 29,768 thousand), Blaupunkt accounted for EUR 24,431
thousand (PY: EUR 18,295 thousand), Wellman International accounted for EUR 14,088 thousand (PY:
EUR 12,426 thousand), the ISOCHEM Group accounted for EUR 11,114 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), the
Berentzen Group accounted for EUR 7,316 thousand (PY: EUR 9,518 thousand) and connectis accounted
for EUR 6,866 thousand (PY: EUR 3,935 thousand).

4.20 Liabilities under long-term construction contracts
In financial year 2010, the liabilities under long-term construction contracts related exclusively to
connectis, in the amount of EUR 8,512 thousand (PY: EUR 7,184 thousand).

4.21 Liabilities under the German liquor tax
As in the prior year, this item related to the reported liquor taxes of the Berentzen Group, which are due
and payable on the 5th day of the months of January and February, in accordance with the German
Liquor Monopoly Act.
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4.22 Other current liabilities
The structure of other current liabilities in financial year 2010 is presented in the table below:
Vermögenswerte und Schulden
in kEUR

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

Other taxes

22,688

21,367

Other personnel expenses

14,806

4,766

Sales commitments

12,781

11,739

Advance payments received

6,659

835

Wages and salaries

6,076

5,939

Credit balances with customers

4,988

1,709

Social insurance contributions

4,830

1,532

Prepaid expenses

4,224

1,274

2,161

125

Other current liabilities

18,041

21,097

Total continuing operations

97,254

70,383

Government grants

Discontinued operations
Total other current liabilities

158 I

AURELIUS ANNUAL REPORT

9,657

3,433

106,911

73,816

BERENTZEN / HASELÜNNE / GERMANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.0

5.1

Segment report

5.2

Cash flow statement

5.3

Notes on company acquisitions

5.4

Notes on company sales and deconsolidated companies

5.5

Other financial commitments

5.6

Contingent liabilities, guarantees and legal disputes

5.7

Share-based compensation

5.8

Governing bodies of the company

5.9

Compensation report

OTHER DISCLOSURES

5.10 Disclosures on dealings with related parties
5.11

Employees

5.12

Declaration on the German Corporate Governance Code

5.13

Disclosures pursuant to Section 160 (1) (8) AktG

5.14 Absence of disclosures pursuant to IFRS 3.59 ff. and IFRS 8.23
5.15

Significant events after the reporting date

5.16 Fee of the auditor of the consolidated financial statements
5.17

Companies included in consolidation

5.18 Release for publication of the consolidated financial statements
according to IAS 10.17

G H OT E L H OT E L & L I V I N G / B O N N / G E R M A N Y

AURELIUS ANNUAL REPORT

I 161

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Retail & Consumer
Products

174,147
-/174,147
1,952
176,099

321,579
-/321,579
1,540
323,119

439,651
29,417
410,234
422
440,073

103
-/103
5,670
5,773

-/-/-/-9,584
-9,584

935,480
29,417
906,063
-/935,480

9,028

148,974

28,434

-4,796

-/-

181,640
-/-4,133

As in the prior year, the primary operating segments are Services & Solutions (S&S), Industrial
Production (IP), Retail & Consumer Products (RCP) and Other. They are described in the following.
1) The S&S segment comprises companies that operate specifically in the services sector, including DFA
- Transport und Logistik, the GHOTEL Group, connectis and LD Didactic, as well as Reederei Peter
Deilmann and Consinto, which were acquired during the course of financial year 2010.
2) The RCP segment comprises companies that sell their products directly to end customers, including
Blaupunkt, Sit-Up TV and the Berentzen Group. Other companies assigned to this segment are Einhorn
Mode Manufaktur, until it was deconsolidated, and BCA, which was classified as held for sale at the end
of 2010.
3) The IP segment comprises companies that operate primarily in the area of industrial production,
including the Schabmüller Group, Schleicher Electronic, the ISOCHEM Group, CalaChem, SECOP and
Wellman International. Westfalia Van Conversion was also assigned to this segment until it was deconsolidated in financial year 2010.
4) The Other segment is mainly composed of AURELIUS AG and other intermediate holding companies;
thus, it comprises all activities related to corporate management and administration.
All transfer prices applied in dealings between the operating segments are the same as the prices
charged to outside third parties. In addition, administrative services are charged to Group companies in
the form of cost allocations.
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2010 in kEUR
External revenues
- thereof from discontinued operations
- thereof from continuing operations
Revenues between Group segments
Total revenues
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)
from continuing operations
Impairments of non-current financial assets
Net financial income/expenses
Earnings before taxes from
ordinary activities (EBT)
Taxes on income
Profit/loss after taxes from
continuing operations
Profit/loss from discontinued operations
Non-controlling interests
Consolidated profit/loss attributable to
shareholders of the parent company
Statement of financial position: assets
Segment assets
Non-current financial assets accounted
for by the equity method
Non-assigned assets
Group assets
Statement of financial position:
liabilities and equity
Segment liabilities
Non-assigned liabilities
Group liabilities
Other information
Current capital expenditures
Capital expenditures for acquisitions
Depreciation and amortization
Impairments (IAS 36)
Interest income
Interest expenses
Income from associated companies

AURELIUS
Group

IFRS 8 requires that operating segments be defined on the basis of the internal reports of corporate
divisions that are regularly reviewed by the Executive Board and Supervisory Board of AURELIUS for the
purpose of making decisions about the allocation of resources and assessing the financial performance
of the given segment. Thus, the internal organizational and management structure and the internal
reports submitted to the Executive Board and Supervisory Board form the basis for determining the
segment reporting format of AURELIUS. Primary emphasis is placed on the indicator EBIT (Earnings
Before Interest and Taxes).

Services &
Solutions

AURELIUS specifically acquires companies in transitional or exceptional situations; therefore, its portfolio comprises companies from a wide range of industries.

Other

5.1 Segment report

Consolidation

Industrial
Production

5. OTHER DISCLOSURES

177,507
-160
177,347
-38,520
-9,209
129,618

186,341

487,369

292,480

35,317

-/-

1,001,327

-/-

-/-

17,012

-/-

-/-

17,012
41,743
1,060,082

75,864

154,584

147,528

35,129

413,105
292,893
705,998

26,398
3,690
-21,844
-2,714
72
-2,148
-/-

15,632
84,029
-16,896
-852
86
-5,150
-/-

9,257
-/-11,958
-2,326
866
-1,973
-1,119

152
1,113
-89
-/7,901
-3,787
-/-

51,439
88,832
-50,787
-5,892
8,925
-13,058
-1,119
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Industrial
Production

Retail & Consumer
Products

161,011

171,220

564,287

5,723

-/-

902,241

3,284

28,872

158,669

-/-

-/-

190,825

157,727

142,348

405,618

5,723

-/-

711,416

1,737

4,480

436

12,763

-19,416

-/-

162,748

175,700

564,723

18,486

-19,416

902,241

8,961

-4,036

82,627

5,322

-/-

92,874

AURELIUS
Group

Other

Consolidation

Services &
Solutions

The breakdown of revenues by geographical markets is presented in the table below:

2009 in kEUR
External revenues
- thereof from discontinued operations
- thereof from continuing operations
Revenues between Group segments
Total revenues
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)
from continuing operations
Impairments of non-current financial assets

-12

Net financial income/expenses

-6,402

Earnings before taxes from
ordinary activities (EBT)

86,460

Taxes on income

144

Profit/loss after taxes from
continuing operations

86,604

Profit/loss from discontinued operations

-5,965

Non-controlling interests

-5,824

Consolidated profit/loss attributable to
shareholders of the parent company

74,815

Statement of financial position: assets
Segment assets

91,601

99,374

414,817

42,749

648,541

2

-/-

18,774

-/-

18,776

Non-current financial assets accounted
for by the equity method
Non-assigned assets

11,653

Group assets

678,970

Statement of financial position:
liabilities and equity
Segment liabilities

59,983

55,334

187,967

10,847

Non-assigned liabilities

449,685

Other information
Current capital expenditures

7,977

7,312

10,285

3,521

29,095

Capital expenditures for acquisitions

7,489

-/-

8,958

-/-

16,447

Depreciation and amortization

-9,415

-7,165

-16,039

-92

-32,711

-232

-53

-1,163

-19

-1,467

Impairments (IAS 36)
Interest income
Interest expenses
Income from associated companies
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01/01-12/31/2010
313,234
418,954
61,058
112,817
906,063
29,417
935,480

01/01-12/31/2009
285,522
350,669
55,307
19,918
711,416
190,825
902,241

Of the non-current assets defined in accordance with IFRS 8.33, an amount of EUR 267,871 thousand (PY:
EUR 136,481 thousand) is attributable to Germany and an amount of EUR 179,293 thousand (PY: EUR
79,061 thousand) is attributable to other countries.

5.2 Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement shows the changes in the net funds of AURELIUS in both the reporting period
and the prior period. In accordance with the provisions of IAS 7, cash flows are sub-divided into cash flows
from operating activities, cash flows from investing activities and cash flows from financing activities.
The foreign exchange changes related to the amounts of foreign companies that are presented in
foreign currencies are not presented separately because they are immaterial, both individually and in
total.
Very strong growth is characteristic of the AURELIUS Group. AURELIUS grows its business particularly by
acquiring companies that find themselves in a process of restructuring or strategic reorientation.
Therefore, it should be kept in mind that all changes resulting from additions to the consolidation group
are eliminated in the process of preparing the cash flow statement. Thus, changes in working capital are
recognized as affecting cash flows only from the date of initial consolidation.
The net funds in the amount of EUR 177,194 thousand (PY: EUR 155,595 thousand) comprise the line item
of cash and cash equivalents, most of which consist of cash in banks. This item also contains checks, cash
on hand and financial instruments with an original term to maturity of three months or less. Of the total
cash and cash equivalents, an amount of EUR 21,762 thousand (PY: EUR 2,823 thousand) is not available
to AURELIUS for operating purposes because it has been pledged as security for liabilities.

314,131
135,554

Group liabilities

in kEUR
Germany
Europe - European Union
Europe - Other
Other countries
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total revenues

77

26

987

595

1,685

-1,451

-4,012

-2,486

-138

-8,087

-/-

-/-

-204

-/-

-204

AURELIUS expended an amount of EUR 88,832 thousand (PY: EUR 16,447 thousand) for the purpose of
acquiring new shares in companies. In connection with such acquisitions, the Group acquired cash and
cash equivalents in the amount of EUR 45,708 thousand (PY: EUR 145,077 thousand). On aggregate, the
acquisition of shares in companies reduced (PY: increased) the net funds by an amount of EUR 43,124
thousand in 2010 (PY: EUR 128,630 thousand).
The free cash flow decreased from EUR 108,068 thousand in the prior year to EUR 64,284 thousand in
financial year 2010. This decrease resulted mainly from the fact that the Group acquired substantially
less cash and cash equivalents in financial year 2010, compared to 2009.
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in mEUR
Intangible assets
Land

5.3 Notes on company acquisitions
The companies acquired in financial years 2010 and 2009 are summarized in the following, in
accordance with IFRS 3.59.
AURELIUS acquired the ISOCHEM Group, SECOP, Reederei Peter Deilmann and CalaChem in financial
year 2010. All acquisitions effected in financial year 2010 are so-called share deals. In all cases, the
acquisition date is the date when AURELIUS attained control over the companies in question.
The purchase prices for the acquired companies totaled EUR 88,832 thousand (PY: EUR 16,447
thousand). The amount of purchase prices to be settled in cash amounted to EUR 27,803 thousand (PY:
EUR 16,447 thousand). There were no purchase price adjustment clauses deemed to be probable in
financial year 2010 (PY: EUR 9,138 thousand). The corresponding cash flows and the amount of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed gave rise to negative goodwill in the amount of EUR 98,373 thousand
(PY: EUR 93,463 thousand), which was recognized as other operating income in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
The aggregate loss generated by the acquired companies in the time from the date of initial consolidation to December 31, 2010 was EUR -13,235 thousand (PY: EUR -19,366 thousand). This figure contains start-up and acquisition losses, as well as restructuring losses. This figure does not contain income
from the reversal of negative goodwill arising on capital consolidation. The profit/loss contributions for
the period from January 1, 2010 to the acquisition date were not calculated because those results are
not relevant for consolidation purposes.

26,478

5,469

64,862

Fair Value
01/01-12/31/09¹
1.1.-31.12.09
¹

- Cash flow from operating activities EUR 8,710 thousand (PY: EUR -32,684 thousand)
- Cash flow from investing activities EUR -11,223 thousand (PY: EUR 17,946 thousand)
- Cash flow from financing activities EUR -332 thousand (PY: EUR 288 thousand)

Fair Value
01/01-12/31/10¹

The net cash flows of discontinued operations according to the definition of IFRS 5 are broken down
according to IFRS 5.33c as follows:

Carrying
Amounts
01/01-12/31/09¹
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Carrying
Amounts
01/01-12/31/10¹
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25,511

1,126

3,753

6,483

3,753

9,262

3,330

19,519

3,415

Technical equipment, plant and machinery

73,913

22,225

155,024

26,222

Other non-current assets

83,183

9,330

5,580

9,238

Buildings

Deferred tax assets

677

1,757

2,624

13,374

Non-current assets

194,639

45,864

254,092

81,513

Inventories

65,298

45,080

68,970

39,811

Trade receivables

110,870

28,370

110,870

25,675

21,920

48,569

56,834

55,735

Other assets²
Cash and cash equivalents

34,943

41,460

34,943

41,460

Current assets

233,031

163,479

271,616

162,681

21,485

31,806

26,594

74,763

Trade payables

73,633

38,455

73,633

38,455

Other liabilities

273,053

52,707

188,055

68,606

Provisions

Deferred tax liabilities

-/-

314

52,831

16,480

Liabilities

368,171

123,282

341,113

198,304

Net assets

59,499

86,061

184,596

45,890

188

-/-

504

-/-

- thereof attributable to non-controlling interests
¹ Carrying amounts and fair values at the respective acquisition dates
² Including prepaid expenses

The cash and cash equivalents of continuing operations and outstanding adjustment payments
acquired in connection with company acquisitions amounted to EUR 45,708 thousand (PY: EUR 145,077
thousand), leading to an overall cash outflow of EUR 43,124 thousand (PY: cash inflow of EUR 128,630
thousand).
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5.4 Notes on company sales and deconsolidated companies

- Einhorn Mode Manufaktur;

After the loss of its most important licensor Tommy Hilfiger in the summer of 2010, Einhorn Mode
Manufaktur lost about 60 percent of its revenues. Because the revenue loss could not be countered
either by acquiring new customers or by quickly adapting the company’s cost structures, Einhorn Mode
Manufaktur GmbH & Co. KG was compelled in August 2010 to file an application for commencement
of insolvency proceedings with the competent local court, by reason of imminent insolvency. The
negotiations that had previously been conducted with a strategic investor were unsuccessful. The
transaction gave rise to a deconsolidation profit of EUR 1,165 thousand on the Group level and was
presented in the income/expenses of discontinued operations.

- CVC Camping Van Conversion GmbH (formerly: Westfalia Van Conversion GmbH).

Discontinued Operations: Einhorn Mode Manufaktur

The following companies or groups of companies were removed from the consolidation group of AURELIUS
in financial year 2010:
- Blaupunkt Antenna Division;

Additional information on the companies classified as discontinued operations in financial year 2010 is
provided in Notes 3.9 and 4.10 of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements.
The sale of Blaupunkt’s Antenna business to the Rosenheimer Kathrein Group was finalized in late May
2010. Whereas the Antenna and Loudspeakers Divisions were presented still as a disposal group in the
year of acquisition, these two Blaupunkt divisions proved to be significant in the wake of the group’s
restructuring and strategic reorientation. The management of AURELIUS is of the opinion that a
separate presentation both in the consolidated statement of financial position and in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income provides more reliable and relevant information because it
reflects the actual continuing operations of AURELIUS. The corresponding change of estimate of the
management at the reporting date of December 31, 2010 did not have an effect on the consolidated
statement of financial position, nor on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. In
consideration of all deconsolidation effects, a deconsolidation loss of EUR 10,873 thousand was incurred
on the Group level and was presented in the income/expenses of discontinued operations.

in kEUR
ASSETS
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables, other assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets of the disposal group
LIABILITIES
Pension obligations
Provisions
Trade payables
Other liabilities
Liabilities of the disposal group
Net assets of the disposal group

08/16/2010
597
282
2,753
4,076
593
8,301

3,261
328
3,695
2,181
9,466
-1,165

Discontinued Operations: Blaupunkt Antenna Division
in kEUR
ASSETS
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Non-current financial assets
Inventories
Trade receivables, other assets
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05/26/2010
41
4,233
7,932
1,337
9,566

Cash and cash equivalents
Assets of the disposal group

77
23,186

LIABILITIES
Pension obligations
Provisions
Trade payables
Other liabilities
Liabilities of the disposal group
Net assets of the disposal group

594
259
2,904
8,556
12,313
10,873
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On January 27, 2010, CVC Camping Conversion GmbH (formerly: Westfalia Van Conversion GmbH) filed
an application for commencement of insolvency proceedings with the competent local court in
Bielefeld, by reason of imminent insolvency. Following the failure of negotiations between AURELIUS
and a French group, this step was necessary in order to create the basis for a fresh start, so as to secure
the company’s vehicle production for as long as possible. In November 2010, the company was sold by
the insolvency administrator to the RAPIDO Group, a strategic investor from France, thereby preserving
all the jobs and the production site in Germany.
In consideration of all deconsolidation effects, a deconsolidation loss of EUR 3,132 thousand was
incurred on the Group level and was presented in the income/expenses of discontinued operations.

5.4.1 Discontinued operations: CVC-Camping Van Conversion GmbH
(formerly: Westfalia Van Conversion GmbH)
in kEUR
ASSETS
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments
Inventories
Trade receivables, other assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets of discontinued operations

01/27/2010
18
5,585
10,438
6,026
5,350
1,430
28,847

LIABILITIES
Provisions
Liabilities

4,217
21,498

Liabilities of discontinued operations
Net assets of discontinued operations

25,715
3,132

5.5 Other financial commitments
At the reporting date, AURELIUS was subject to various other financial commitments related in
particular to rental agreements and leases for buildings, land, machinery, tools, office furnishings and
other furnishings. The sum of future payments is broken down by maturity in the table below:
in kEUR
Rental and lease commitments, due
- in one year or less
- in two to five years
- in more than five years
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total rental and lease commitments

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

8,860
34,817
83,443
127,120
-/127,120

13,821
41,552
51,153
106,526
6,381
112,907

in kEUR

12/31/2010

12/31/2009

60,085
37,957
1,039
99,082
-/99,082

65,432
14,890
21
80,343
477
80,820

Other commitments, due
- in one year or less
- in two to five years
- in more than five years
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total other commitments

The increase over the prior year resulted mainly from changes in the rental agreements in effect with
the GHOTEL Group.
The other commitments related to firm purchase obligations of Sit-Up TV in the upcoming financial
year.

5.6 Contingent liabilities, guarantees and legal disputes
At the reporting date of December 31, 2010, the AURELIUS Group had issued guarantees in the amount
of EUR 8,787 thousand (PY: EUR 5,215 thousand).
Of the total amount of contingent liabilities under guarantees or security furnished, an amount of EUR
2,347 thousand related to the Berentzen Group (PY: EUR 1,342 thousand), EUR 304 thousand related to
Blaupunkt (PY: EUR 1,312 thousand), EUR 1,306 thousand related to SECOP (PY: EUR 0 thousand) and EUR
1,179 thousand related to Reederei Peter Deilmann (PY: EUR 0 thousand).
AURELIUS AG has issued a guarantee in favor of the supplier Valorplast SA covering the liabilities of
Wellman France Recyclage Sarl up to a maximum amount of EUR 750 thousand. The guarantee is
limi-ted in time until September 23, 2011. In view of the positive development of Wellman International,
it is considered improbable that this guarantee will be enforced.
Reederei Peter Deilmann, MS DEUTSCHLAND and the insolvency administrator entered into a purchase
and transfer agreement at the end of 2009 and a partial annulment, purchase and transfer agreement
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in July 2010. At the date of acquisition by the AURELIUS Group in October 2010, a claim of EUR 268 thousand was still due under these two agreements. AURELIUS AG has secured the outstanding
purchase price claim of the insolvency administrator by way of a cumulative assumption of debt. The outstanding purchase price will be paid in monthly installments; at the beginning of March 2011, the outstanding purchase price claim amounted to EUR 38 thousand. The last payment will be made at the end
of March 2011.
At the present time, former employees are pursuing a lawsuit before the Orléans Commercial Court
against EDS Sales Group SAS, which was once the direct parent company of the French mail order
subsidiary La Source S.A. (formerly Quelle La Source S.A.), which was compelled to file for protection
against creditors in financial year 2009. The plaintiffs are seeking continued employment or damages
from the alleged co-employer by reason of the alleged unlawful termination of their employment
contracts. In addition, former employees of the French mail order company La Source S.A., which was
once indirectly held by AURELIUS AG, are currently suing AURELIUS AG, among others, for damages
before the Orléans Commercial Court. Under this lawsuit, the former employees are alleging
management errors on the part of AURELIUS AG in connection with its indirect investment in La Source
S.A. The amount in dispute is up to EUR 25 million, minus any amounts to be awarded to the plaintiffs
under the lawsuit against EDS Sales Group SAS. Also before the Orléans Commercial Court, two former
employees of La Source S.A. are suing AURELIUS AG, among others, for damages in their capacity of
liquidation auditors of La Source S.A. Under this lawsuit, the plaintiffs are likewise alleging management errors on the part of AURELIUS AG in connection with their indirect investment in La Source S.A.
The amount in dispute is about EUR 48 million. In the opinion of AURELIUS AG and its legal advisors,
the allegations raised in these lawsuits are either inaccurate or do not constitute grounds for damages.
Therefore, AURELIUS AG deems the lawsuits to be completely unfounded and considers it improbable
that the company will have to pay any damages as a result of these lawsuits. Accordingly, no provisions
were recognized for this purpose at the reporting date. AURELIUS AG will continue to monitor these
actions closely and recognize an appropriate provision if its assessment of these matters would
change.
Finally, GHOTEL Group is subject to contingent liabilities in the amount of EUR 368 thousand (PY: EUR
462 thousand) under rental guarantees. In addition, Schleicher Electronic has issued guarantees in the
amount of EUR 200 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), the ISOCHEM Group in the amount of EUR 190
thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), CalaChem in the amount of EUR 682 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand)
and SECOP in the amount of EUR 1,193 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand).

5.7 Share-based compensation
On September 27, 2007, the Executive Board adopted, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, the
terms and conditions of the AURELIUS Stock Option Plan 2007 (SOP 2007), which was resolved by the
annual general meeting of June 27, 2007. Under those terms and conditions, the Supervisory Board is
authorized to grant stock options for new bearer shares to selected members of the Executive Board,
and the Executive Board is authorized, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to grant stock options
for new bearer shares to selected members of the management of affiliated companies and to selected employees of the company and affiliated companies, in one or more tranches. The granting of stock
options to members of the management and employees of affiliated companies is subject to the
condition that AURELIUS holds, directly or indirectly, at least 75 percent of the equity in those companies. The authorization covers a total of up to 343,560 stock options (total volume) for all groups and
is limited in time until June 30, 2010. The stock options are divided among the individual groups of
beneficiaries as follows:
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- For members of the Executive Board of the company, no more than 50 percent
(that being up to 171,780 stock options);
- For members of the management of affiliated companies, no more than 25 percent
(that being up to 85,890 stock options); and
- For employees of the parent company and affiliated companies, no more than 25 percent
(that being up to 85,890 stock options).
Under the SOP 2007, every beneficiary is given the right to purchase one share of the company (AURELIUS
share) at a fixed price (exercise price) for every stock option granted to him.
Stock options may be granted in one or more tranches, each within 45 days of the date of announcement of the results of the past financial year, or each within 45 days of the date of announcement of
the results of the first, second or third quarter of a current financial year, but no later than two weeks
before the end of the current quarter. The date when stock options are granted (grant date) should be
uniform for all tranches and will be set by the Supervisory Board when members of the Executive Board
are affected, or by the Executive Board, in all other cases.
Stock options have a total life of five years from the respective grant date and can be exercised for the
first time only after the expiration of a vesting period. The vesting period is at least two years. Stock
options that are not exercised before the expiration of their lives are forfeited without replacement or
compensation.
Stock options may not be exercised within a period of one month before the date indicated in the
published financial calendar for publication of the results for the respective period, up to and including
the first trading day after the publication of those results, nor may they be exercised within a period
from the publication of the notice of meeting and the day of the annual general meeting of the company (hold-back periods). In addition, beneficiaries are required to observe the restrictions arising from
general laws and regulations, such as the German Securities Trading Act, for example (insider trading).
a) Success target: The decisive factor for determining fulfillment of the success target is the opening
price of the AURELIUS share on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the day when the stock option is
exercised. Stock options can only be exercised if the opening price of the AURELIUS share on the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the exercise date is at least 20 percent higher than the exercise price
(success target).
b) Exercise price: The exercise price for exercising a stock option to purchase an AURELIUS share is the
arithmetical average of the opening prices of the AURELIUS share on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on
the five trading days of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange preceding the respective grant date of the stock
options. At the least, the lowest issue amount within the meaning of Section 9 (1) AktG must be paid
as the exercise price.
The stock option terms and conditions stipulate that beneficiaries may receive, instead of AURELIUS
shares from the Contingent Capital 2007/II created for that purpose, either treasury shares or a cash
settlement, at the discretion of the company. In the event of a cash settlement, the difference between
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the exercise price and the opening price of the AURELIUS share on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the
exercise date will be paid. The decision as to which alternative will be offered to beneficiaries in every
case will be made by the Supervisory Board, when the beneficiaries are members of the Executive
Board, or by the Executive Board, in all other cases.
The value of stock options has been measured on the basis of the following parameters:

Measurement date
Interest rate
Expected volatility
Closing price

Cycle 1

Cycle 2

Cycle 3

11/29/2007
3.76%
47.64%
34.40 Euro

4/15/2008
3.58%
46.08%
23.00 Euro

7/15/2008
4.20%
45.29%
15.49 Euro

2008
0.67
0.15
-/-

2009
0.83
0.35
0.35

2010
1.00
0.55
0.55

Expected dividend payments
Year
Cycle 1
Cycle 2
Cycle 3

The SOP 2007 is defined as “equity-settled” according to IFRS 2. Therefore, the value of the corresponding stock options is measured only once, at the respective grant date. The corresponding
personnel expenses are recognized on a straight-line basis over the period until maturity and additional
paid-in capital is increased by the same amount. The value of stock options is measured on the basis of
a binomial model. The personnel expenses are adjusted accordingly and equal amounts are recognized
as increases in additional paid-in capital over the period until maturity. A Monte Carlo simulation was
applied for measuring the value of stock options. In financial year 2010, a total of EUR 35 thousand was
recognized as increased personnel expenses and additional paid-in capital was increased by the same
amount.

•

All 19,875 stock options granted were still outstanding at the reporting date because the vesting
conditions had not yet been fulfilled. The outstanding stock options can be exercised only after the
expiration of the minimum holding period and when the exercise price is reached. The measurements
are based on the appraisals of an independent expert.
2011
1.05
0.60
0.60

2012
1.10
0.63
0.63

2013
-/-/0.66

5.8 Governing bodies of the company
Executive Board
The Executive Board is composed of the following persons:

The expected volatility was determined on the basis of the share price history of the AURELIUS share in
the period since June 26, 2006 and the historical share price development of comparison companies.
As of the reporting date, the following stock options had been granted:

■
■
■
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31.63
31.63
31.63
31.63
23.24
23.24
23.24
23.24
23.24
23.24
16.47
16.47
16.47
16.47

12.63
13.03
13.26
13.36
8.07
8.36
8.54
8.55
8.07
8.36
4.68
4.81
4.89
4.94

1,000
500
500
500
3,950
1,975
1,975
1,975
1,250
1,250
2,000
1,000
1,000
1,000
19,875

Fair value
(EUR)

10/27/2012
10/27/2012
10/27/2012
10/27/2012
4/15/2013
4/15/2013
4/15/2013
4/15/2013
4/15/2013
4/15/2013
7/15/2013
7/15/2013
7/15/2013
7/15/2013

Number of
options

11/28/2009
11/28/2010
11/28/2011
5/28/2012
4/14/2010
4/14/2011
4/14/2012
10/14/2012
4/14/2010
4/14/2011
7/14/2010
7/14/2011
7/14/2012
1/14/2013

Fair value
per option
(EUR)

Due date

11/29/2007
11/29/2007
11/29/2007
11/29/2007
4/15/2008
4/15/2008
4/15/2008
4/15/2008
4/15/2008
4/15/2008
7/15/2008
7/15/2008
7/15/2008
7/15/2008

Exercise price
(EUR)

End of minimum holding
period

Cycle 1
Cycle 1
Cycle 1
Cycle 1
Cycle 2
Cycle 2
Cycle 2
Cycle 2
Cycle 2
Cycle 2
Cycle 3
Cycle 3
Cycle 3
Cycle 3

Date of issue

■

12,630.00
6,515.00
6,630.00
6,680.00
31,876.50
16,511.00
16,866.50
16,886.25
10,087.50
10,450.00
9,360.00
4,810.00
4,890.00
4,940.00
159,132.75

Dr. Dirk Markus (Chairman), Feldafing
Donatus Albrecht, Munich
Gert Purkert, Munich
Ulrich Radlmayr, Schondorf a. A.

The other governing body activities of these Executive Board members mainly consist of their functions
as members of the Supervisory Board, Executive Board or managing directors of affiliated companies or
subsidiaries of AURELIUS AG. Specifically, the Executive Board members exercise the following other
supervisory functions within the meaning of Section 125 (1) (5) AktG:
Dr. Dirk Markus
Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies within the meaning of Section 125
(1) (5) AktG:
•
AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG, Munich (Chairman)
•
Berentzen-Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft, Haselunne
•
Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts, Saran/France
•
ED Enterprises AG, Grünwald (since October 29, 2010)
•
Investunity AG, Munich (Chairman) (until June 29, 2010)
•
ISOCHEM SA, Vert-le-Petit/France (since March 31, 2010)
•
Lotus AG, Feldafing (Chairman)
•
SMT Scharf AG, Hamm (Chairman)
•
SKW Stahlmetallurgie Holding AG, Unterneukirchen
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Mr. Donatus Albrecht
Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies within the meaning of Section 125 (1)
(5) AktG:
•
Aurelius Industries AG, Munich (until January 13, 2010)
•
AURELIUS Transaktionsberatungs AG, Munich (Chairman)
Berentzen-Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft, Haselunne
•
•
ISOCHEM SA, Vert-le-Petit/France (from March 31, 2010 to November 3, 2010)
•
KTD Kommunikationstechnik Holding AG i.L., Munich (Chairman) (until December 27, 2010)
•
Unicorn Beteiligungs AG, Munich (until February 4, 2010)
Mr. Gert Purkert
Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies within the meaning of Section 125 (1)
(5) AktG:
•
AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG, Munich (Vice Chairman)
•
AURELIUS Portfolio Executive AG, Munich (Chairman)
•
AURELIUS Transaktionsberatungs AG, Munich
•
Berentzen-Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft, Haselunne (Chairman)
•
ED Enterprises AG, Munich (Chairman)
•
ISOCHEM SA, Vert-le-Petit/France (since March 31, 2010)
Mr. Ulrich Radlmayr
Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies within the meaning of Section 125 (1)
(5) AktG:
•
AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG, Munich
•
AURELIUS Portfolio Executive AG, Munich (Vice Chairman)
•
AURELIUS Transaktionsberatungs AG, Munich (Vice Chairman)
•
Berentzen-Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft, Haselunne
•
ED Enterprises AG, Grünwald (since October 29, 2010)
•
ISOCHEM SA, Vert-le-Petit/France (since March 31, 2010)
•
SMT Scharf AG, Hamm

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Supervisory Board
The following persons were members of the Supervisory Board in financial year 2010:
Mr. Dirk Roesing (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
Partner of BrainsToVentures AG, St. Gallen
Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies within the meaning of Section 125 (1)
(5) AktG:
•
•

SAFE ID Solutions AG, Unterhaching (since December 1, 2010)
SHS Viveon AG, Munich (Chairman)

Mr. Eugen Angster (Vice Chairman)
Member of the Executive Board of BRSI Bundesvereinigung Restrukturierung, Sanierung und Interim
Management e.V., Munich
Mr. Sven Fritsche (until July 27, 2010)
Lawyer, Munich
Mr. Holger Schulze (since July 27, 2010)
Managing Director of CC CaloryCoach Holding GmbH, Budingen

5.9 Compensation Report
Compensation of Executive Board and Supervisory Board members
The total fixed non-success-dependent compensation of the Executive Board members of AURELIUS AG
in financial year 2010 amounted to EUR 900 thousand. In addition to the fixed compensation, successdependent, variable compensation in the amount of EUR 911 thousand was granted in financial year
2010. Thus, the total compensation granted to members of the Executive Board for financial year 2010
amounted to EUR 1,811 thousand. The Executive Board members Dr. Dirk Markus and Gert Purkert also
received a significant proportion of shares in AURELIUS AG and benefit from increases in the company’s share price.
The members of the Supervisory Board received a fixed compensation in the total amount of EUR 66
thousand in financial year 2010; of that amount, EUR 27 thousand was granted to the Supervisory Board
Chairman and the remaining EUR 39 thousand was granted to the other Supervisory Board members. No
loans or advances were granted to and no sureties or guarantees were issued in favor of members of the
Executive Board and Supervisory Board of the parent company or subsidiaries of AURELIUS AG.
Shareholdings of Executive Board and Supervisory Board members
At the reporting date, 40.7 percent of the total shares outstanding were held indirectly and directly by
members of the Executive Board of AURELIUS AG. Of that total, Dr. Dirk Markus indirectly and directly
held 3,072,965 shares, representing 32.0 percent of total shares outstanding, and Gert Purkert indirectly
and directly held 785,014 shares, representing 8.2 percent of total shares outstanding.
At the reporting date, the members of the Supervisory Board together held 190,400 shares, representing
1.98 percent of total shares outstanding.

176 I

AURELIUS ANNUAL REPORT

AURELIUS ANNUAL REPORT

I 177

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.10 Disclosures on dealings with related parties

5.12 Statement on the German Corporate Governance Code

In accordance with IAS 24, related parties are defined as natural persons or companies that can be
influenced by or can exert influence on the reporting entity. That definition encompasses controlled
and controlling companies, as well as associated companies. It also includes natural persons who can
exert significant influence by way of their voting rights and key members of the management
(members of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board), as well as their respective family members.
IAS 24.10 requires an evaluation of the substance of each possible related party relationship.

AURELIUS AG is not an exchange-listed company within the meaning of the German Stock
Corporations Act (see Note 1.1 of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements). The
Executive Board and Supervisory Board issued a voluntary statement on exceptions to the German
Corporate Governance Code (GCKC) in March 2010 and published it on the Internet at
www.aureliusinvest.de. This statement is not the statutory declaration within the meaning of Section
161 AktG. The exchange-listed Berentzen-Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft, which is an indirect subsidiary of
AURELIUS AG, published its Declaration of Conformity with the recommendations of the Government
Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code pursuant Section 161 AktG on November 24,
2010. This declaration has been made permanently accessible to the public on the Internet at
www.berentzen-gruppe.de.

From the standpoint of AURELIUS, related parties include, in addition to the companies indicated in
Note 5.17, which are included in the consolidated financial statements, also the members of the
Executive Board and Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG and their family members, as well as the
companies that can exert significant influence over those persons.

5.13 Disclosures pursuant to Section 160 (1) (8) AktG
Dr. Dirk Markus is the Chairman of the Executive Board of AURELIUS AG. He has entered into an employment contract with AURELIUS AG without compensation for his activity as Executive Board Chairman
of AURELIUS AG. Dr. Dirk Markus is the Managing Director of DIJUFRANKA Unternehmergesellschaft,
which has, in turn, entered into a management services contract with AURELIUS AG, covering all kinds
of management services. The annual fee for such management services is EUR 350 thousand (PY: EUR
303 thousand); no amounts were in arrears under this contract at the end of financial year 2010.
Donatus Albrecht is a member of the Executive Board of AURELIUS AG. He is also Managing Director of
Paganini Invest GmbH. As a co-investor, Donatus Albrecht directly held, and indirectly held via Paganini
Invest, low single-digit percentage shares in various subsidiaries of AURELIUS, in the reporting period
and in prior periods. The corresponding shares were issued pari passu in exchange for payment of the
purchase price in proportion to the principal shareholder; some of those shares were purchased from a
group of companies in financial year 2010.
Ulrich Radlmayr is a member of the Executive Board of AURELIUS AG. Among other positions, he is also
a partner in the law firm AFR Aigner Fischer Radlmayr Rechtsanwälte Partnerschaftsgesellschaft. For as
long as he serves on the Executive Board of AURELIUS AG, his rights and obligations as a partner of AFR
Aigner Fischer Radlmayr Rechtsanwälte Partnerschaftsgesellschaft are suspended. The law firm AFR
Aigner Fischer Radlmayr Rechtsanwälte Partnerschaftsgesellschaft advised the AURELIUS Group on
various transactions in financial year 2010. The total revenues generated on such advisory services
amounted to EUR 133 thousand in financial year 2010 (PY: EUR 34 thousand). No amounts were still
owed in respect of the above-mentioned advisory services at the reporting date of December 31, 2010.
The contracts were conducted at customary market terms.
There were no further significant transactions between the Group and related parties in financial year
2010.

No notifications of shareholders having exceeded or fallen below the voting rights thresholds set forth
in Section 20 AktG were filed in financial year 2010. The shareholding by Lotus AG of more than 25% in
AURELIUS AG that was notified in the prior year is still in effect.

5.14 Absence of disclosures pursuant to IFRS 3.59 ff. and IFRS 8.23
The disclosures prescribed in IFRS 3.59 ff. concerning the nature and financial effects of business
combinations have not been made, or not in an itemized manner, in the present notes to the
consolidated financial statements. The same is true of the segment-specific non-cash income to be
disclosed pursuant to IFRS 8.23, including in particular the income generated in connection with
company acquisitions (bargain purchase income) and debt consolidation at the acquisition date.
AURELIUS has opted not to disclose this information because it believes that it could lead to economic
disadvantages in connection with future company acquisitions or company sales.

5.15 Significant events after the reporting date
On March 2, 2011, AURELIUS sold its subsidiary Book Club Associates Ltd. (BCA), Great Britain’s biggest
mail-order and online book vendor, to the Webb Group, Burton upon Trent (England). The Webb Group
is Great Britain’s leading marketer of home entertainment products such as games, DVDs, music and
gifts to retail customers. AURELIUS had acquired BCA from the Bertelsmann DirectGroup at the end of
2008. In the last two years, AURELIUS subjected BCA to an intensive strategic reorientation. The
measures initiated by AURELIUS adapted the company’s cost structure. Investments in a new IT system,
an improved online offering and the in-sourcing of service functions led to substantially higher
customer satisfaction and loyalty, thereby improving BCA’s operating business and customer base.
Following the strategic reorientation, AURELIUS has now sold the company to a strategic investor,
which will generate additional synergies and so offer BCA and its employees a solid future.

5.11 Employees
5.16 Fee of the independent auditor of the consolidated financial statements
AURELIUS had an average of 4,738 employees in financial year 2010 (PY: 3,478 employees). That number
included 2,494 wage workers (PY: 1,981) and 2,244 salaried employees (PY: 1,497). The total number of
employees at the reporting date of December 31, 2010 was 6,803 (PY: 3,523).
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The total fee charged by SUSAT & PARTNER OHG Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft for its audit of the
consolidated financial statements for financial year 2010 was EUR 323 thousand.
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5.17 Companies included in consolidation

Company

Location

Currency

The subsidiaries and associated companies listed below are included in the present consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS:
Company

Location

Currency

Equity Share
%
incl. coinvestors

1. Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH
Braunschweig Dresdenstraße
1. Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH
Hannover Lathusenstraße
1. Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH
München Baaderstraße
1. Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH
München Landwehrstraße
1. Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH
München Leonrodstraße
Aurelius Active Management GmbH
Aurelius Active Management Holding GmbH
AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG
Aurelius Commercial Beteiligungs GmbH
AURELIUS Commercial Holding GmbH
(in the future: Secop Verwaltungs GmbH)
Aurelius Commercial Management GmbH
(in the future: AURELIUS Property Holding GmbH)
AURELIUS Equity Management GmbH
(in the future: MSD Holding GmbH)
Aurelius Industriekapital GmbH
Aurelius Management Consulting Ltd.
(formerly: Vandicon Ltd.)
AURELIUS Portfolio Management AG
AURELIUS Transaktionsberatungs AG
BCA Beteiligungs GmbH (formerly:
AURELIUS Corporate Development GmbH)
BCA Pension Trust Ltd.
Berentzen Distillers CR spol. s.r.o.
Berentzen Distillers International GmbH
Berentzen Distillers Slovakia s.r.o.
Berentzen-Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft
Berentzen-Verwaltungs GmbH
(formerly: Mampe - Markenvertrieb GmbH) ¹
BGAG Beteiligungs GmbH (formerly: AURELIUS
Opportunity Development GmbH)
Blaupunkt Audio Vision GmbH & Co. KG
Blaupunkt Car Audio Systems GmbH & Co. KG
Blaupunkt International GmbH & Co. KG
Blaupunkt Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.
Blaupunkt Navigation Systems GmbH & Co. KG
Blaupunkt Nordic AB ¹
Blaupunkt International Services AG
Blaupunkt Sound Systems GmbH & Co. KG
Blaupunkt Spolka z.o.o. ¹
Blaupunkt USA Corporation ¹
Blaupunkt Verwaltungs GmbH
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Equity 2

Profit/Loss2

excl. coinvestors

Grünwald

EUR

100.00

100.00

25

-/-

Grünwald

EUR

100.00

100.00

83

-92

Grünwald

EUR

100.00

100.00

103

-117

Grünwald

EUR

100.00

100.00

25

-/-

Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Munich
Grünwald

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

70
24
24
314
344

-115
-1
-1
-47
-131

Munich

EUR

100.00

100.00

504

5

Grünwald

EUR

100.00

100.00

630

-20

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Grünwald (formerly: Munich)

EUR
EUR

75.00
100.00

75.00
100.00

3,699
3,136

-5
-197

Dublin / Ireland
Munich
Munich

EUR
EUR
EUR

100.00
100.00
100.00

100.00
100.00
100.00

405
77
148

1,158
49
70

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Swindon / Great Britain
Slapanice u Burna / Czech Republic
Haselünne
Bratislava / Slovakia
Haselünne

EUR
GBP
CZK
EUR
EUR
EUR

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
54.45

92.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
54.45

93
-/43,147
631
349
50,907

1,923
-/-6,331
-11
-8
6,451

Haselünne (formerly: Berlin)

EUR

100.00

100.00

40

12

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Hildesheim
Hildesheim
Hildesheim
Penang / Malaysia
Hildesheim
Stockholm / Sweden
Hildesheim
Hildesheim
Warsaw / Poland
Farmington Hills / USA
Hildesheim

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
MYR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
PLN
USD
EUR

89.99
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

89.99
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

1,442
494
153
14,219
23,495
197
576
-/465
465
-/35

2,671
-2,623
32
-8,725
10,326
49
470
-/-35
347
-/10

Equity Share
%
incl. coinvestors

Book Club Associates Ltd.
Book Club Trading Ltd.
Budowa Srodowisko Logistyka Spolka z.o.o.
CalaChem Pension Trustees Ltd.
CalaChem UK Ltd.
CHH Verwaltungs GmbH (in liquidation;
formerly: Channel 21 Holding GmbH)
connectis AG
connectis Beteiligungs GmbH (formerly:
AURELIUS Information Technology GmbH)
Consinto Beteiligungs GmbH (formerly:
AURELIUS Strategy Holding GmbH)
Consinto GmbH
Danfoss Compressors d.o.o.
(in the future: Secop d.o.o.)
Danfoss Compressors Spol. sro.
(in the future: Secop Spol. sro.)
Danfoss Refrigeration Equipments Tianjin Co. Ltd.
Der Berentzen Hof GmbH
Dethleffsen Spirituosen GmbH
Deutsche Kreuzfahrt Management Services GmbH
DFA GmbH
DFA Logistik Holding GmbH (in liquidation)
DFA Transport und Logistik GmbH
Die Stonsdorferei W. Koerner GmbH & Co. KG ¹
Doornkaat AG
Double Q Whiskey Company Ltd. ¹
ED Electronic Devices Wholesale Trading Private Ltd.¹
ED Enterprises AG
ED Enterprises Holding GmbH
EDS Sales Group SAS
EINHORN Service GmbH
European Direct Sales Holding GmbH
FIBRES Finance Ltd.
Framochem Kft.
Funktechnik Verwertungsgesellschaft GmbH & Co. KG
(formerly: Blaupunkt Retail GmbH & Co. KG)
GHOTEL Beteiligungs GmbH
(formerly: Aurelius Value Holding GmbH)
GHOTEL Deutschland GmbH
GHOTEL Germany GmbH
GHOTEL GmbH
GHOTEL Hotel und Boardinghaus
Deutschland GmbH
Groundwell Logistics (Swindon) Holding Ltd.
Groundwell Logistics Ltd.
Grüneberger Spirituosen und
Getränkegesellschaft mbH ¹
HI-Logistics Services GmbH & Co. KG
ISOCHEM Beteiligungs GmbH
(formerly: AURELIUS Improvement GmbH)
Isochem Deutschland GmbH

Equity 2

Profit/Loss2

excl. coinvestors

Swindon / Great Britain
Swindon / Great Britain
Gorzów Wielkopolski / Poland
Manchester / Great Britain
Manchester / Great Britain

GBP
GBP
PLN
GBP
GBP

100.00
100.00
99.00
100.00
100.00

100.00
100.00
99.00
100.00
100.00

1,407
1,934
48
-/-12,186

5,713
-4,550
-3
-/-4,103

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Zurich / Switzerland

EUR
CHF

100.00
100.00

95.00
100.00

383
6,516

1,742
-2,257

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)

EUR

100.00

92.00

221

149

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Siegburg

EUR
EUR

100.00
100.00

89.01
100.00

188
3,807

13
1,274

Crnomelj / Slovenia

EUR

100.00

100.00

34,515

6,991

Zlate Moravce / Slovakia
Tianjin / People's Republic of China
Haselünne
Flensburg
Neustadt in Holstein
Langenstein / Austria
Grünwald (formerly: Ronneburg)
Ronneburg
Haselünne
Norden
London / Great Britain
New Delhi / India
Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Saran / France
Kirchentellinsfurt
Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
London / Great Britain
Kazincbarcika / Hungary

EUR
CNY
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP
INR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP
HUF

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
90.50
100.00
90.50
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
94.00
100.00
100.00

30,675
330,239
26
2,482
25
102
12
402
1
56
-/13,538
17,660
13,116
19,410
15
3,363
282
1,899,225

-195
56,224
-/-/-/-235
-986
-466
-/-/-/-2,999
-/13,059
-4,877
-3
-16
82
835,576

Hildesheim

EUR

100.00

100.00

1.612

-654

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Bonn
Bonn
Bonn

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

100.00
100.00
100.00
95.00

3,061
24
24
557

2,447
-/-/2,409

Bonn
Swindon / Great Britain
Swindon / Great Britain

EUR
GBP
GBP

100.00
100.00
100.00

100.00
100.00
100.00

24
-11
-454

-/-9
-454

Grüneberg
Hildesheim

EUR
EUR

100.00
100.00

100.00
100.00

26
-46

-/-303

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Frankfurt

EUR
EUR

100.00
100.00

100.00
100.00

67
180

-207
50
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Company

Location
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Currency

Equity Share
%
incl. coinvestors

ISOCHEM Holding GmbH
(formerly: AURELIUS Improvement Holding GmbH)
Isochem SA
Isochem UK Ltd.
Kornbrennerei Berentzen GmbH ¹
LANDWIRTH`S GmbH ¹
LD Beteiligungs AG
LD Beteiligungs GmbH
(formerly: AURELIUS Activity Invest GmbH)
LD Didactic GmbH (formerly: LD Technik GmbH)
LD Einrichtungssysteme GmbH
MAAFS Ltd.
MJR BV
MS Deutschland Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH
NE Ventures Holdings Ltd.
Old Book Club Associates Ltd.
Pabst & Richarz Vertriebs GmbH
Puschkin International GmbH ¹
Reederei Peter Deilmann GmbH
RH Retail Holding GmbH
Rumhaus Hansen GmbH & Co. KG ¹
Schabmüller GmbH
Schabmüller s.r.o. (in liquidation)
Schleicher Beteiligungs GmbH
(formerly: AURELIUS Beteiligungsholding GmbH)
Schleicher Electronic GmbH & Co. KG
Schleicher Electronic SRL (in liquidation)
Schleicher Electronic Verwaltungs-GmbH
SE Berlin Beteiligungs-GmbH
SE Berlin Grundstücksverwaltung GmbH & Co. KG
Sechsämtertropfen G. Vetter Spolka z.o.o. ¹
Secop Holding GmbH
Secop GmbH
sit-up Beteiligungs GmbH (formerly:
AURELIUS Innovation Development GmbH)
Sit-up Ltd.
SK Systemkomponenten Verwaltungs GmbH
(formerly: LD Systemkomponenten GmbH)
SM Elektrosysteme (Kaiserslautern) GmbH
Strothmann Spirituosen Verwaltung GmbH ¹
Touristik-Bureau International GmbH
Tunisia Automotive Components Germany GmbH
Tunisia Automotive Components SARL
Unicorn Beteiligungs GmbH
(formerly: Unicorn Beteiligungs AG)
Vivaris Getränke GmbH & Co. KG
Vivaris Getränke Verwaltung GmbH ¹
Wellman France SARL
Wellman International Handelsgesellschaft mbH
Wellman International Ltd.
Wellman International Trading
Wellman International Trustees Staff Ltd.
Wellman International Trustees Works Ltd.
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Equity 2

Profit/Loss2

Company

Location

Equity Share
%

Currency

incl. coinvestors

excl. coinvestors

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Vert-le-Petit / France
Surey / Great Britain
Haselünne
Elsfleth
Zug / Switzerland

EUR
EUR
GBP
EUR
EUR
CHF

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

95.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

281
40,976
106
49
26
124

-18
-7,951
14
1
-/15

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Hürth
Urbach (formerly: Hürth)
Dublin / Ireland
Arnheim / Netherlands
Neustadt in Holstein
Dublin / Ireland
Swindon / Great Britain
Minden (formerly: Elsfleth)
Berlin
Neustadt in Holstein
Grünwald
Flensburg
Berching
Asch / Czech Republic

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
CZK

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
95.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

88.25
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
95.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
79.06
100.00

911
3,607
170
-1
1,004
2,303
18
4,950
33
31
170
8,125
1
5,429
-6,108

6
1,555
144
-1
-11
-1,301
1,263
-2,256
-/-/69
7,820
-/2,473
-43

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Berlin
Milan / Italy
Berlin
Berlin
Berlin
Jelenia Gora / Poland
Flensburg
Flensburg

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
PLN
EUR
EUR

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

90.01
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

643
-3,074
3
14
28
457
-/-7,142
25,959

10
-531
-9
-13
-1
-75
-/-4,941
-10,501

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
London / Great Britain

EUR
GBP

100.00
100.00

93.00
100.00

9,590
17,020

12,579
-2,387

Urbach (formerly: Hürth)
Kaiserslautern
Haselünne
Neustadt in Holstein
Hildesheim
Beni Khaled / Tunisia

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
TND

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

45
471
49
26
109
7,493

-206
454
2
4
84
-5,580

Munich
Haselünne
Haselünne
Verdun / France
Dortmund
Dublin / Ireland
Dublin / Ireland
Dublin / Ireland
Dublin / Ireland

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

85.01
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

-469
3,282
178
2,084
62
17,356
8,550
3
3

-455
-/9
531
32
1,597
4,735
-/-/-

Wellman Recycling UK Ltd.
Winterapfel Getränke GmbH ¹
WIT Beteiligungs GmbH (formerly:
AURELIUS Commercial Investments GmbH)
WVC Beteiligungs GmbH (in liquidation)
WVC Holding GmbH (in liquidation)
Associated companies
Bank Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts SA
Freiherr v. Cramm Brennereigut Harbarnsen GmbH¹

Equity 2

Profit/Loss2

excl. coinvestors

Bredford / Great Britain
Haselünne

GBP
EUR

100.00
100.00

100.00
100.00

-/26

-/-/-

Grünwald (formerly: Munich)
Munich
Grünwald (formerly: Munich)

EUR
EUR
EUR

100.00
100.00
100.00

100.00
100.00
85.00

257
189
214

-8
153
-4

Saran / France
Harbarnsen

EUR
EUR

34.90
48.00

34.90
48.00

56,758
26

5,303
-/-

1 These companies are not consolidated, for materiality reasons.
2 Figures stated in thousands of monetary units in the local currency.

5.18 Release for publication of the consolidated financial statements
according to IAS 10.17
The present consolidated financial statements were released for publication by the Executive Board on
March 21, 2011.
Munich, March 21, 2011

Dr. Dirk Markus
Chairman

Gert Purkert
Member of the
Executive Board

Ulrich Radlmayr
Member of the
Executive Board

Donatus Albrecht
Member of the
Executive Board
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

IMPRINT

AUDITOR’S REPORT

IMPRINT / CONTACT

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by AURELIUS AG, Grünwald, comprising the statement of financial position, income statement and statement of comprehensive
income, statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity and the notes to the consolidated
financial statements together with the group management report of AURELIUS AG for the business
year from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010. The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements and the management report in accordance with the IFRS, as adopted by the E.U., and the
additional requirements of German commercial law (and supplementary provisions of the shareholder
agreement/articles of incorporation) pursuant to § (article) 315a Abs. (paragraph) 1 HGB
(“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code) are the responsibility of the parent Company’s
Board of Management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the management report based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and
German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut
der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditor’s in Germany) (IDW). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net
assets, financial position and the results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with the applicable reporting framework and in the management report are detected with
reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment
of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and
the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the management
report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes
assessing the annual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the
determination of the entities to be included in the consolidation, the accounting and consolidation
principles used and significant estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the management report. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Except from the following qualifications our audit has not led to any reservations. Contrary to IFRS 3.59
ff. and IFRS 8.23 the notes to the consolidated financial statements do not contain the necessary
information concerning the nature and the financial effects of mergers in total or individualised nor is
the substantial non-cash income declared segment-specifically within the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.
In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated annual financial statements
comply with the legal requirements (and supplementary provisions of the shareholder agreement), the
IFRS as adopted by the E.U. and with the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant
to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance with (German) principles of proper accounting. The management
report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view
of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.
Munich, March 21, 2011
SUSAT & PARTNER OHG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
(Dr. Kusterer)
Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor)
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(Mauermeier)
Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor)
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Office Munich
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